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Another Year of Outperformance
($ million, except ratios, per share amounts and numbef of employees)

2016 2015 Change

Net income $ 138.3 $ 125.9  10%
Earnings per share – diluted 8.49 7.73  10%
Return on Equity 16.9 17.9 (1)
Common share dividends declared 0.84 0.76  11%
Book value per common share 54.96  46.57  18%
Common share price – close 60.46  51.50  17%
Common share market capitalization 995 800 24%
Assets Under Management 22,277 17,600 27%
Common Equity Tier 1 Capital Ratio 14.0 13.6 0.4
Efficiency Ratio  37.8 33.6  4.2
Employees – year end 555  495    12%
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Fellow Shareholders:

We are pleased to report that Equitable achieved record 
financial performance in 2016 while continuing to invest 
in the long-term development and advancement of the 
Bank’s value creation capabilities. 

Equitable’s earnings per share grew 10% and book value 
per common share increased 18% during 2016. Based 
on these record annual results and a positive outlook, 
the Bank raised its common share dividend twice during 
2016 and again in early 2017. Consistent and prudent 
dividend increases are an important aspect of achieving 
our goal of creating long term shareholder value.  

As a lending institution, our business performs 
best during periods of economic stability and stable 
employment opportunities for Canadians. In 2016, 
Canadian economic performance was solid, though not 
robust due to the ongoing commodity-driven downturn 
in Alberta and Saskatchewan. Against this backdrop, the 
Company once again benefitted from our well diversified 
portfolio of residential and commercial mortgages 
which grew as a result of record annual originations of 
$7.9 billion.

Any assessment of 2016 must also be mindful of 
underlying real estate values in that selling prices rose 
to record highs in many of the principal markets in 
which the Bank lends. We recognize the risks inherent 
in rapid real estate price escalation and in some of the 
underlying drivers such as record low interest rates, 
foreign capital flows, speculation and supply constraints 
in major urban centres. While we are engaged with 
policymakers on efforts to contain systemic risks, we 
do not wait for government interventions. To ensure our 
portfolio is protected, we continually adjust our lending 
practices to the specific risks of each market we serve. 
While this is no guarantee of loss avoidance, these 
proactive measures served the Bank well in 2016. 

The Bank’s assets and asset growth must be funded. 
In response to this need, the Board identified 
diversification of our deposit-taking sources as a 
strategic priority in 2014. In that regard, one of the 
highlights of 2016 was the launch of EQ Bank, our 
digital bank platform and its first product, the Savings 
Plus account. This all-digital banking platform 
attracted $1.1 billion of deposits, which far surpassed 

David LeGresley 
Board Chair

Message from  
the Chair
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our own expectations and demonstrated consumer 
demand for a well-constructed offering.  

While EQ Bank diversifies the sources of deposit 
funding, it also elevates the importance of cyber 
security. In response to this need, the Board has 
received training from an independent cyber-risk 
specialist, reports from independent experts assessing 
the Bank’s cyber-security programs and, as part of 
its ongoing governance process, regular updates 
from management on cyber-security threats and risk 
mitigation approaches.

As the Bank expands, the need for more robust 
systems and governance practices grows as well.  I 
am pleased to report that our operations continue to 
generate the resources necessary to meet this need. 
The Board also implemented several operational 
changes which improved the efficiency of our time 
together and enabled us to devote more attention to 
longer-term strategy and risk mitigation.

Board composition also changed.  After serving with 
distinction since 1983 with a two-year respite in 1990, 
Professor Eric Kirzner has decided to step down. Eric 
is well known and respected in the world of academia 
and financial management and has been a key 
contributor to Equitable for more than two thirds of its 
47-year existence. Eric chaired the Audit Committee for 
many years and most recently led our Risk and Capital 
Committee.  On behalf of the Board, the Bank and 
our shareholders, I sincerely thank Eric for helping to 
transform Equitable from a regional trust company into 
a national financial institution. We wish him well.

You will also note that Kish Kapoor joined our Board 
in late 2016.  As a qualified accountant and proven 
entrepreneur who co-founded Assante Corporation in 
1994, Kish brings years of experience in both financial 
services and wealth management to Equitable.  We 
welcome Kish and look forward to his contributions to 
the growth and governance of our Company for years 
to come.

I would like to thank our customers, shareholders and 
business partners for their confidence in Equitable. 
Thanks also to my fellow Directors for the countless 
hours they spend on Bank business. 

I reserve my final thoughts for the Equitable team, 
now numbering almost 600, and Andrew Moor, our 
talented CEO who leads a highly effective management 
group. Our dedicated workforce deserves credit for 
delivering yet another record year while building our 
status as Canada’s leading branchless and now digital 
bank. As a result of strong leadership and effective 
management, Equitable was again honoured as one of 
the top employers in Canada in 2016. My thanks and 
congratulations to all.

I encourage all shareholders to attend our annual 
meeting on May 17th, 2017 at 10 am eastern. This year 
and for the first time, we will hold the meeting at the 
Bank’s headquarters, 30 St. Clair Avenue West, Toronto.

Yours sincerely,

David LeGresley
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Value Creation Model Update

As discussed in much more detail in last year’s Letter to 
Shareholders, Equitable’s approach to shareholder value 
creation hinges on maintaining ROEs consistent with its 
historical performance of around 17% to 18%, paying out 
a relatively modest but growing dividend, and reinvesting 
the bulk of earnings back into the Bank to generate 
similar ROEs in future years. I call this the Equitable 
equation and it has produced excellent outcomes for the 
Bank’s shareholders.

At 16.9% in 2016, Equitable’s ROE was just below our 
historical range, but given that 2016 was a year that we 
deliberately burdened the Bank with additional costs 
to launch the EQ Bank digital banking platform, some 
of which will be non-recurring, I am pleased with this 
performance. The results in 2016 do not diminish my 
view that maintaining ROEs in line with our longer-
term averages is possible – and indeed quite probable. 
I also believe that the brand equity we are building by 
establishing the EQ Bank brand in the market, using our 
positioning line of Money Well Banked, will prove to be of 
enduring value to the Bank and our shareholders.

In line with the Equitable equation, the Board increased 
the common share dividend by 10.5% in 2016 to reward 
our shareholders. Over the course of the year, book value 
per share (BVPS) grew 18.0% and EPS increased 9.8% 
compared to the 5-year CAGR in BVPS of 16.9% and the 
5-year CAGR in EPS of 16.9%. As we would expect, year-
over-year growth in BVPS is less sensitive to changes 
in ROE than is growth in EPS. ROE is the single most 
important financial metric for our team as we seek to 
prudently build long-term franchise value.

Equitable’s Basic Value Creation Formula

Change in BVPS  
= Opening BVPS (ROE x (1-Payout Ratio)

Change in EPS  
= ROE x Change in BVPS from prior period

Equitable’s Five-Year Value Creation History

CEO’s Message
Fellow Shareholders:

In last year’s annual report, I set out the detailed 
formula Equitable uses to build value for 
shareholders. This year, I address how the banking 
industry is changing and the ways in which Equitable 
is evolving to create value for all stakeholders.
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Position of Banking in Society

Much has been written about how fintech and a 
move to digital banking will make banks themselves 
obsolete. Some observers expect that the services 
currently provided by regulated banks will be subsumed 
by technology giants – think the Bank of Apple – or 
newer upstarts that are anchored in the provision of 
cryptocurrencies. 

At Equitable, we have no doubt that banking is changing. 
However, we believe that banks will continue to be 
central to a reshaped financial services sector. The 
history of banking’s evolution over millennia would 
support the view that banks are here to stay. That said, a 
brief history is in order. 

Written language was developed in Mesopotamia 
in 3,200 BCE. One of the first applications of the 
new technology of writing was to create banks. The 
use of cuneiform writing on clay tablets allowed for 
the creation of organized records of obligations. A 
system then evolved whereby banks took on the role 
of being a store of value in society. From these early 
roots in human civilization, banking has consistently 
embraced technological change. Notable among these 
technological advancements was the development of 
double-entry bookkeeping by the Medici banking empire 
in the Florence of the Renaissance. 

In Canada, banks have always held a central place in 
society. The country’s oldest bank turns 200 this year. 
This bank’s founding predates Confederation by 50 
years. In those early times, banking was often at the 
centre of political strife as legislators fought over which 
entities would be allowed to provide banking services to 
a growing society. While prominent banks, such as the 
Bank of Upper Canada, have disappeared into the history 
books, it is telling that many financial institutions with 
19th century roots remain growing concerns today.

The content of Walter Bagehot’s Lombard Street, first 
published in 1873, seems remarkably familiar to a 
modern-day banker. Bagehot’s discussion of bank 
governance issues, liquidity management and sound 
capital have clear parallels with today’s discussions of 
governance models, net stable funding ratios and CET1 
ratios. The reasons are simple. For banks to stand as 

institutions that can represent the fundamental trusted 
store of value in society, these considerations are 
important and have, and will, endure over time. Even in 
1873, Bagehot wrote about the complexity of managing 
increasing numbers of transactions in the banking world.

Banking services have morphed over time beyond 
lending and beyond serving as a repository for savings 
and deposits. Many countries, including Canada,  have 
adopted universal banking models that have banks 
engaged in a wide variety of activities in many areas 
of financial services. These business models will be 
changed and reshaped by technology. Despite rapid 
technological change however, I am hard pressed to 
believe we are at an inflection point in history where 
banking itself becomes obsolete. 

Canada’s Recent Banking Evolution

The Canadian banking landscape is dominated by six 
large banks that operate on the universal banking 
model. These banks provide all manner of services 
from traditional deposit taking and lending to asset 
management and more complex wealth management 
and investment banking. For their retail businesses, 
these institutions continue to rely heavily on retail branch 
networks to attract new customers and serve their 
existing customer base. 

Customers, on the other hand, increasingly prefer to 
interact remotely through digital channels and are 
less likely to need services from a bank branch. Bank 
branches are expensive to run and maintain and will 
clearly need to be repurposed as customers increasingly 
desert them for the convenience of digital channels. 
The challenge of this change presents opportunities for 
specialist banks that can provide differentiated solutions. 

Recently, I had the opportunity to visit a number of 
banks in Europe that generally are trying to offer 
service and value benefits through the increasing use 
of digital channels. There are many models and not 
all will flourish, but there certainly seems to be fertile 
opportunity for new approaches. Many of these banks 
are proud to work under the moniker of “challenger 
banks,” believing that this term neatly expresses the 
aspiration of providing better service and a better deal 
for their customers. We are keeping a close eye on the 



6 EQUITABLE GROUP INC ANNUAL REPORT 2016

development of these banks in an effort to adopt some of 
the most relevant ideas within Equitable’s business. 

For Equitable, the evolving landscape provided by 
technology provides more opportunity than threat. 
The Bank does not have historical revenue streams to 
protect in many markets and can build value for our 
shareholders while still providing new, higher value 
choices for customers. A good example is in payments 
where the addition of a payment mechanism from a 
mobile device to an EQ Bank Savings Plus account 
immediately increases the functionality of the offering 
and levels the landscape with the largest banks. 
Equitable’s genetic core as a cashless and branchless 
bank does not burden us with legacy costs that need 
to be paid by other institutions without necessarily 
providing added value for customers.

Equitable’s Approach to Digital

The launch of our EQ Bank digital platform in 2016 is an 
indication of how we embrace opportunity in this changing 
world. EQ is built on a world-class digital platform and 
neatly packages a range of functions to provide real 
choices for Canadian consumers. This simple, elegant and 
intuitive offering provides a way to bank that appeals to 
so many. The ability to link accounts easily, move money 
to family, pay bills and remotely deposit cheques in an 
account that pays a decent interest rate puts EQ Bank at 
the forefront of digital banking in Canada. In delivering 
these services, we have also made some tough decisions 
on what we will not do. For example, EQ Bank does not 
offer its customers the option of a statement mailed to 
their home – believing that many customers would rather 
have access to an electronic record of the statement and 
print a copy, if required. Simple things, like how long we 
will provide access to an on-line statement provide the 
opportunity for differentiation from the largest banks and 
enduring value for our customers. 

We believe that by being completely focused on digital 
and remote delivery, rather than the omni-channel 
approach favoured by larger institutions, it is easier to 
execute projects to meet our promise to customers. 

The Bank’s management team described our approach 
to embracing fintech in our first ever Investor Day held 
in November, 2016. Our approach of being open to 

digital innovation and collaborating with, and investing 
in, the fintech community is opening our eyes to 
new opportunity. As one of the founding shareholders 
of Borrowell, Canada’s leading online retail lending 
marketplace, we have gathered insights on how to 
improve our business and drive value for the Bank’s 
shareholders. This is one example. We are working with 
other fintech players to find new ways to reach customers 
and expand our business.

Our new leadership in digital banking provides many 
avenues to explore in support of expanded customer 
service. To be clear, it is not just customers on the 
deposit side of our business who can be advantaged by 
technology: our borrowing customers and mortgage 
broker partners can also benefit. Today, Equitable 
has a strong, scalable IT architecture that includes 
a core banking system powering EQ Bank and which 
provides efficient, real-time (rather than old-style batch) 
processing for our brokered-lending businesses. In 
lending, we utilize paper-free mortgage documentation 
technology to improve data security and this year, will 
introduce electronic mortgage statements to enhance 
customer record-keeping and convenience. 

Technology as an enabler of service and operational 
efficiency can and will make a difference in all parts of 
our business and over time, will help us to deliver new 
products to market. Overall, we are intent on developing 
a leading brand by providing innovative banking services 
in Canada that deliver value and choice for our customers 
and partners. 

In building our business, we aspire to provide both 
superior service and greater value to our customers than 
traditional financial institutions. We pursue this ambition by 
challenging conventional approaches to banking with the 
new opportunities presented by technological change at the 
heart of our thinking. As a result of both our achievements 
and plans for the future, we have established the right to 
claim our position as Canada’s Challenger Bank.

Grounded in Reality

Our shareholders should not think our approach is 
new or a dramatic pivot for Equitable. Our Board and 
management are far too grounded in reality to abandon 
our traditional belief in the value of strong capital ratios 
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and discipline in capital management. We know that 
strong ROEs are critical to building a prosperous bank 
that serves all stakeholders. The good news is our 
Bank is capable of advancing its digital ambitions while 
maintaining top-of-the-industry financial metrics. This 
was well proven in 2016.

Our Employees and Board

I want to thank the Bank’s employees for their exceptional 
effort and the dedication they have shown this past year 
in delivering great results. As a management team, we 
try to walk the walk in recognizing the importance of 
our employees. In so doing, we recognize that change, 
for all of the excitement of developing new things, does 
put pressure on our employees and requires incredible 
commitment and discipline. I am very grateful to our 
employees for their many contributions.

Our Directors also deserve kudos for their engagement 
and commitment. Our shareholders are well-served by 
a Board that has deep experience and diverse expertise. 
Tricky strategic issues, like our decision to raise $50 
million in equity at the end of the 2016, benefit from the 
collective talent around the table that brings a broad 
perspective to bear. My own view is that shareholders 
would have been impressed to see the Board in action 
around this capital-raising decision. A good debate was 
held that fully considered the impact on shareholders, 
the value of additional capital and the enhanced ability 
that capital would provide to grow the Bank. In the end, 
their decision to proceed was well reasoned. 

I reserve my final note of thanks for Eric Kirzner. Eric has 
devoted much of his professional life to the development 
of Equitable, serving as a Director for over three decades. 

During his tenure, Equitable has moved well beyond 
its origins as a private business engaged in local 
commercial lending to become a diversified, national 
financial institution traded on the TSX. Despite 
remarkable progress and change, Eric has always 
provided valuable guidance and counsel to our firm and 
to me. Eric brought the rigorous intellectual thinking that 
one would expect of a University Professor of Finance to 
the Board’s deliberations – and I know that our Bank and 
our shareholders have benefitted immensely from his 
consistent effort and analytical insight. Thank you Eric.

Conclusion

Equitable performed strongly in 2016 with respect to both 
reported financial outcomes and our strategic develop-
ment. I look forward to reporting to our owners again in 
2017 in the context of an ambitious financial and strategic 
plan. While I am sure the future will provide both negative 
and positive surprises, it does seem that our Bank is well 
positioned in the evolving financial services landscape.

Yours sincerely,

Andrew Moor 
President and Chief Executive Officer

Back row (left to right):

Brian Leland Vice-President, Residential Credit

Kimberly Kukulowicz Vice-President, Residential Sales  
and Partner Relations

Darren Lorimer Vice-President, Commercial Lending

Aviva Braude Vice-President, Mortgage Services

Ron Tratch Vice-President and Chief Risk Officer

Dan Dickinson Vice-President and Chief Digital Officer 

Front row (left to right):

Tim Wilson Vice-President and Chief Financial Officer

Andrew Moor President and Chief Executive Officer

Jody Sperling Vice-President, Human Resources

Dan Ruch Vice-President and Chief Compliance Officer
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Corporate Social 
Responsibility 
Report
At Equitable, we recognize that our success as a 
branchless, digital bank depends on nurturing a 
distinct culture where employees find meaning in 
working collaboratively to deliver excellent service to 
our customers, strong results for our shareholders and 
positive outcomes for the world around us. In this report 
on Corporate Social Responsibility, we proudly showcase 
our culture, our sustainability strategies and 2016 
achievements. 

Employee Engagement

Equitable owns the best 10-year record for shareholder 
value creation among Canada’s Schedule I banks 
– measured by Return on Equity – supported by 
substantial growth in lending and deposit taking market 
share. These results demonstrate the power of our 
workforce. In our view, our almost 600 employees are 
the most effective in the banking industry, a perspective 
that is objectively supported by 10 years of profitable, 
risk-managed growth in our franchise and outstanding 
workforce productivity, measured by revenue per 
employee. 

Not coincidentally, this period also coincides with the 
introduction of our employee engagement programs. 
Employee engagement is a central feature of our Bank’s 
long-term business strategy and more generally, 
reflects our deeply held belief that as an employer, our 
responsibility is to create a workplace that supports 
continuous learning and development and encourages 
engagement with the Bank’s vision, values and 
objectives. 

We invest in our workforce across a range of programs 
that yield the best results for our people and our Bank. 
These programs begin with pre-employment selection 
– where we evaluate hard and soft skills including the 
candidate’s fit with our corporate values – and then 
extend into onboarding, training, career management, 
compensation, employee wellness, recognition and 
diversity and inclusion. Our Bank was active in all areas 

in 2016 as we grew our workforce by 12% and reduced 
voluntary turnover to 7%, a rate that is far lower than 
the national benchmark published by Willis Towers 
Watson.

We use employee engagement surveys to guide our 
annual workforce investments. For example, in 2011, 
our employees told us they wanted to participate in the 
Bank’s success through a matching stock ownership 
plan. We introduced such a plan in 2012 and by the 
end of 2016, 78% of our employees owned shares in 
Equitable, which creates a strong alignment of interests 
with our public shareholders.

In 2013, our survey said we needed to enhance our 
training programs. Accordingly, we introduced one-
on-one coaching for managers in 2014 and in each 
year since, increased focus on employee development 
to build our leadership capacity. In 2016, 100 people 
managers at Equitable received one-on-one coaching 
from an external expert. We also encourage employees 
to have personal development plans that identify 
subjects of interest to them and related courses they 
can take to develop the skills to advance. The Bank 
supports the implementation of these plans by offering 
assistance in choosing external course providers and an 
employee training reimbursement program.

We also use the survey to gather feedback on our 
wellness and benefits programs. To keep our people 
mentally and physically sharp while working long hours, 
we fund gym visits, spinning and yoga classes, access 
to mental health programs, an on-site flu vaccination 
clinic and encourage our employees to team up in 
fun and physically challenging ways to raise funds for 
designated charities. We also offer flexible work hours 
and company matched retirement savings programs. 

As a result of these and other programs, Equitable’s 
workforce is deeply engaged. In 2016, our employee 
engagement score was 76%, marking a steady and 
substantial improvement from the results of the first 
survey in 2009 when our score was 51%. We believe 
there is a direct connection between employee 
engagement and performance for our customers and 
shareholders. For that reason, we will continue to listen 
attentively to ideas for practical improvement in 2017 
and beyond. 
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Succession Planning

A key element in sustaining our success is succession 
planning and the development of our future executive 
leaders. Our Board of Directors, through its Human 
Resources Committee, oversees our succession planning 
efforts, assisted by our CEO who provides opportunities 
for the Bank’s executive officers and other high-
potential employees to undertake ambitious projects 
that test and expand their leadership skills and diversify 
their operational knowledge. The Human Resources 
Committee also facilitates interactions between these 
officers and the Bank’s Directors. These interactions 
provide the Board with first-hand experience in working 
with our future leaders and enable the Board to gain 
different perspectives on our business.

Workforce Diversity

We believe workforce diversity is a strength for our Bank 
because it enriches our culture and helps us to be more 
responsive and attuned to our customers.

Accordingly, we set the tone from the top by establishing 
the principles of diversity in our management systems. 
Our Board of Directors has a written gender diversity 
policy and our Bank operates a Diversity and Inclusion 
program that showcases the traditions of different 
cultures present within the Bank through regular events.

These programs and our core philosophy of creating 
opportunities for everyone regardless of race, colour, 
gender, age or physical attributes have helped us to 
become a more diverse organization. Collectively, our 
employees can converse in 41 different languages and 
today, women make up 73% of our workforce, 33% of 
our senior management team and 30% of our Board of 
Directors. We think actions speak louder than words 
so we will continue to act in a manner that promotes 
diversity in all its forms.

Equitable in the Community

Our employees work together with targeted community 
groups in cities where we do business to take an active 
hand in helping those in need. Our Bank organizes and 
encourages these efforts as a way to build camaraderie 
among our employees and to maximize the collective 
value of our social investments. 

PLATINUM   CANADA   2017

Equitable  
Chosen as a 
Top Employer
Equitable’s employees, along with 
workers in several hundred leading 
Canadian companies, participated this 
past year in an opinion survey conducted 
by AON. It asked them to rate the quality 
of their employment experience and 
overall engagement. Participants were 
guaranteed anonymity and the findings 
were objectively tabulated by AON to 
determine Canada’s Best Employer. 
For 2017, that honour was bestowed on 
Equitable as we were recognized with 
AON’s Best Employer Platinum Award. 
Platinum is the highest level that can be 
achieved and is a step up from the Gold 
award Equitable won in 2016. This award 
is meaningful to Equitable. It provides us 
with unfettered feedback from employees, 
enables us to benchmark our people 
programs against the best practices of 
other leading organizations and the public 
awareness assists us in recruiting the 
banking industry’s best people. 
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A natural cause for our Bank is to help the homeless. 
40 Oaks and Madison Community Services are our key 
partners as they provide affordable housing solutions 
and community resources in Toronto’s Regent Park 
Neighbourhood. In 2016, our employees dedicated 
dozens of volunteer hours to serve freshly cooked meals 
at 40 Oaks while the Bank provides a bursary for skills 
training at Madison Community Services. 

Our work for those in need extends to several areas of 
the country. With the Bank’s assistance, our employees 
in Calgary helped local children in poverty through the 
Brown Bagging for Calgary’s Kids Society (BB4CK). 
BB4CK delivers more than 1,500 lunches a day to 
Calgary schools. Calgary office also donated (with 
matching funds from the Bank) to Red Cross Alberta 
Fires Appeal to help residents of Fort McMurray recover 
from devastating wildfires in May, 2016. In Vancouver, our 
team volunteered at Gathering Place Community Centre, 
which provides food and nutrition, health, education, 
recreation, arts and culture programs for vulnerable 
downtown residents. In Montreal, our team volunteered 
to help Welcome Hall Mission’s services for homeless, 
young single mothers, families and at-risk youth.

Reflecting the Bank’s focus on health and wellness and 
desire to encourage our predominantly young workforce 
to be positive community leaders, we displayed our 
collective strength by entering the Heart & Stroke Ride for 
Heart with 250 Equitable cyclists, the ALS Canada Plane 
Pull in support of Lou Gehrig’s Disease with three teams 
of 10 each, and the JDRF Ride for Diabetes Research with 
over 50 riders in Montreal and Toronto. 

In total, we gave $286,873 in 2016, up from $196,263 in 
2015. However, our community partners say that what 
they valued most was the attention and commitment of 
Equitable’s employee volunteers. 

Digital Arts Award

As a bank with innovative digital capabilities, we feel 
a strong affinity to emerging digital artists; Canadians 
who are innovating in fields such as video, animation, 
websites, code and games. As such, we created the 
annual Emerging Digital Artists Award (EDAA) as part of 
our commitment to fostering Canadian culture and more 
specifically, early-career Canadian artists working  
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on-screen and experimenting with digital images. 
Through EDAA, we seek to uncover and support 
burgeoning talent in this underrepresented area of art 
production, an area that frequently lacks the funds, space, 
and institutional backing to grow. Now in its second 
year, the award attracts fierce competition. Submissions 
are judged against a rubric covering the artist’s intent, 
execution and relevance to digital practices. The work of 
five finalists is then displayed at a screening event, where 
members of the Equitable family and the Canadian arts 
community have an opportunity to view the work and 
celebrate the artists. First prize is $5,000 and inclusion in 
Equitable’s digital art collection which is proudly displayed 
at the Bank’s Toronto headquarters. 

Helping Canada’s Youth

We create paid summer internship and co-op 
employment opportunities in the Bank’s Toronto, 
Montreal and Calgary offices. In 2016, we hired 40 
summer students and engaged them with challenging 
assignments. For recent university graduates, we 
operate our Rotational Leadership Development 
Program. It allows participants to explore a variety 
of functions, including residential and commercial 
underwriting and digital banking. In 2016, four university 
graduates joined this 24-month program.

Environment Stewardship

Our Bank headquarters has a small environmental 
footprint across 84,000 square feet of office space. 
Even so, we strive to do our part to conserve resources. 
Our head office was purposely designed using LEED™ 
Green Building System for Environmental Design 
standards. Our customized interior features low energy 
consumption LED lighting, sensors that automatically 
extinguish lights when rooms are not in use, and 
prefabricated walls that use 40% fewer resources than 
typical products.

To improve customer data security while reducing 
our environmental footprint, we employ paper-free 
mortgage documentation technology and we recycle. 
This annual report was also produced using paper from 
responsible sources.

            Our Vision 
Our vision is to be Canada’s 
Leading Branchless Bank.

         Our Values
Our values are the foundation 
of our business and reflect our 
underlying commitment to our 
colleagues, business partners, 
customers, shareholders and 
the public. 

We seek to 
operate according 
to five core values:

Service: Deliver outstanding service 
in everything we do

Empowerment: Support our people to 
make great decisions to achieve our 
service mission

Culture: Celebrate our differences, 
respect each other and unite as a team

Agility: Embrace change and optimize 
technology to reach our goals

Integrity: Through mindful personal 
behaviour, consistently produce good 
ethical outcomes

1
2

3
4
5

This annual report is printed on recycled paper.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

FOR THE THREE MONTHS AND YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) is provided to enable readers to assess the �nancial position and the results of the 
consolidated operations of Equitable Group Inc. (“Equitable” or the “Company”) for the three months (“quarter”) and year ended  
December 31, 2016. This MD&A should be read in conjunction with the Company’s unaudited interim consolidated �nancial statements 
for the fourth quarter (see Tables 29 – 31 in the section “Fourth Quarter Overview” of this report), which have been prepared in accordance 
with International Accounting Standard (“IAS”) 34, and the audited consolidated �nancial statements and accompanying notes for the year 
ended December 31, 2016.  All amounts are in Canadian dollars. This report, and the information provided herein, is dated as at February 
16, 2017.  The Company’s continuous disclosure materials, including interim �lings, annual Management’s Discussion and Analysis and 
Consolidated Financial Statements, Annual Information Form, Notice of Annual Meeting of Shareholders and Proxy Circular are available on 
the Company’s website at www.equitablebank.ca and on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Statements made by the Company in the sections of this report including those entitled “Business Pro�le and Objectives”, “2016 Highlights”, 
“Business Outlook”, “Income Taxes”, “Credit Quality and Allowance for Credit Losses”, “Liquidity Investments and Equity Securities”, “Other 
Assets”, “Capital Management”, “Fourth Quarter Overview”, “Derivative Financial Instruments”, “Risk Management”, in other �lings with 
Canadian securities regulators and in other communications include forward-looking statements within the meaning of applicable 
securities laws (“forward-looking statements”). These statements include, but are not limited to, statements about the Company’s 
objectives, strategies and initiatives, �nancial performance expectations and other statements made herein, whether with respect to the 
Company's businesses or the Canadian economy.  Generally, forward-looking statements can be identi�ed by the use of forward-looking 
terminology such as “plans”, “expects” or “does not expect”, “is expected”, “budget”, “scheduled”, “planned”, “estimates”, “forecasts”, “intends”, 
“anticipates” or “does not anticipate”, or “believes”, or variations of such words and phrases which state that certain actions, events or results 
“may”, “could”, “would”, “should”, “might” or “will be taken”, “occur”, “be achieved”, or other similar expressions of future or conditional verbs. 

Forward-looking statements are subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause the actual results, 
level of activity, closing of transactions, performance or achievements of the Company to be materially di�erent from those expressed 
or implied by such forward-looking statements, including but not limited to risks related to capital markets and additional funding 
requirements, �uctuating interest rates and general economic conditions, legislative and regulatory developments, changes in accounting 
standards, the nature of our customers and rates of default, and competition as well as those factors discussed under the heading “Risk 
Management” herein and in the Company's documents �led on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 

All material assumptions used in making forward-looking statements are based on management's knowledge of current business 
conditions and expectations of future business conditions and trends, including their knowledge of the current credit, interest rate and 
liquidity conditions a�ecting the Company and the Canadian economy.  Although the Company believes the assumptions used to make 
such statements are reasonable at this time and has attempted to identify in its continuous disclosure documents important factors 
that could cause actual results to di�er materially from those contained in forward-looking statements, there may be other factors that 
cause results not to be as anticipated, estimated or intended.  Certain material assumptions are applied by the Company in making 
forward-looking statements, including without limitation, assumptions regarding its continued ability to fund its mortgage business, a 
continuation of the current level of economic uncertainty that a�ects real estate market conditions, continued acceptance of its products 
in the marketplace, and the current tax regime.  There can be no assurance that such statements will prove to be accurate, as actual results 
and future events could di�er materially from those anticipated in such statements.  Accordingly, readers should not place undue reliance 
on forward-looking statements.  The Company does not undertake to update any forward-looking statements that are contained herein, 
except in accordance with applicable securities laws.
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BUSINESS PROFILE AND OBJECTIVES 

OVERVIEW

Equitable Group Inc. (TSX: EQB and EQB.PR.C) is a growing Canadian �nancial services business that operates through its wholly-owned 
subsidiary, Equitable Bank (the “Bank”).  Equitable Bank is a Schedule I Bank regulated by the O�ce of the Superintendent of Financial 
Institutions Canada (“OSFI”) with total Assets Under Management(1) of approximately $22.3 billion.  We serve retail and commercial 
customers across Canada with a range of savings solutions and mortgage lending products, o�ered under the Equitable Bank and EQ Bank 
brands.  Measured by assets, Equitable Bank is the ninth largest independent Schedule I Bank in Canada.

VISION AND STRATEGY

Equitable operates with a branchless banking model and competes in niche lending and savings markets that are not well served by the 
larger Canadian banks or in which we have a unique advantage.  Our strategy is to continue growing the Bank over time by delivering 
superior service to our customers and business partners across Canada, and to diversify by launching new o�erings.  With this approach, we 
aim to grow earnings, produce a Return on Equity (“ROE”)(1) for our shareholders in the mid to high-teens, and maintain strong regulatory 
capital ratios.

Currently, Equitable Bank provides mortgage loans to a wide range of customers that includes business-for-self borrowers, newcomers 
to Canada and commercial real estate investors.  The Bank also provides Canadians with various saving options that o�er security and 
attractive interest rates, including Guaranteed Investment Certi�cates (“GIC”s), High Interest Savings Accounts (“HISA”s), and deposit notes.  
We generally serve these customers through our extensive partnerships with Canada’s mortgage brokers, mortgage bankers, deposit 
agents, investment dealers, and �nancial planners who provide independent professional advice to their clients.  In January 2016, Equitable 
started providing select deposit products directly to Canadian savers through our digital banking platform, EQ Bank.  The �rst deposit 
product o�ered through our digital bank was the EQ Bank Savings Plus Account which was received well by Canadian savers.  We intend 
to expand the range of savings products and services that we o�er through EQ Bank in future years, while at the same time maintaining a 
strong commitment to our broker partners.

Our strategy includes four major objectives:

Strategic Objectives Description

Grow by providing superior service, 
competitive products and cost-
e�cient operations

Our teams provide outstanding service to our customers to earn their business.  We deliver this 
service through a branchless distribution model, which allows us to maintain an e�cient cost 
structure and deliver more value to Canadian consumers.

Build our capabilities and brand
We are committed to investing in the continuous improvement of our people and systems, so 
that we can execute e�ectively on our priorities. We also aim to become an employer of choice 
in the �nancial services community.

Consistently create  
shareholder value

Management allocates capital to business opportunities using a disciplined process designed to 
optimize our ROE.  We retain the vast majority of our earnings to fund growth but at the same 
time are committed to consistently increasing our common share dividends.

Maintain a low risk pro�le
We employ rigorous underwriting and collection practices that keep our risk pro�le and loss 
rates low.  Equitable also holds signi�cant liquid assets to ensure that we are able to withstand 
potential disruptions in the funding markets.

(1) See Non-Generally Accepted Accounting Principles Financial Measures section of this MD&A.
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Our value creation strategies have allowed Equitable to generate a consistently high ROE, averaging 17.8% over the past �ve years.  On 
the basis of that track record and the Company’s business opportunities, we continue to retain the vast majority of our earnings in order 
to build our capital base and fuel future growth.  At the same time, our steady earnings growth has allowed us to increase common share 
dividends nine times over the past �ve years.

(1) See Non-Generally Accepted Accounting Principles Financial Measures section of this MD&A.

Despite the continued strength of our operating performance, our Total Shareholder Return(1) has lagged that of the TSX Capped Financials 
Index over the past year.  Over a 5-year horizon, however, we have signi�cantly outperformed that index.

CAPABILITIES

We compete successfully with other �nancial institutions on the basis of our niche strategy and our ability to execute well against it. Our 
execution re�ects the breadth of our capabilities and in particular our customer service focus.  Management intends to build on these 
capabilities to grow our existing businesses and to prudently diversify the products and services we o�er over time.

Responsive service: Service excellence is how Equitable di�erentiates itself in the market. Through training and technology, we are able 
to build long-term customer and partner relationships that are mutually bene�cial and serve to increase our share of lending and savings 
markets. Our deep knowledge of, and sensitivity to the unique needs of our borrowers – along with their advisors – allows us to execute a 
loan quali�cation and servicing process that is e�cient and e�ective.

Disciplined capital deployment: We build regulatory capital to fuel our growth primarily by retaining most of our earnings and will raise 
additional capital if warranted by pro�table growth prospects.  Management focuses on long-term value creation for our shareholders and 
deploys capital to opportunities only if they meet well-de�ned ROE thresholds.  For example, while attractive returns can be garnered on 
a variety of loan types, single family residential mortgages typically generate a higher ROE than do commercial mortgages because they 
require less regulatory capital. For that reason, as well as the high barriers to entry and our ability to clearly de�ne our strategic advantage, 
our portfolio has shifted more towards single family residential mortgages since 2009, though we intend for it to remain diversi�ed across 
mortgage types. 

National distribution presence: We have systematically grown from our roots in serving the Greater Toronto Area (“GTA”) to become a 
national �nancial services organization.  Equitable reaches borrowers across Canada through independent mortgage brokers and other 
business partners.  The Bank also employs a team of specialists with deep local knowledge in market hubs to support these distribution 
partners.  Though coast-to-coast in reach, we focus on urban centres with liquid real estate markets that bene�t from immigration and 
migration trends and have diversi�ed economies.

Distribution of our brokered deposits has always been national in scope because of our healthy and long-term partnership with Canada’s 
deposit broker community.  To supplement our broker channel activities, in January 2016 we launched the EQ Bank digital platform that 
provides us with a proprietary distribution option for our deposit products, through which we can reach consumers in all provinces except 
Québec.

20162015201420132012
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E�cient operations: Equitable is the most e�cient Schedule I Bank in Canada(1), and one of the very few that operates entirely without a 
physical retail presence.  Due to our branchless operating model, we have a low level of �xed expenses and a highly �exible cost structure.  
Despite the signi�cant growth in our assets and our employees over the past �ve years, we have managed to sustain an industry leading 
E�ciency Ratio.

Rigorous risk management standards: We have a mature risk management framework that guides all of our activities, including 
underwriting.  For example, in our Core Lending business our underwriters evaluate the background and experience of each borrower, the 
cash �ow of the individual or the property, the investment of the borrower in the purchase and the resources behind them, the value of 
the collateral, and the conditions attached to the credit.  Our process is repeatable but not strictly mechanical: we place strong emphasis 
on detailed analysis of the risks and security in each transaction, and supplement that analysis with our experienced team’s judgment. 
As a result, we can underwrite mortgages on favourable terms for borrowers with good equity and debt service ratios who would be 
turned away by other lenders that have more formulaic underwriting methodologies.  Our rigorous approach, along with broadly positive 
Canadian economic conditions, has resulted in an average provision for credit losses – rate(2) of just 0.04% over the past �ve years.

Access to cost-e�ective funding: As a federally regulated deposit-taking institution, and member of the Canada Deposit Insurance 
Corporation (“CDIC”), we o�er secure deposit products to savers in all Canadian jurisdictions. Our team manages over $9 billion of GICs, 
HISAs, and deposit notes from tens of thousands of Canadian investors.  These deposits fund our unsecuritized mortgage lending assets and 
over the long term have served as a reliable source of funding and asset-liability matching. We are a participant in the Canada Mortgage 
and Housing Corporation’s (“CMHC”) National Housing Act (“NHA”) Mortgage-backed Securities (“MBS”) and Canada Mortgage Bond 
(“CMB”) programs, which allow us to securitize insured mortgages cost-e�ectively.  We also have access to other funding sources including 
facilities sponsored by some of Canada’s large banks.  These funding strategies, and our low cost operations, enable Equitable Bank to be 
price competitive in our chosen lending markets.  Although our current sources of funding are su�cient to meet our needs, we intend to 
further diversify them as a risk management strategy.

Our people: Equitable depends on skilled, productive and engaged employees at all levels to deliver on our strategies and meet our 
commitment to service excellence. We have a diverse and talented team of nearly 600 employees, led by a senior management team that 
has numerous years of relevant experience.  To sustain and grow our talent, and to align our team with our value-creation objectives, we 
provide competitive compensation, bene�ts, and an employee stock purchase plan; deliver ongoing employee training and support; 
and promote from within wherever possible. Employee engagement surveys gauge program e�ectiveness and are used to re�ne our 
approaches to becoming an employer of choice in the industry and have been consistently increasing since 2009. Additionally, we received 
platinum level best employer status from AON Hewitt in 2017.

(1) As measured by the E�ciency Ratio and for the �scal year 2016.
(2) See Non-Generally Accepted Accounting Principles Financial Measures section of this MD&A.
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OUR BUSINESS LINES

We organize our operations according to products and target customers:

Single Family Lending Services: $7.9 billion

• Products: mortgages for owner-occupied and investment properties including detached and 
semi-detached houses, townhouses, and condos across Canada.  Competitive product set 
includes a Home Equity Line of Credit (“HELOC”).

• Target customers: business-for-self, those who are new to Canada and establishing credit for 
the �rst time, and the credit challenged

• Distribution: through Canada’s mortgage brokers
• Strengths: include superior levels of customer service, extensive broker relationships, and a 

disciplined approach to credit

Commercial Lending Services: $2.8 billion

• Products: mortgages, which generally range from $0.5 million to $25 million, on a variety 
of commercial property types including mixed-use, multi-unit residential, shopping plazas, 
professional o�ces, and industrial

• Target customers: commercial clients, including both small and medium size enterprises and 
larger borrowers such as publicly traded entities

• Distribution: through mortgage brokers, mortgage banks, business partners, and other 
�nancial institutions

• Strengths: include service excellence, breadth and strength of distribution relationships, 
underwriting capabilities, and intimate market knowledge

Securitization Financing: $10.3 billion of Mortgages Under Management (“MUM”)(2)

• Products: mainly insured mortgages on multi-unit and prime single family (“Prime”) residential 
properties funded through securitization programs

• Target customers: individuals (prime borrowers) as well as commercial clients, from 
entrepreneurs to large, publicly traded entities

• Distribution: originate through mortgage brokers or source through mortgage banks and other 
third party distribution agents

• Strengths: include access to low-cost funding through CMHC’s NHA-MBS and CMB programs, 
distribution relationships, extensive experience in mortgage securitization, and proven capacity 
to underwrite mortgages on specialized property types

Deposit Services: $8.6 billion

• Products: safe and secure savings products including GICs, brokered HISAs, and deposit notes 
o�ered under the Equitable Bank brand

• Target customers: Canadians savers and institutional investors looking to build a secure �xed-
income portfolio with a competitive rate of return and those who have short to medium-term 
liquidity needs

• Distribution: through third party deposit agents, investment dealers, and �nancial planners, 
including Canada’s large banks

• Strengths: include relationships with the agents who recommend our products, our responsive 
service, and competitive product o�erings and rates

(1) Represents total principal outstanding. 
(2) See Non-Generally Accepted Accounting Principles Financial Measures section of this MD&A. 
(3) Represents total principal outstanding and excludes EQ Bank Savings Plus Account that was introduced in January 2016.
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EQ Bank Savings Plus Accounts: launched January 2016, $1.1 billion

• Products: a safe and secure high interest savings account with enhanced functionality such as 
bill payments, o�ered under the EQ Bank brand

• Target customers: Canadian savers who are technologically savvy and comfortable banking 
without access to traditional bank branches, and who are looking for an alternative to Canada’s 
big banks

• Distribution: direct to consumer through the innovative EQ Bank digital platform
• Strengths: an e�cient branchless operating model that allows EQ Bank to o�er a competitive 

interest rate, an innovative and �exible technology platform, and low fees

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Management monitors a range of metrics to assess the performance of the business and e�ectiveness of our strategy.  The primary 
indicators of Equitable’s success are:

Performance Metric What it Represents and Why It Matters

ROE

• The earnings and returns that we are able to generate for our common shareholders, 
relative to the book value of our equity

• Re�ects management’s ability to deploy capital in a disciplined manner by making 
pro�table lending decisions and operating an e�cient business  

Total Capital and Common Equity 
Tier 1 (“CET1”) Ratios(1)

• The amount of loss absorbing capital invested in our business relative to the size of our risk-
adjusted asset base

• Signi�es our ability to protect our depositors and the Bank in the event of �nancial stress

Provision for credit losses – rate

• The provision for credit losses of both principal and interest recorded during the year as a 
percentage of the average loan portfolio

• Re�ects the credit quality of our loan book, speci�cally the level of impaired loans and our 
ability to mitigate potential losses thereon

Net Interest Margin (“NIM”)(1)

• The excess of our interest revenues over our funding costs, as a percentage of our average 
interest earning assets

• Represents the pro�tability of our loan book and is the most important driver of net income 
for the Bank

E�ciency Ratio(1)

• Non-interest expenses as a percentage of our net revenue(1)

• Gauges how much it costs us to generate each dollar of net revenue and indicates how 
e�ciently we operate

Employee Engagement

• Measured based on a third-party survey of our employee base that we conduct on an 
annual basis, which benchmarks us against other employers

• Signi�es the commitment and satisfaction of our employees, a key driver of our success.  
High engagement correlates with reduced turnover and higher productivity, and it is often 
considered a forward-looking indicator of performance.

(1) See Non-Generally Accepted Accounting Principles Financial Measures section of this MD&A.
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FINANCIAL OVERVIEW 

Table 1: Selected �nancial information

($ THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE, PER SHARE AMOUNTS AND PERCENTAGES) 2016  2015  2014 Change from 2015

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS  
Net income   $ 138,330 $ 125,865 $ 106,718 $ 12,465 10%
Net income available to common shareholders     133,567   121,102   102,107  12,465 10%
Net interest income(1)  279,357   242,227   204,522  37,130 15%
Total revenue(1)    663,923   581,994   522,967  81,929 14%
EPS – basic   $ 8.57 $ 7.83 $ 6.63 $ 0.74 9%
EPS – diluted   $ 8.49 $ 7.73 $ 6.53 $ 0.76 10%
ROE     16.9%   17.9%   17.4%  N/A (1.0%) 
Return on average assets(2)   0.8%   0.9%   0.9%  N/A (0.1%) 
NIM – TEB – total assets(2)    1.64%   1.73%   1.71%  N/A (0.08%) 
E�ciency Ratio – TEB(3)    37.8%   33.6%   32.6%  N/A 4.2%

BALANCE SHEET   
Total assets     18,973,588   15,527,584   12,854,903  3,446,004 22%
Assets Under Management     22,277,769   17,600,072   14,373,911  4,677,697 27%
Mortgages receivable     17,783,803   14,700,806   12,269,945  3,082,997 21%
Mortgages Under Management ("MUM")     21,004,013   16,706,935   13,759,706  4,297,078 26%
Shareholders' equity     977,150   796,116   703,964  181,034 23%

CREDIT QUALITY 
Provision for credit losses     2,445   3,638   2,627  (1,193) (33%) 
Provision for credit losses – rate     0.02%   0.03%   0.02%  N/A (0.01%) 
Net impaired mortgages as a % of total mortgage assets(4)    0.21%   0.22%   0.30%  N/A (0.01%) 
Allowance for credit losses as a % of total mortgage assets     0.19%   0.23%   0.27%  N/A  (0.04%)

SHARE CAPITAL  
Common shares outstanding     16,460,142   15,538,605   15,435,356  921,537 6%
Book value per common share(2)  $ 54.96 $ 46.57 $ 40.90 $ 8.39 18%
Common share price – close   $ 60.46 $ 51.50 $ 65.67 $ 8.96 17%
Common share market capitalization     995,180   800,238   1,013,640  194,942 24%
Dividends declared per: 

Common share $ 0.84 $ 0.76 $ 0.68 $ 0.08 11%
Preferred share – Series 1(5)  N/A N/A $ 1.36  N/A N/A
Preferred share – Series 3(6) $ 1.59 $ 1.59 $ 0.63 $ - -%

EQUITABLE BANK CAPITAL RATIOS(2) 
Risk-weighted assets  6,385,825   5,259,384   4,721,132  1,126,441 21%
CET1 Ratio     14.0%   13.6%   13.5%  N/A 0.4%
Tier 1 Capital Ratio     15.1%   15.0%   14.9%  N/A 0.1%
Total Capital Ratio     16.6%   16.8%   17.3%  N/A (0.2%) 
Leverage Ratio(7)    5.1%   5.2%   N/A  N/A (0.1%)

(1) See Additional Generally Accepted Accounting Principles Financial Measures section of this MD&A.
(2) See Non-Generally Accepted Accounting Principles Financial Measures section of this MD&A.
(3) Increases in this ratio re�ect reduced e�ciencies, whereas decreases re�ect improved e�ciencies.
(4) Net impaired mortgages do not include insured mortgages that are less than 365 days in arrears and re�ect gross impaired mortgage assets less individual allowances.
(5) The Company fully redeemed its Series 1 Preferred Shares on September 30, 2014.
(6) The Company issued its Series 3 Preferred Shares in August 2014 and the 2014 Series 3 Preferred Shares dividend declaration represented dividends payable for the period from August 8, 

2014 to December 31, 2014.
(7) The Leverage Ratio has replaced the OSFI Assets-to-capital multiple (“ACM”) e�ective January 1, 2015, thus it is not applicable for �scal year 2014.
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2016 HIGHLIGHTS 

PERFORMANCE AGAINST STRATEGIC PRIORITIES

Equitable produced record annual earnings and a strong ROE in 2016 primarily due to the 15% increase in Net interest income (“NII”) 
generated from our diversi�ed and continuously growing asset base.  We successfully delivered on our key strategic priorities in the year 
and made investments in our franchise that increased costs but laid the foundation for more success in future years.

Strategic Objectives Accomplishments

Grow by providing superior 
service, competitive products and 
cost-e�ective operations

• Grew our Alternative Single Family assets by 22% with originations that were 35% higher 
than in 2015

• Grew our Commercial Lending mortgage portfolio by 27% over the prior year and 6% from 
Q3 2016

• Increased our Prime Single Family MUM by 90%, with originations of $2.1 billion representing 
a 32% increase over 2015 levels

Build our capabilities and brand

• Awarded AON Hewitt Best Employer 2017 with a PLATINUM standing 
• Successfully launched our EQ Bank digital banking platform in January 2016 and 

accumulated over $1 billion in deposits by year-end
• Further developed our presence and brand with both brokers and consumers in the Prime 

Single Family lending market
• Became the successor issuer on $3.1 billion of NHA-MBS pools(1); expected to be EPS 

accretive through 2020
• Increased our CET1 capital by issuing $50 million of common shares through a private 

placement in December

Consistently create  
shareholder value

• Delivered record EPS of $8.49, 10% higher than in the preceding year
• Produced an ROE of 16.9%, which exceeded most industry benchmarks 
• Increased book value per common share by 18% from 2015
• Declared annual common share dividends that were 11% higher than in 2015

Maintain a low risk pro�le

• Maintained a loan-to-value ratio of 69% on our residential mortgage portfolio, as compared 
to 71% in 2015

• Recorded a provision for credit losses of $2.4 million or 2 bps of average loan balances, 1 bp 
lower than the provision rate in 2015 

• Reported a CET1 Ratio of 14.0%, which remained ahead of regulatory minimums and most 
industry benchmarks

(1) As part of becoming the successor issuer of $3.1 billion of NHA-MBS pools and related receivables previously issued by Maple Bank GmbH’s Toronto Branch (“Maple Bank”), Equitable also 
acquired ownership of $100 million of unsold MBS and a $33 million credit facility secured by residential mortgages.  We refer to the issuer rights, MBS, and credit facility collectively as 
“Maple Assets” throughout this document.

ITEMS OF NOTE

Our 2016 �nancial results were impacted by the following noted items:

• $2.6 million of marketing expenses in Q1 2016 to support the launch of our EQ Bank platform; and
• $1.3 million of gains recorded on certain investments acquired from Maple Bank.

Our 2015 �nancial results were impacted by the following item:

• a Q2 investment gain from a securities transaction that increased net income by $1.5 million.  The transaction resulted in a lower tax 
provision in Q2 and for the year.
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DIVIDENDS

On February 16, 2017 the Company’s Board of Directors declared a quarterly dividend in the amount of $0.23 per common share, payable 
on April 6, 2017, to common shareholders of record at the close of business on March 10, 2017. This dividend represents a 15% increase over 
dividends declared in February 2016. 

In addition, on February 16, 2017, the Company’s Board of Directors declared a quarterly dividend in the amount of $0.396875 per preferred 
share, payable on March 31, 2017, to preferred shareholders of record at the close of business on March 10, 2017. 

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

We expect that our strategy, including our disciplined approach to capital allocation, will lead to EPS growth and returns on our equity that 
are consistent with our long-term average throughout the next �scal year.

Recent Regulatory Changes

The Government of Canada continues to focus on maintaining the stability of the domestic housing market.  In October and November, 
the Federal Government implemented regulatory changes that tightened the quali�cation criteria for insured loans.  In addition, the 
government has proposed lender risk sharing arrangements that could further a�ect the insured mortgage market.  It will take some time 
for the recent changes to have an impact on market activity, but we believe that directionally these regulatory interventions will have a 
negative impact on the level of activity in many segments of the housing market and exert downward pressure on house price growth 
across the country.  There is a great deal of uncertainty regarding the future of the market due to competitive and consumer behaviours, 
however, and as a result we may change our views over time.  

Based on our deep industry experience and consultations with other industry participants, we do not believe that the changes will have a 
signi�cant impact on our 2017 prospects or strategy.  Our Prime Single Family portfolio represents less than 2% of our earnings after tax, so 
even signi�cant decreases in the business would not have a material impact on our overall pro�tability.

Asset Growth

The Bank operates lending businesses across a wide spectrum of secured real estate assets.  This diversi�cation improves the Company’s 
long–term growth potential, reduces our risk pro�le, and increases the depth of our relationships with our customers and distribution 
partners.

As a result of our continued emphasis on service quality, we expect that year-over-year growth of our Mortgages Under Management 
(“MUM”)(1) will be at rates in the mid-teens in 2017.  Balance sheet assets should grow at slightly lower levels due to derecognition of 
between $0.2 and $0.3 billion of securitized mortgages in each of the next four quarters.  We expect our reported balance sheet assets to 
grow at year-over-year rates in the range of 15% to 17% throughout 2017, with growth of individual asset categories described in detail 
below.

(1) When discussing performance of our businesses, we generally refer to Mortgages Under Management rather than balance sheet assets because some of our securitized mortgages have 
been derecognized.  In the opinion of management, MUM is a better indicator of the performance of our franchise. 
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Summary of Expectations for Mortgage Portfolio Growth for 2017

Portfolio 2017 Expectations(1) Rationale and Assumptions(1)

Forecasting asset growth remains challenging given the magnitude of the recent regulatory changes, and competitors and consumers 
potential reactions thereto.  The outlook and comments below re�ect management’s current views only and are subject to change over time

Core Lending: 
Alternative Single 
Family

• Assets grow in the range  
of 18% to 20%

• Recent regulatory changes will decrease overall housing market 
activity; house prices will remain constant or contract slightly

• The Bank achieves a higher market share in the Alternative 
segment due to our consistently superior levels of service

• Previously insurable Prime volumes migrate to the conventional 
market and Equitable is able to capture a share of that volume

• The portfolio grows at high rates due to the absolute level of 
originations and improved renewal rates

• Employment and benchmark interest rates are stable to Q4, 
and overall economic growth in Canada remains tepid

Core Lending: 
Commercial

• Assets grow at a rate in the range 
of 10% to 12%

• Enhanced focus on key borrower segments leads to strong 
originations

• Attrition rates likely increase slightly from 2016 levels due to a 
higher level of maturities

Securitization 
Financing: Prime 
Single Family

• Year-end MUM and balance 
sheet assets both grow in the 
range of 25% to  30% per year, 
with the growth rate declining  
to that level over the course of 
the year

• The economy and housing market grow as indicated above for 
Alternative Single Family 

• Regulatory changes will cause market-wide insured prime 
mortgage origination activity to decline by up to 40%

• We achieve some market share gains which help to partially 
o�set the e�ects of the recent regulatory changes

• Even though origination volumes fall, the portfolio still grows 
because of low maturity levels in this young portfolio 

Securitization 
Financing: Multi-Unit 
Residential (“Multis”)

• MUM grows at a rate in the low 
single digits

• Balance sheet assets decline due 
to asset derecognition

• Mortgages are renewed and originated in su�cient volume 
to use our quarterly �xed rate CMB capacity, which remains at 
approximately $300 million

• Approximately $200-$300 million of Multis will be derecognized 
from the balance sheet each quarter

• We will choose to execute transactions to derecognize Multis 
rather than Prime Single Family assets due to the relative cost 
e�ciency of the transactions

(1) All growth rates listed in this table are with reference to the prior year.

The Company may not realize the expected asset growth rates indicated in the table above if business or competitive conditions, the 
regulatory environment, the housing market, or general economic conditions change, or if any of the other assumptions outlined in the 
table do not materialize in the amount or within the timeframes speci�ed.
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Revenue

Management believes that in 2017 Net Interest Income (“NII”) should increase at year-over-year rates in the mid to high-teens due to 
continued growth of the Bank’s assets.

Total revenue growth will also be supported by Gains on Sale related to our securitization activities.  When Securitization Financing assets 
are derecognized from our Balance Sheet, we cease recording NII on those mortgages and instead record an up-front gain on sale.  The 
growth of our businesses will likely cause us to continue derecognizing assets going forward in order to e�ectively manage our capital 
position.  If regulatory changes reduce the volumes of insured Prime Single Family mortgages that we originate or renew, however, we will 
reduce the level of our derecognition activity accordingly.  If we reduce our derecognition activity, we will realize the Net Interest Income 
over the life of the mortgages instead of through an up-front gain on sale.

Summary of Expectations for Key Revenue Drivers for 2017

Driver Expectations Rationale and Assumptions

NIM: 
Core Lending

• Will decrease by up to 
5 bps from Q4 2016

• The Government of Canada overnight rate and the Prime lending rate do 
not change through the end of 2017.

• Margins within Alternative Single Family and Commercial are stable; price 
competition does not increase

• The portfolio mix shifts slightly more towards lower spread but higher ROE 
Single Family assets which will cause NIM to gradually decrease

• EQ Bank deposit balances grow moderately, as we maintain a highly 
attractive interest rate and add additional features to the platform in 2017

NIM:  
Securitization 
Financing

• Will decrease slightly  
from Q4 2016

• Prepayment income declines from the unusually high level experienced in 
Q4 2016

• Multi margins are consistent with current levels

• Prime margins will be highly dependent on the market’s reaction to recent 
regulatory changes, with a slight widening being the most likely scenario

NIM: 
Total

• Will decrease by 
several basis points 
relative to Q4 2016 
levels

• The growth rate of our higher margin Core Lending portfolio is greater than 
that of Securitization Financing in 2017, and that mix shift bene�ts overall 
margins

• The mix e�ect is o�set by a decrease in the margins of each portfolio

Income from  
NHA-MBS Successor 
Issuer Rights

• Expect Maple  
income in the range  
of $0.25-$0.30

• Equitable does not obtain renewal rights for the majority of the mortgages 
that mature during 2017

Securitization Gains 
on Sale

• Will be consistent with  
 2016 levels

•  Securitization and derecognition activity is between $200 and $300 million 
in each of the next four quarters

• Overall gain on sale margins will be consistent with the levels realized in 
2016

NIM is a function of portfolio mix, with that mix being in�uenced by both the level of asset derecognition that we achieve and the types of 
assets that we derecognize.  Accordingly, any change to our current securitization and derecognition plans could cause NIM to di�er from 
the expectations outlined above, particularly for the Securitization Financing portfolio.  Quarterly NIM may also �uctuate and di�er from 
our expectations due to mortgage prepayment income volatility and other factors such as seasonal variations in the level of our liquidity 
holdings.
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Non-Interest Expenses

We anticipate that during 2017 non-interest expenses will increase at year-over-year rates consistent with the growth rate of the overall 
business, as we continue to make investments that build the Bank’s franchise and reinforce our current high level of customer service.  
Expense growth will be lower than in 2016 partly because of the high but more consistent level of investment in our key strategic initiatives 
such as EQ Bank.  These strategic investments reduce e�ciency in the near-term but build a foundation for growth and productivity that will 
bene�t our shareholders over the longer-term.  

The Bank will continue to operate e�ciently on both an absolute and relative basis compared to most other �nancial institutions due to 
our branchless business model, and particularly taking into account the relative scale of our operations.  Our E�ciency Ratio will improve 
through the end of 2017, though will remain just above the mid 30 percent range throughout that period.

Strategic Initiatives

Throughout 2017 management will continue to pursue our key strategic initiatives.  We will invest to grow our lending businesses; enhance 
the capabilities of our digital banking platform; improve our servicing pro�ciency; and continue our e�orts to migrate to the Advanced 
Internal Ratings Based (“AIRB”) approach to improve the sophistication of our capital and risk management.  The levels of capital investment 
and operating expenses will be consistent with the levels in 2016. We expect that all of these initiatives will deliver meaningful long-term 
value for our shareholders.

Credit Quality

The Bank consistently manages credit risk through the application of our prudent lending practices.  As a result, we expect our arrears 
rates and credit loss provisions to be low in 2017, assuming that Canadian economic conditions stay within the range of broad market 
expectations.  Loss and arrears rates may return to more normal levels from the exceptionally low rates experienced over the past several 
years, partly due to the challenging economic conditions in Alberta and Saskatchewan.

We discuss the details of our Alberta and Saskatchewan portfolios in the Credit Quality and Allowance for Credit Losses section of this 
report and have provided additional data regarding our mortgage portfolios in Table 20 of our Q4 2016 Supplemental Information and 
Regulatory Disclosures Report found on the Company’s website at www.equitablebank.ca.  We provide this additional disclosure because of 
the continuing challenges of the energy industry and the impact thereof on the economies of those two provinces.  Our lending portfolios 
in other provinces potentially impacted by oil prices, such as Newfoundland, are immaterial.

The purpose of this outlook is to give the reader an indication of factors that may a�ect Equitable’s performance in the near term.  Readers 
should be aware that information contained in this section may not be appropriate for any other purpose. See “Cautionary Note 
Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” on page 12 of this MD&A.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW – EARNINGS

Table 2: Income statement highlights          

($ THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)  2016  2015  Change from 2015

Net income     $  138,330 $  125,865 $  12,465 10%
EPS – diluted    $  8.49 $  7.73 $  0.76 10%
Net interest income        279,357   242,227   37,130 15%
Provision for credit losses        2,445   3,638    (1,193) (33%) 
Non-interest expenses        116,539   87,962   28,577 32%
Income taxes        48,501   41,598    6,903 17%

NET INTEREST INCOME

NII is the main driver of pro�tability for the Company.  Table 3 details the Company’s NII by product and portfolio:

Table 3: Net interest income

2016  2015
Average Revenue/ Average Average Revenue/ Average

($ THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PERCENTAGES)   balance Expenses rate(1) balance Expenses rate(1)

Core Lending:  
Revenues derived from:  
Mortgages   $  9,582,080 $  444,093 4.63%  $  8,183,052 $  392,462 4.80%  
Liquidity investments   630,830    5,773 0.92%     527,109    5,807 1.10%  
Equity securities − TEB(2)     124,461    8,916 7.16%     142,511    8,958 6.29%

    10,337,371    458,782 4.44%    8,852,672    407,227 4.60% 
Expenses related to:   
Deposits and bank facilities    8,228,347    171,521 2.08%     7,639,928    165,792 2.17%  
Debentures    65,000    3,800 5.85%     83,817    5,033 6.01%  
Securitization liabilities    1,127,375    17,471 1.55%     351,376    6,715 1.91%
    9,420,722    192,792 2.05%     8,075,121    177,540 2.20%

Net interest income − TEB(2)       265,990 2.57%         229,687 2.59%  
Taxable Equivalent Basis − adjustment(2)       (2,648)       (2,482)
Core lending     $  263,342    $  227,205

Securitization Financing:   
Revenues derived from:   
Mortgages   $  6,667,109 $  179,838 2.70%  $  5,097,367 $  159,247 3.12%  
Liquidity investments     147,682    1,493 1.01%     155,729    1,166 0.75%
    6,814,791    181,331 2.66%     5,253,096    160,413 3.05% 

Expenses related to: 
Securitization liabilities     5,787,342    148,489 2.57%     4,614,245    134,852 2.92%  
Deposits and secured funding facility    983,476    16,827 1.71%     575,270    10,539 1.83%
    6,770,818    165,316 2.44%     5,189,515    145,391 2.81%

Securitization �nancing     $  16,015 0.23%      $  15,022 0.29%
                

Total interest earning assets − TEB(2)  $  17,152,162 $  282,005 1.64%  $  14,105,768 $  244,709 1.73%

(1)  Average rates are calculated based on the daily average balances outstanding during the year.
(2)  See Non-Generally Accepted Accounting Principles Financial Measures section of this MD&A.
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NII was up 15% due to an increase in our average interest earning asset balances of $3.0 billion or 22%, o�set in part by a reduction in our 
NIM.  Total NIM decreased 9 basis points (“bps”) as our asset mix shifted towards the lower margin Securitization Financing business and we 
experienced lower margins within both portfolios. 

Table 4: Factors a�ecting YTD 2016 v YTD 2015 NIM 

Impact (in bps) Drivers of change

Core Lending NIM: 
Asset mix  (3) • A shift in average assets towards our lower yielding but higher ROE Single Family business
Funding mix 4 • Growth of our low rate brokered HISA 

• Redemption of higher cost deposit notes
• Partly o�set by growth of our higher rate EQ Bank deposit product

Rates/spreads(1) (3) • Spreads within both our Commercial and Single Family Lending mortgage portfolios have  
dropped slightly in the current year

Change in Core Lending NIM (2)

Securitization Financing NIM:  
Mortgage prepayment income  (1) • Mortgage prepayment income is inherently volatile
Asset mix  2 • A reduction in the relative size of our lower yielding liquidity investments
Rates/spreads(1) (7) • Unusually low margins within Prime at several points in the year
Change in Securitization NIM (6)
Change in Total NIM(2) (9)

(1) The rate e�ect is calculated after adjusting for the impact of asset and funding mix changes
(2) Change in total NIM does not necessarily equal the sum of change in Core Lending and Securitization Financing NIMs for several reasons including asset mix shifts between the two 

mortgage portfolios

PROVISION FOR CREDIT LOSSES

Table 5: Provision for credit losses

($ THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PERCENTAGES)      2016  2015   Change from 2015

Individual provision    $  2,445 $  1,258 $ 1,187 94%
Collective provision      -    2,380  (2,380) (100%)
Provision for credit losses    $  2,445 $  3,638 $ (1,193) (33%)
Provision for credit losses – rate     0.02%  0.03%  N/A (0.01%) 
Allowance for credit losses    $   34,426 $ 33,216 $ 1,210 4%

The credit quality of our mortgage portfolio remained strong.  Our provision for credit losses during the year was $2.4 million, $1.2 million 
lower than in 2015.  Relative to average mortgage principal outstanding during the year, the provision for credit losses was 2 bps, just 
below the 2015 level and historical norms.  Based on our normal extensive review of mortgage assets and credit allowances, management 
concluded that this level of provision would maintain allowances at an appropriate level and that no additions to our collective allowance 
were required during the year.

The provision for credit losses represents management’s best estimate of loss formations during the year after carefully assessing the overall 
portfolio and individually reviewing impaired loans.  The amount of provision may vary year-to-year based on impaired loan balances, our 
estimates of the credit losses on those loans, and economic conditions.  The provision does not represent the aggregate amount that we 
have reserved to absorb losses: that aggregate amount is represented by the allowance for credit losses on our consolidated balance sheet.  
The allowance was $34.4 million or 19 bps of our total mortgage assets at December 31, 2016, which is in excess of our 10 year average 
annual loss rate of 4 bps.
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OTHER INCOME

Table 6: Other income

($ THOUSANDS)    2016  2015 Change from 2015

Fees and other income:
Fees and other income $ 16,111 $ 11,413 $ 4,698 41%
Income from successor issuer activities 1,529 - 1,529 N/A

Net gain (loss) on investments    146  (463)   609 N/A
Securitization activities:

Gains on securitization and income from retained interests   9,035  6,150  2,885 47%
Fair value losses on derivative �nancial instruments   (363)  (264)   (99) N/A

Total   $  26,458 $  16,836 $  9,622 57%

Other income increased $9.6 million compared with 2015, mainly due to increases in: 

• Fees and other income, the majority of which resulted from growth in our mortgage assets and $1.3 million of gains recorded on certain 
investments acquired from Maple Bank;

• Income from successor issuer activities, representing income earned from certain Maple Assets that we bought this year and is expected 
to be recurring on a diminishing basis through 2020; 

• Gains on securitization and income from retained interests, driven by a higher volume of securitization transactions that quali�ed for 
derecognition; and

• A net investment gain of a $0.1 million in the current year compared to a $0.5 million net loss in 2015.

NON-INTEREST EXPENSES

Table 7: Non-interest expenses and E�ciency Ratio

($ THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PERCENTAGES AND FTE)      2016  2015  Change from 2015

Growth of our franchise:
Compensation and bene�ts   $  54,843 $  45,957 $  8,886 19%
Technology and system costs     14,753   11,590   3,163 27%
Product costs     8,138   7,233   905 13%
Regulatory, legal and professional fees     7,768   6,529   1,239 19%
Marketing and corporate expenses     7,571   7,470   101 1%
Premises   6,151   3,571   2,580 72%
Non-interest expenses before strategic investments   $  99,224 $  82,350 $  16,874 20%
Investments in our future: 
Compensation and bene�ts   $  5,437 $  2,517 $  2,920 116%
Other     11,878   3,095   8,783 284%
Total investments in our future(1)  $  17,315 $  5,612 $  11,703 209%
Total non-interest expenses   $  116,539 $  87,962 $  28,577 32%
E�ciency Ratio − TEB   37.8%  33.6%  N/A 4.2%
Full-time employee ("FTE")  − period average  531  445   86 19%

(1) See Non-Generally Accepted Accounting Principles Financial Measures section of this MD&A.

During Q3 2016, management recategorized non-interest expenses as presented in Table 7 to better align like expenses, enhance the 
reader’s ability to understand expense trends across reporting periods, and to be consistent with how management monitors and manages 
spending. 2015 comparative �gures have been reclassi�ed to conform to the current period presentation. 
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We continue to operate e�ciently on both an absolute basis and relative to other �nancial institutions, particularly taking into account 
the scale of our operations.  Our E�ciency Ratio increased to 37.8% from 33.6% a year ago, mainly due to a 32% increase in non-interest 
expenses.  The increase re�ects the successful expansion of our business, as well as strategic investments made to enable future growth 
and maintain the superior level of service that we provide to mortgage brokers, borrowers and savers.  In most cases, these strategic 
investments were made ahead of the associated bene�ts, and as such reduced our net income and elevated our E�ciency Ratio in the 
current year. We expect these investments will improve our future e�ciency, enhance our competitive capabilities and di�erentiate us from 
our competitors, thereby creating long-term value for our shareholders.  

The key drivers of the $28.6 million increase in our expenses were:

Growth of Our Franchise: $16.9 million or 59% of the net increase

• Compensation and bene�ts costs increased as a result  of an 18% increase in FTE to support our growing business; 

• Technology and system costs were up due to core banking system support, maintenance and enhancements;

• Premises costs increased, as a result of the renovation and expansion of our o�ce space; and

• Regulatory, legal and professional fees were higher mainly due to an increase in CDIC’s standard premium rates, higher deposit balances, 
and business growth.

Investments in Our Future: $11.7 million or 41% of the net increase

These investments represent non-interest expenses recorded in the period in support of our most signi�cant strategic initiatives.  The 
growth was driven by:

• a $3.9 million increase for digital banking call centre costs as well as systems support and maintenance;

• a $3.0 million increase in marketing expenses to support EQ Bank’s public launch in January and to build our brand over the year;

• a $2.9 million increase in compensation and bene�ts related to growth of our digital banking and prime lending teams; and

• a $2.6 million increase in product costs, resulting from our amortization of previously capitalized digital banking investments, mainly over 
a 10 year period.

INCOME TAXES

Our e�ective income tax rate in 2016 increased to 26.0% from 24.8% in 2015, largely due to an investment transaction in Q2 2015 that 
reduced the tax provision in that period and for the year. Excluding the impact of the investment transaction, our e�ective tax rate was 0.3% 
higher than last year.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW – BALANCE SHEET

Table 8: Balance sheet highlights

($ THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PERCENTAGES)      2016  2015  Change from 2015

Total assets   $  18,973,588 $  15,527,584 $ 3,446,004 22%
Mortgage principal – Core Lending    10,682,712    8,679,129    2,003,583 23%
Mortgage principal – Securitization Financing    7,017,120    5,955,318    1,061,802 18%
Deposit principal    9,680,163    8,115,483    1,564,680 19%
Total liquid assets as a % of total assets(1)    6.7%   5.8%   N/A 0.9%

(1) See Non-Generally Accepted Accounting Principles Financial Measures section of this MD&A.

TOTAL MORTGAGE PRINCIPAL 

Our strategy is to maintain a diverse portfolio of mortgage assets in order to reduce our risk and optimize our ROE, while focusing our 
strategic growth e�orts on both our Alternative and Prime Single Family Lending businesses.  The following tables provide mortgage 
principal continuity schedules by lending portfolio for 2016 and 2015:

Table 9: Mortgage principal continuity schedule

2016
Total Derecognized Securitization

($ THOUSANDS, Single Family  Commercial Total Securitization Mortgage Mortgage Financing
EXCEPT PERCENTAGES) Lending Lending Core Lending Financing Principal Principal(1) MUM(2)

2015 closing balance   $  6,449,663 $  2,229,466 $  8,679,129 $  5,955,318 $  14,634,447 $  2,072,488  $  8,027,806
Originations    3,608,169    1,269,685    4,877,854    3,049,279    7,927,133    -      3,049,279
Securitization derecognized     -     -    -    (1,328,487)   (1,328,487)   1,328,487    - 
Net repayments    (2,202,126)   (672,145)   (2,874,271)   (658,990)   (3,533,261)   (96,794)    (755,784)
2016 closing balance   $  7,855,706 $  2,827,006 $  10,682,712 $  7,017,120 $  17,699,832 $  3,304,181  $  10,321,301
% Change from 2015    22%  27%  23%  18%  21%  59%   29%
Net repayments percentage(3)    34.1%   30.1%  33.1%  11.1%  24.1%  4.7%   9.4%

2015
Total Derecognized Securitization

($ THOUSANDS, Single Family  Commercial Total Securitization Mortgage Mortgage Financing
EXCEPT PERCENTAGES) Lending Lending Core Lending Financing Principal Principal(1) MUM(2)

2014 closing balance   $  5,385,848 $  2,305,375 $  7,691,223 $  4,549,475 $  12,240,698 $  1,519,008  $  6,068,483
Originations    2,673,150   903,233   3,576,383   2,573,274   6,149,657   -     2,573,274
Securitization derecognized      -    -    -    (617,015)   (617,015)   617,015    - 
Net repayments    (1,609,335)   (979,142)   (2,588,477)   (550,416)   (3,138,893)   (63,535)    (613,951)
2015 closing balance   $  6,449,663 $  2,229,466 $  8,679,129 $  5,955,318 $  14,634,447 $  2,072,488  $  8,027,806
% Change from 2014    20%  (3%)  13%  31%  20%  36%   32%
Net repayments percentage(3)    29.9%   42.5%   33.7%   12.1%   25.6%   4.2%    10.1%

(1) Derecognized Mortgage Principal represents Mortgages Under Administration that are not reported on Equitable’s consolidated balance sheets.  These mortgages were securitized using 
transaction structures that transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards or control associated with the mortgages to a third party, resulting in the derecognition of the securitized 
mortgages.

(2) Securitization Financing MUM includes Securitization Financing balance sheet assets and Derecognized Mortgage Principal.
(3) Net repayments percentage is calculated by dividing net repayments by the previous period’s closing balance.
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Total MUM increased by $4.3 billion or 26% compared to a year ago, driven by 23% growth in Core Lending balances and 29% growth in 
Securitization Financing MUM.

Within Core Lending, the alternative Single Family Lending and Commercial Lending portfolios both grew by more than 20% due to strong 
origination levels.  Commercial balance growth also bene�ted from lower than normal attrition rates.

Securitization Financing MUM, which includes $3.3 billion of derecognized mortgage principal, is more re�ective of the performance of 
our underlying securitization business than are assets reported on the balance sheet.  Securitization Financing MUM grew $2.3 billion 
from 2015, largely due to origination activity and low attrition in our Prime Single Family business.  Prime has accumulated $3.9 billion of 
assets since its launch in August 2014. As our Prime business is still relatively new, loans are not maturing in any signi�cant volumes yet and 
accordingly attrition rates are low. We expect that attrition rates will gradually increase over time as the portfolio seasons. 

MORTGAGE ASSET ORIGINATIONS

The table below provides mortgage originations for 2016 and 2015 by lending business: 

Table 10: Mortgage originations − by lending business

  2016 2015 Change from 2015
Mortgage  %  Mortgage % Mortgage %

($ THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PERCENTAGES)  principal funded of total principal funded of total principal funded Change

Core Lending:
Single Family Lending   $  3,608,169 46% $  2,673,150 43% $  935,019 35%
Commercial Lending     1,269,685 16%    903,233 15%   366,452 41%

    4,877,854 62%    3,576,383 58%   1,301,471 36%
Securitization Financing :

Multi-unit residential    957,857 12%    989,944 16%   (32,087) (3%)
Prime single family residential     2,091,422 26%    1,583,330 26%   508,092 32%

    3,049,279 38%    2,573,274 42%   476,005 18%
Total mortgage originations  $  7,927,133 100% $  6,149,657 100% $  1,777,476 29%

The Company delivered record mortgage origination volumes in 2016. Originations increased from 2015 as a result of stronger performance 
in both our Core Lending and Securitization Financing portfolios. 

With Core Lending, the origination growth in Single Family is mainly attributable to the strength of the Canadian real estate market and to 
market share gains that resulted from our consistently high levels of service quality. Commercial Lending originations were higher due to 
our increased market focus, our recent rebranding e�orts, and the strength of our distribution partnerships.

Securitization Financing originations were up slightly year-over-year, re�ecting our success in building our Prime Single Family mortgage 
business, both internally and through mortgage brokers and distribution agents. Of the $2.1 billion of Prime loans that we originated during 
the year, $669 million was originated internally which was up $301 million or 82% from last year.  The remaining $1.4 billion was sourced 
through third parties.

Origination volumes of Multis were down $32 million or 3% compared to the prior year. We aim to originate Multis such that we utilize the 
full amount of our CMB capacity each year, after considering our renewal volumes and inventory on-hand. Our CMB capacity was up in 
2016, but so were renewal volumes, and as a result origination volumes decreased.



30

SECURITIZATION

We securitize mortgages in order to e�ectively manage our margins and diversify our sources of funding. When we securitize mortgages, 
we apply the IFRS derecognition rules to determine whether we have transferred substantially all the risks and rewards or control associated 
with the mortgages to third parties. If the securitized mortgages and the transaction structure meet speci�c criteria, the mortgages 
may qualify for full or partial balance sheet derecognition and an upfront gain on sale. In some cases, we retain residual interests in the 
mortgages, which are recorded as securitization retained interests and servicing liabilities on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.

The table below provides a summary of our securitization and derecognition activity in the reporting and comparative periods.

Table 11: Securitization and derecognition activity

($ THOUSANDS EXCEPT PERCENTAGES)    2016 2015  Change from2015

Securitization derecognized – non-prepayable Multis   $  580,410 $  607,858 $  (27,448) (5%)
Securitization derecognized – prepayable mortgages(1)   748,077   9,157   738,920 8,069%
Total principal derecognized   $  1,328,487 $   617,015 $  711,472 115%
Gains on sale   $  8,135 $  5,247 $  2,888 55%
Gains on sale margin(2)  0.61%  0.85%  N/A (0.24%)

(1) In order to derecognize prepayable mortgages, Equitable needs to securitize the mortgages through CMHC’s CMB or NHA-MBS programs and also then engage in a transaction that 
transfers the residual risks and rewards to third parties.  This additional transaction is not required to derecognize non-prepayable mortgages.

(2) Gains on sale margin represents the gains on sale as a percentage of total principal derecognized.

Gains on sale were up from last year as a result of greater derecognition volume and despite a lower gain on sale margin. The higher volume 
was primarily due to an increase in the volume of prepayable mortgages that was derecognized during the year. We executed transactions 
that transferred the risks and rewards of securitized prepayable mortgages to third parties and allowed us to e�ect derecognition of the 
assets, in order to proactively manage our regulatory Leverage Ratio.  These transactions resulted in the derecognition of $748 million of 
prepayable Multis and a gain on sale of $1.6 million (a 0.22% margin). 

The gain on sale margin was down from 2015 largely due to a mix shift towards prepayable Multis.  Margins on these type of mortgages are 
lower because there are costs associated with executing the transactions that allow for derecognition.  In addition, the mortgages that we 
derecognized had a relatively low spread.

CREDIT QUALITY AND ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES

Management regularly evaluates the pro�le of Equitable’s loan portfolio and our lending practices, taking into account borrower behaviours 
and external market variables including market values and employment conditions that prevail in the markets in which we lend.  When 
management judges that the risk associated with a particular region or product is no longer acceptable, we adjust underwriting criteria 
to ensure that our policies continue to be prudent and re�ective of current and expected economic conditions, thereby safeguarding 
the future health of our portfolio. When appropriate, Equitable also responds to the changing marketplace with initiatives that result in 
increased mortgage originations, while continuing to maintain a low credit risk pro�le.  

The Company’s active management of credit risk and our workout e�orts continue to yield positive results as highlighted in the metrics in 
following table. We believe that these measures re�ect the health of the Company’s mortgage portfolio and indicate that our allowances 
adequately provide for the risk of loss.
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Table 12: Mortgage credit metrics

($ THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PERCENTAGES)    2016 2015  Change from 2015

Provision for credit losses  $  2,445 $ 3,638 $ (1,193) (33%)
Provision for credit losses – rate    0.02%  0.03%  N/A (0.01%)
Gross impaired mortgage assets(1)   39,365  34,183  5,182 15%
Net impaired mortgage assets(2)   36,829  32,857  3,972 12%
Net impaired mortgage assets as a % of total mortgage assets   0.21%  0.22%  N/A (0.02%)
Allowance for credit losses   34,426  33,216  1,210 4%
Allowance for credit losses as a % of total mortgage assets   0.19%  0.23%  N/A (0.04%)
Allowances for credit losses as a % of gross impaired mortgage assets   87%  97%  N/A (10%)

(1) Uninsured mortgages are deemed to be impaired at the earlier of the date they have been individually provided for or when they have been in arrears for 90 days.  Mortgages guaranteed 
by the Government of Canada are deemed to be impaired when payment is contractually past due 365 days.

(2) Net impaired mortgage assets re�ect gross impaired mortgages less individual allowances.

In aggregate, our credit metrics indicate that the quality of our mortgage portfolio remained high in 2016:

• Our provision for credit losses in absolute dollars and relative to average mortgage principal dropped from 2015, a result of our 
consistently prudent risk management parameters and active monitoring processes

• Impaired loans increased in dollar terms but were lower as a percentage of the total portfolio compared to the prior year and historical 
norms. The majority of the dollar increase was in our Single Family Lending portfolio in the provinces of Alberta and Saskatchewan.  The 
impairment rate may return to more normalized levels in the future quarters.

• The allowance for credit losses as a percentage of total mortgages assets declined year-over-year but remains su�cient in the opinion of 
management

Alberta and Saskatchewan

Since late 2014, management has been proactively adjusting lending criteria in Alberta and Saskatchewan given the economic risks 
associated with low oil and gas prices.  These adjustments have reduced Equitable’s activity in both provinces over the past two years.

The highlights of our investments in Alberta and Saskatchewan at December 31, 2016 include:

• $2.9 billion or 15% of the Company’s total mortgage principal is in these two provinces.

> $1.7 billion or 59% of those assets are insured.  $1.0 billion of the insured assets are single family residential, with the remainder being 
multi-unit residential.

> $1.2 billion of the assets are uninsured, with $0.8 billion of that total being single family residential and $0.4 billion being commercial.  
These uninsured assets represent only 7% of our total mortgage principal.

• Of the uninsured mortgages in these two provinces, $1.0 billion or 87% are in the cities of greater Edmonton and Calgary.  Similarly, $66.5 
million or 6% are in Regina and Saskatoon.  Those cities have relatively diversi�ed economies and real estate markets that would be more 
resilient in the face of economic shocks.

• The average loan to value of our uninsured single family residential mortgages in these provinces is 65%.

• Impaired mortgages in Alberta and Saskatchewan were $14.6 million or only 0.08% of our total mortgage principal, up as expected from 
$11.6 million in the preceding quarter and $7.1 million in the prior year.

• Early stage delinquencies in Alberta and Saskatchewan were $12.2 million or 0.07% of our total mortgage principal outstanding at the 
end of 2016, down from $13.4 million in the preceding quarter and up from $9.7 million in the prior year.
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Overall, the Alberta and Saskatchewan portfolios have performed better than we had expected to date in the face of declining energy 
prices in prior years.  Total delinquencies have remained relatively stable throughout 2016, increasing slightly from the prior quarter and 
improving since Q1 2016.  In 2016, provisions for credit losses on impaired mortgages in these two provinces were only $0.9 million.   The 
table below provides our Alberta and Saskatchewan arrears �gures for the past eight quarters:

Table 13:  Alberta and Saskatchewan Delinquencies

($ THOUSANDS, 2016 2015
EXCEPT PERCENTAGES)     Q4 Q3  Q2  Q1  Q4  Q3  Q2  Q1

Early stage delinquencies(1)    $ 12,247 $ 13,428 $ 16,573 $ 19,030 $ 9,666 $ 8,602 $ 7,461 $ 14,946
Impaired mortgages(2)    14,552 11,644  8,911  9,066   7,103   7,765   6,126   6,060
Total Delinquencies   $ 26,799 $ 25,072 $ 25,484 $ 28,096 $ 16,769 $ 16,367 $ 13,587 $ 21,006

Delinquencies as a % of 
total mortgage principal  0.15% 0.15% 0.16% 0.18% 0.11% 0.12% 0.10% 0.16%

Impaired mortgages as a % of 
total mortgage principal  0.08% 0.07% 0.06% 0.06% 0.05% 0.06% 0.05% 0.05%

(1) Early stage delinquencies consist of principal of both uninsured mortgages in arrears between 30 and 89 days and insured mortgages in arrears between 30 and 365 days. 
(2) Impaired mortgages include principal of both uninsured mortgages in arrears greater than 89 days and insured mortgages in arrears 365 days or more.  

Due to our conservative underwriting approach, our focus on lending in larger urban centres such as Calgary and Edmonton, and our 
robust workout process, we expect any losses to be manageable in the overall context of the Bank’s �nancial position.  In order to arrive 
at our view on these potential losses, management conducts regular stress tests on our loan portfolio.  The results of our most recent 
residential housing market stress tests for Alberta and Saskatchewan indicate that realized loan losses would be manageable under all 
scenarios tested. 

The expected provisions are low due to the nature of Equitable’s lending activities and our prudent risk management practices.  The primary 
factors contributing to the low provisions include:

• Insurance: Over half of our lending portfolio in Alberta and Saskatchewan is insured

• Secured Lending: Our lending in these provinces is secured by high-quality residential and commercial real estate  

• Loan-to-Value Ratios: The low average loan-to-value ratio of our uninsured residential portfolio in Alberta and Saskatchewan provides 
us with substantial downside protection against a drop in real estate prices

• Market Positioning: We maintain strict lending policies that govern our activity in the upper and lower ends of the house price spectrum 
because we view those segments of the market as inherently more risky. As such, we believe that our residential mortgage portfolio, 
which is weighted to the relatively more stable middle market, will be less impacted by any market instability.

• Geographic Focus: Our portfolio is focused on the major urban centres of Calgary, Edmonton, Regina, and Saskatoon.  Those cities have 
relatively diversi�ed economies and liquid real estate markets, which allows Equitable to more quickly realize the value of any collateral.

We will continue to monitor these markets and review our risk management approach in order to maintain the risk of loss at an acceptably 
low level.

Details of our Alberta and Saskatchewan lending portfolios can be found in our Q4 2016 Supplemental Information and Regulatory 
Disclosures Report available on the Company’s website at www.equitablebank.ca.
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LIQUIDITY INVESTMENTS AND EQUITY SECURITIES 

Management closely monitors the Company’s liquidity position and believes that the level of liquid assets held, together with Equitable’s 
ability to raise deposits and access other sources of funding, is su�cient for us to meet our mortgage funding and deposit maturity 
commitments, as well as to ensure that we can collect our receivables and satisfy our other obligations.  Liquidity levels may vary period to 
period mainly due to the timing of securitization related cash �ows and residential mortgage funding seasonality.

Table 14: Liquid assets

($ THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PERCENTAGES)     2016 2015  Change from 2015

Eligible deposits with regulated �nancial institutions(1)  $  443,855 $  423,157 $  20,698 5%
Government issued or guaranteed debt instruments:

Investments purchased under reverse repurchase agreements      199,401   19,918   179,483 901%
Debt securities guaranteed by Government of Canada      -    16,295   (16,295) (100%)
Mortgages held in the form of debt securities guaranteed by Government of Canada(2)     638,323   301,453   336,870 112%
Obligations under repurchase agreements     (112,488)   -    (112,488) N/A

Liquid assets held for regulatory purposes     1,169,091   760,823   408,268 54%
Other deposits with regulated �nancial institutions      324   209   115 55%
Equity securities(3)     111,176   134,024   (22,848) (17%)
Total liquid assets   $  1,280,591 $  895,056 $  385,535 43%

Total assets held for regulatory purposes as a % of total Equitable Bank assets     6.2%  4.9%  N/A 1.3%
Total liquid assets as a % of total assets     6.7%  5.8%  N/A 0.9%

 (1) Eligible deposits with regulated �nancial institutions exclude $16.0 million (December 31, 2015  – $23.3  million) of restricted cash held as collateral by third parties for the Company’s 
interest rate swap transactions and $231.9 million (December 31, 2015 – $84.7  million) of cash held in trust  accounts and deposits held with banks as collateral for the Company’s 
securitization activities.  

(2) Mortgages held in the form of debt securities represent mortgages securitized and retained by the Company and are reported in our Mortgages receivable – Securitization Financing 
balances.  The values reported above represents the fair market value of the associated MBS securities.

(3) Equity securities include publicly traded common and preferred shares. 

The size and composition of our liquidity portfolio at any point in time is in�uenced by several factors, most notably by our expected cash 
needs over the subsequent eight week period and the availability of other funding sources. We always hold su�cient liquid assets to ensure 
that we can meet these upcoming obligations even through a disruption in the �nancial markets. In addition, we apply a strategic approach 
to our liquidity management through rigorous asset-liability matching analysis and stress tests.  

In addition to assets that are held for the purpose of providing liquidity protection, we hold other deposits with regulated �nancial 
institutions as collateral for our derivative and securitization activities.  We also maintain an equity portfolio, the majority of which is 
investment grade preferred shares that are held to yield tax-preferred dividend income, but which could be liquidated in the event of 
�nancial stress.

To ensure institutions have su�cient high-quality liquid assets to survive a signi�cant stress scenario lasting 30 calendar days, OSFI has 
mandated that Canadian deposit-taking institutions monitor and report their Liquidity Coverage Ratio (“LCR”)(1). At December 31, 2016, our 
LCR was well in excess of the regulatory minimum of 100%.

Liquid assets held for regulatory purposes were up as compared with 2015, primarily due to growth of our business and our decision to pre-
fund more of our mortgage pipeline given the relatively inexpensive term deposits rates in December.

(1) See Non-Generally Accepted Accounting Principles Financial Measures section of this MD&A.
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OTHER ASSETS 

The table below provides a breakdown of Other assets at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015: 

Table 15: Other assets

($ THOUSANDS)    2016  2015  Change from 2015

Capital assets  $  20,445 $  14,369 $  6,076 42%
Intangible assets    18,998   18,836   162 1%
Prepaid expenses and other    9,945   8,223   1,722 21%
Receivable relating to securitization activities    8,998   5,524   3,474 63%
Real estate owned    7,596   8,200  (604) (7%)
Derivative �nancial instruments: 

interest rate swaps  3,673   990  2,683 271%
total return swaps  1,042   -   1,042 N/A
bond forwards  456   -    456 N/A

Accrued interest and dividends on non-mortgage assets    1,626   420   1,206 287%
Mortgage commitments    48   2  46 2,300%
Income taxes recoverable    -    3,578  (3,578) (100%)
Total  $  72,827 $  60,142 $  12,685 21%

The growth in Other assets from 2015 to 2016 was mainly due to the following items: 

• an increase in capital assets related to investments in our computer systems and the o�ce expansion we undertook in support of our 
growth; 

• an increase in receivables relating to securitization activities, primarily due to certain Maple Assets that we assumed in Q4 2016; and

• an increase in the fair value of outstanding derivative �nancial instruments;

O�set by:

• a decrease in income taxes receivable.

Included in Prepaid expenses and other is a net receivable of $3.2 million (December 31, 2015 – $3.2 million) related to an alleged fraud 
that was identi�ed in 2011.  The Company continues to pursue a recovery claim under our Financial Institution Bond, which is intended 
to protect against fraud losses.  There is no assurance that proceeds or recoveries, if any, will be received in a timely manner from these 
additional actions or that such proceeds will be su�cient to recover the full amount of the receivable. 

DEPOSITS

Table 16: Deposit principal

($ THOUSANDS)    2016  2015  Change from 2015

Brokered term deposits  $  7,275,675 $  6,931,771 $  343,904 5%
Brokered HISAs    1,192,046   947,675   244,371 26%
EQ Bank Savings Plus Accounts    1,062,279   91   1,062,188 N/A
Deposit notes    150,163   235,946  (85,783) (36%)
Total  $  9,680,163 $  8,115,483 $  1,564,680 19%

Equitable Bank is a federally regulated deposit taking institution and o�ers insured deposits to savers across Canada.  We source deposits 
primarily through a national distribution network of third party deposit agents and �nancial advisors. In January 2016, we introduced the 
EQ Bank Savings Plus Account through our digital banking platform, a brand new channel that further diversi�es our funding sources by 
collecting deposits directly from our customers. Our deposit product suite, which now includes GICs, HISAs, and deposit notes, provides a 
reliable and stable source of funding that can be matched against mortgage maturities.
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Total deposit principal outstanding increased $1.6 billion or 19%, to $9.7 billion as at December 31, 2016, just below the growth rate of our 
Core Lending Portfolio.

The majority of this growth was in the EQ Bank Savings Plus Account and our brokered HISA product.  EQ Bank deposits surpassed $1.0 billion 
at the end of 2016.  Brokered HISA balances increased by $244 million or 26% from last year to $1.2 billion.  The growth of these products 
has further diversi�ed our funding sources and reduced our overall risk pro�le.

The relatively lower growth rate of brokered term deposits re�ects our e�orts to grow and diversify our other funding sources, in particular 
EQ Bank.  We continue to have strong relationships with our deposit agents or brokers and these deposits continue to o�er Canadian savers 
an attractive interest rate.

Deposit note balances decreased by $86 million compared to 2015 mainly due to the redemption of a �oating rate note in September 2016.  
Although we are committed to maintaining a deposit note program over the long-term, the Bank has not been an active issuer recently as 
deposit note yields remain high relative to those of our other funding sources.

SECURITIZATION LIABILITIES 

The majority of the Company’s historic securitization transactions do not qualify the mortgages for balance sheet derecognition and 
therefore the associated obligations are recognized on the consolidated balance sheets and accounted for as securitization liabilities. 

Securitization liability principal was $7.8 billion at the end of December 31, 2016, up $1.7 billion or 27% from December 31, 2015.  The 
increase is largely due to the growth of our Prime Single Family business but also to a new funding program that was established in Q2 2015 
and expanded in Q2 2016.  This new program, which is sponsored by a major Canadian Schedule I Bank, provides Equitable with a source 
of matched funding for uninsured single family mortgages.  Once securitized, mortgages remain in the facility until they mature.  Equitable 
bears no risk for the funding of the facility itself. 

BANK FACILITIES AND DEBENTURES 

The Bank has two revolving credit facilities with major Schedule I Canadian Banks to fund insured residential mortgages prior to 
securitization, with an aggregate capacity of $700 million.  At December 31, 2016, the balance outstanding on these facilities was  
$50 million (December 31, 2015 – $236 million). Our usage of these facilities is a function of our Prime Single Family origination levels  
and the timing of mortgage securitizations and sales, in addition to the availability of other funding sources.

We also have a $35 million operating credit facility in place with a major Canadian Schedule I Bank.  The facility is secured by a portion  
of the Company’s preferred share investments.  There was no outstanding balance on the facility at December 31, 2016 or 2015.

At December 31, 2016 and 2015, we had $65 million of Series 10 debentures outstanding, bearing an interest rate of 5.40%.  These 
debentures are scheduled to mature in Q4 2017.

Details related to the Company’s bank facilities and debentures can be found in Notes 16 and 17 to our 2016 audited consolidated �nancial 
statements.

OTHER LIABILITIES AND DEFERRED INCOME TAXES

Other liabilities include realty taxes collected from borrowers, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, income taxes payable, the fair value 
of derivative �nancial instruments, and future servicing liabilities for securitized mortgages that achieved derecognition.
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Table 17: Other liabilities and deferred income taxes

($ THOUSANDS)    2016  2015  Change from 2015

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  $  114,314 $  24,999 $ 89,315 357%
Mortgagor realty taxes    46,963   39,268  7,695 20%
Securitized mortgage servicing liability   22,972   14,552  8,420 58%
Income taxes payable   19,945   -   19,945 N/A
Derivative �nancial instruments:

interest rate swaps  158   -   158 N/A
bond forwards  113   1,592  (1,479) (93%)
total return swaps  - 879 (879) (100%)

204,465   81,290  123,175 152%
Deferred tax liabilities    38,771  28,698  10,073 35%
Total other liabilities and Deferred tax liabilities   $  243,236 $  109,988 $ 133,248 121%

The increase in Other liabilities and Deferred tax liabilities was mainly due to increases in accounts payable and accrued liabilities, of which 
$76 million relates to obligations associated with part of our Maple Assets and $13 million in various payables which were incurred in the 
normal course of the business and grew in line with the growth in operating expenses. 

Contractual obligations by year of maturity are outlined in Table 35 – Contractual obligations.  There were no material changes to 
contractual obligations that are outside the ordinary course of the Company’s operations during 2016. 

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Total shareholders’ equity increased $181 million or 23% to $977 million at December 31, 2016, from $796 million a year ago.  The increase 
re�ects the earnings retained by the Company, net of dividends paid, other comprehensive income due to fair market value changes on our 
available for sale investments (primarily our holdings of investment grade preferred shares), and a common share issuance in Q4 2016.

On December 12, 2016, the Company entered into an agreement with OMERS, the pension plan for Ontario’s municipal employees, for a 
private placement of 809,585 common shares of the Company at a price of $61.76 per share, for aggregate proceeds of up to $50 million. 
The transaction closed on December 23, 2016.  The investment increases Equitable Bank’s CET1 Capital and provides us with more capacity 
to fund the growth of our lending businesses.

At December 31, 2016, the Company had 16,460,142 common shares and 3,000,000 Series 3 preferred shares issued and outstanding 
(December 31, 2015 – 15,538,605 common shares and 3,000,000 Series 3 preferred shares).  

During 2016, 136,239 options were granted.  In addition, 111,952 stock options were exercised that contributed $2.9 million to common 
share capital.  At December 31, 2016, there were 557,467 unexercised stock options, which are, or will be, exercisable to purchase common 
shares for maximum proceeds of $25.7 million.  For information on outstanding stock options and their associated exercise prices, please 
refer to Note 19(a) to the 2016 audited consolidated �nancial statements.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT – EQUITABLE BANK

We manage the Bank’s capital in accordance with guidelines established by OSFI, based on standards issued by the Bank for International 
Settlements, Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (“BCBS”).  In order to govern the quality and quantity of capital necessary to maintain 
the business based on its inherent risks, Equitable Bank utilizes an Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (“ICAAP”).  

OSFI’s Capital Adequacy Requirements (“CAR”) Guideline details how Basel III rules apply to Canadian Banks.  OSFI has mandated that 
all Canadian-regulated �nancial institutions meet a target CET1 Ratio of 7.0% on an “all-in” basis (de�ned by OSFI as capital calculated to 
include all of the Basel III regulatory adjustments that will be required by 2019, but retaining the phase-out rules for non-qualifying capital 
instruments).  For Tier 1 Capital and Total Capital Ratios, the “all-in” capital targets are 8.5% and 10.5%, respectively.  

Management believes that the Bank’s current level of capital and its earnings in future periods will be su�cient to support our strategic 
objectives and ongoing growth. Equitable Bank’s CET1 Ratio on an “all-in” basis was 14.0% as at December 31, 2016, while our Tier 1 Capital 
and Total Capital Ratios were 15.1% and 16.6% respectively, exceeding the regulatory minimums on an “all-in” basis.  Our CET1 Ratio and 
Tier 1 Capital Ratios were up from the prior quarter and last year primarily due to an increase in CET1 Capital resulting from a common 
share issuance that occurred in December 2016.  Our Total Capital Ratio was up from last quarter but down from last year. The decrease 
from December 2015 was caused by growth of our risk-weighted assets outpacing the growth of our Total Capital during the year, in part 
because our preferred share and subordinated debt levels were unchanged from the prior year.
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As with last quarter, capital levels at December 31, 2016 were impacted by $20.3 million of unrealized after-tax losses on our preferred 
share portfolio and a $15.0 million capital deduction for intangible assets related to our new product initiatives.  Under IFRS, we record the 
unrealized losses on our preferred share portfolio through Other Comprehensive Income (“OCI”) and not through our Income Statement 
since we account for the shares as available for sale investments and do not believe that the assets are impaired.  The losses are a function 
of current market conditions, speci�cally reduced expectations for future yields on rate-reset preferred shares.  There has been no indication 
of a deterioration in the credit quality of the preferred share issuers and we do not believe there is a signi�cant risk of credit loss on our 
holdings.

E�ective January 1, 2015, Canadian Banks were required to report on OSFI’s new Leverage Ratio, which is based on Basel III guidelines.  OSFI 
has established Leverage Ratio targets on a con�dential and institution by institution basis.  Equitable Bank’s Leverage Ratio was 5.1% at 
December 31, 2016 and the Bank remains fully compliant with its regulatory requirements.  Our Leverage Ratio increased relative to the 
preceding quarter as a result of the common share issuance discussed above, but had trended down in the �rst three quarters of 2016 
due to the growth of our insured Prime Single Family assets.  In order to manage our Leverage Ratio position in 2016, we also executed 
transactions that allowed us to derecognize qualifying insured mortgages from our Balance Sheets.  We will continue to execute similar 
transactions in the future in order to maintain our Leverage Ratio at or above our ICAAP target levels.

As part of our capital management process, we stress test the mortgage portfolio on a regular basis, in order to understand the potential 
impact of extreme but plausible adverse economic scenarios.  We use the tests to analyze the impact that an increase in unemployment, 
rising interest rates, a decline in real estate prices, and other factors could have on our �nancial position.  Based on the results of the stress 
tests performed to date, we have determined that even in the most adverse scenario analyzed, the Company has su�cient capital to 
absorb the potential losses without impairing the viability of the institution and that we would remain pro�table in each year of the testing 
horizon.

Table 18: Capital measures of Equitable Bank 

($ THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PERCENTAGES)     2016 2015

Risk-weighted assets ("RWA")   $ 6,385,825  $ 5,259,384

Common Equity Tier 1 Capital: 
Common shares    199,089  145,836
Contributed surplus    6,148  6,126
Retained earnings    721,117  600,128
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income ("AOCI")(1)    (20,210)  (22,458)
Less: Regulatory adjustments to Common Equity Tier 1 Capital    (15,037)  (14,574) 

Common Equity Tier 1 Capital    891,107  715,058

Additional Tier 1 capital: 
Non-cumulative preferred shares    72,554  72,554

Tier 1 Capital    963,661  787,612

Tier 2 Capital: 
Collective allowance    31,890  31,890
Subordinated debentures    65,000  65,000

Tier 2 Capital    96,890  96,890

Total Capital   $ 1,060,551  $ 884,502

Capital Ratios: 
 CET1 Ratio    14.0%  13.6% 
 Tier 1 Capital Ratio    15.1%  15.0% 
 Total Capital Ratio    16.6%  16.8% 
 Leverage Ratio    5.1%   5.2%

(1) As prescribed by OSFI (under Basel III rules), AOCI is part of the CET1 in its entirety, however, the amount of cash �ow hedge reserves that relates to the hedging of items that are not fair 
valued are excluded.
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Table 19: Risk-weighted assets of Equitable Bank

2016
Risk Risk-weighted

($ THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PERCENTAGES)     Amounts  Weighting   Amounts

On balance sheet:             
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 691,732  14% $ 94,298
Securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements     199,401  0%  -
Investments     136,718  100%  136,718
Mortgage receivables – Core Lending: 
 Single Family Lending Services     7,903,593  31%  2,430,921
 Commercial Lending Services     2,806,749  97%  2,732,165

Mortgage receivables – Securitization Financing     7,105,351  1%  56,245
Securitization retained interests     88,782  100%  88,782
Other assets     72,578  95%  68,597
Total Equitable Bank assets subject to risk rating   $ 19,004,904   $ 5,607,726
Less: Collective allowance     (31,890)    -
Total Equitable Bank assets   $ 18,973,014   $ 5,607,726

O�-balance sheet: 
Loan commitments         271,454
Derivatives         18,783
Total credit risk        $ 5,897,963
Operational risk(1)         487,862
Total        $ 6,385,825

2015
Risk Risk-weighted

($ THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PERCENTAGES)     Amounts  Weighting   Amounts

On balance sheet: 
Cash and cash equivalents   $  531,145 20% $  105,821
Securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements     19,918  0%    -
Investments     135,024 100%    135,024
Mortgage receivables – Core Lending:
 Single Family Lending Services     6,530,174 31%    2,026,551
 Commercial Lending Services     2,225,843 97%    2,169,619
Mortgage receivables – Securitization Financing     5,961,802 1%    33,536
Securitization retained interests     60,994  100%    60,994
Other assets     74,155  70%    52,195
Total Equitable Bank assets subject to risk rating   $  15,539,055    $  4,583,740
Less: Collective allowance    (31,890)     -
Total Equitable Bank assets   $  15,507,165    $  4,583,740

O�-balance sheet: 
Loan commitments          251,055
Derivatives          10,001
Total credit risk       $  4,844,796
Operational risk(1)             414,588
Total          $  5,259,384

(1) For operational risk, Equitable Bank uses the Basic Indicator Approach − calculated as 15% of the previous three-year average of net interest income and other income, excluding gain or 
loss on investments. The risk-weighted equivalent is determined by multiplying the capital requirement for operational risk by 12.5.
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SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS

The following table summarizes the Company’s performance over the last eight quarters.  Equitable does not typically experience material 
seasonality in its earnings, but changes in mortgage prepayment income and hedging activities may cause some volatility in earnings from 
quarter to quarter.

Table 20: Summary of quarterly results

2016   2015
($ THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE, PER 

SHARE AMOUNTS AND PERCENTAGES)     Q4  Q3  Q2  Q1  Q4  Q3  Q2  Q1

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Net income   $ 41,678 $ 35,230 $ 33,410 $ 28,012 $ 31,436 $ 31,448 $ 33,520 $ 29,461
Net income available to  

common shareholders   40,488  34,039  32,219  26,821  30,245  30,257  32,330  28,270
Net interest income   77,926  70,827  67,010  63,594  63,458  61,437  60,995  56,337
Total revenues   179,939  169,432  162,861  151,691  151,495  147,625  145,595  137,279
EPS – basic(1) $ 2.58 $ 2.19 $ 2.07 $ 1.73 $ 1.95 $ 1.96 $ 2.09 $ 1.83
EPS – diluted(1) $ 2.56 $ 2.16 $ 2.05 $ 1.71 $ 1.93 $ 1.93 $ 2.06 $ 1.81
ROE   19.3%  17.2%  17.1%  14.7%  17.0%  17.5%  19.8%  17.9%
Return on average assets   0.9%  0.8%  0.8%  0.7%  0.8%  0.9%  1.0%  0.9%
NIM – TEB:  

Total Assets   1.70%  1.64%  1.61%  1.62%  1.69%  1.73%  1.79%  1.74%
Core Lending   2.64%  2.60%  2.55%  2.50%  2.64%  2.56%  2.62%  2.55%
Securitization Financing   0.24%  0.19%  0.22%  0.31%  0.22%  0.34%  0.31%  0.29%

E�ciency Ratio – TEB   33.9%  37.0%  38.2%  43.2%  35.7%  33.4%  32.8%  32.4%

MORTGAGE ORIGINATIONS  
Single Family Lending Services   930,449  1,050,366  952,937  674,417  719,361  744,416  641,095  568,278
Commercial Lending Services   377,578  367,197  323,061  201,849  259,502  235,987  199,977  207,767
Core Lending   1,308,027  1,417,563  1,275,998  876,266  978,863  980,403  841,072  776,045
Securitization Financing   871,391  739,352  745,409  693,127  759,258  790,022  555,272  468,722
Total originations   2,179,418  2,156,915  2,021,407  1,569,393  1,738,121  1,770,425  1,396,344  1,244,767

BALANCE SHEET  
Total assets   18,973,588   18,062,846   17,147,854   16,411,221   15,527,584   14,827,610   14,329,824   13,387,915
Assets Under Management  22,277,769 21,024,401 19,709,617  18,616,018  17,600,072  16,839,263  16,214,123  15,075,279
Mortgages receivable   17,783,803   17,049,744   16,244,106   15,540,241   14,700,806   13,959,432   13,216,267   12,785,852
MUM   21,004,013  19,922,211  18,723,056  17,668,821  16,706,935  15,917,079  15,059,846  14,437,643
Shareholders' equity   977,150  879,367  843,924  816,049  796,116  764,679  750,149  723,606
Liquid assets   1,280,591  1,037,259  1,033,634  939,691  895,056  849,349  1,251,692  756,017

CREDIT QUALITY
Provision for credit losses  870 1,243 105 227 1,064 930 830 814
Provision for credit losses − rate  0.02% 0.03% 0.00% 0.01% 0.03% 0.03% 0.03% 0.03%
Net impaired mortgages as a  

% of total mortgage assets 0.21% 0.19% 0.20% 0.22% 0.22% 0.21% 0.18% 0.28%
Allowance for credit losses as a  

% of total mortgage assets 0.19% 0.20% 0.20% 0.21% 0.23% 0.25% 0.26% 0.26%

(1)  Annual EPS may not equal the sum of the quarterly EPS’ as a result of rounding.
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Table 20: Summary of quarterly results (continued)

  2016   2015 
($ THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE, PER 

SHARE AMOUNTS AND PERCENTAGES)     Q4  Q3  Q2  Q1  Q4  Q3  Q2  Q1

SHARE CAPITAL
Common shares outstanding 

Weighted average basic   15,692,833   15,570,678   15,556,836   15,543,952   15,493,549   15,471,960   15,461,161   15,440,328
Weighted average diluted   15,808,124   15,722,532   15,709,456   15,674,734   15,677,954   15,661,842   15,687,647   15,660,067

Book value per common share  $ 54.96 $ 51.72 $ 49.55 $ 47.81 $ 46.57 $ 44.72 $ 43.80 $ 42.13
Common share price – close  $ 60.46 $ 58.86 $ 55.99 $ 50.76 $ 51.5 $ 56.25 $ 61.27 $ 56.51
Common share market  

capitalization  995,180 918,196  871,566  789,413  800,238  870,564  947,834  873,200
Dividends declared per:(2)

Common share  $ 0.22 $ 0.21 $ 0.21 $ 0.20 $ 0.20 $ 0.19 $ 0.19 $ 0.18
Preferred share – Series 3  $ 0.40 $ 0.40 $ 0.40 $ 0.40 $ 0.40 $ 0.40 $ 0.40 $ 0.40

EQUITABLE BANK  
CAPITAL RATIOS

Risk-weighted assets  6,385,825 5,968,000   5,664,575   5,433,025   5,259,384   5,113,009   4,983,762   4,867,218
CET1 Ratio 14.0% 13.4% 13.5% 13.5% 13.6% 13.4% 13.5% 13.2%
Tier 1 Capital Ratio 15.1% 14.6% 14.8% 14.9% 15.0% 14.8% 14.9% 14.7%
Total Capital Ratio 16.6%  16.2%  16.5%  16.7%   16.8%   17.1%   17.2%   17.0% 
Leverage Ratio  5.1%   4.9%  5.0% 5.0%  5.2%  5.2%  5.3%  5.5%

(2) Annual dividends declared per share may not equal the sum of the quarterly dividends per share as a result of rounding.

FOURTH QUARTER OVERVIEW

Equitable produced record quarterly earnings during the last three months of the year.  Income and ROE were up from the levels produced 
in recent quarters and above market expectations as asset growth drove Net Interest Income up by 23% over 2015 and 10% sequentially.  
Performance was also helped by income generated from Maple Assets and low provisions for credit losses.  During Q4 2016 expenses were 
relatively consistent with the prior quarter as the level of investment in our strategic initiatives such as EQ Bank stabilized.

During the three months ended December 31, 2016, Equitable:

• delivered record quarterly diluted EPS of $2.56, up $0.63 or 33% from Q4 of the prior year and $0.40 or 19% from Q3, 2016;

• declared common share dividends of $0.23, up 15% from Q4 2015; and

• generated an ROE of 19.3% compared to 17.2% in the preceding quarter and 17.0% in the fourth quarter of 2015.

ITEMS OF NOTE

Our Q4 2016 �nancial results were impacted by the following item:

• In Q4 we recorded $1.3 million gains on investments acquired from Maple Bank.

There were no items of note in our �nancial results for Q3 2016 or Q4 2015.
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NET INTEREST INCOME

The table below details the Company’s NII and NIM for the three months ended December 31, 2016, with comparisons to the prior quarter 
and the corresponding quarter of the prior year, by product and portfolio.

Table 21: Net interest income

Three months ended 
  Dec 31, 2016   Sep 30, 2016  Dec 31, 2015 
  Revenue/ Average   Revenue/ Average  Revenue/ Average 

($ THOUSANDS. EXCEPT PERCENTAGES)     Expense rate(1)  Expense rate(1)  Expense rate(1)

Core Lending:                        
Revenues derived from:                        
Mortgages   $  120,714 4.63%  $  114,416 4.65%  $ 101,848 4.75% 
Liquidity investments     1,611 0.84%    1,428 1.01%   1,318 0.97% 
Equity securities – TEB     2,197 7.55%    2,040 6.67%   2,285 6.92% 

    124,522 4.40%    117,884 4.48%    105,451 4.56% 
Expenses related to:                        
Deposits and bank facilities     43,195 1.98%    44,290 2.09%   40,608 2.10% 
Debentures     950 5.80%    950 5.81%   1,213 5.99% 
Securitization liabilities     6,025 1.55%    4,485 1.60%   2,796 1.66% 

    50,170 1.94%    49,725 2.06%    44,617 2.10% 
Net interest income – TEB     74,352 2.64%    68,159 2.60%    60,834 2.64% 
Taxable Equivalent Basis – adjustment     (617)    (569)   (609)   
Core Lending   $  73,735  $  67,590  $  60,225   

Securitization Financing:  
Revenues derived from:  
Mortgages   $  46,159 2.65%  $  44,776 2.61%  $  41,978 2.92% 
Liquidity investments     587 1.08%    330 1.03%    364 0.57% 

    46,746 2.61%    45,106 2.58%    42,342 2.82% 
Expenses related to:  
Securitization liabilities     37,907 2.51%    37,004 2.54%    36,183 2.74% 
Deposits and secured funding facility     4,648 1.70%    4,865 1.70%    2,926 1.73% 

    42,555 2.39%    41,869 2.40%    39,109 2.63% 
Securitization Financing   $  4,191 0.24%  $  3,237 0.19%  $  3,233 0.22% 

Total interest earning assets – TEB   $  78,543 1.70%  $  71,396 1.64%  $  64,067 1.69% 

(1) Average rates are calculated based on daily average balances outstanding during the period.

Q4 2016 v Q4 2015 

NII was up 23% due to growth in average interest earning asset balances in both our Core Lending and Securitization Financing businesses. 
Total NIM increased by 1 bp mainly due to growth in Securitization Financing NIM. 
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Table 22(a): Factors a�ecting Q4 2016 v Q4 2015 NIM

Impact (in bps) Drivers of change

Core Lending NIM:  
 Asset mix (4) • Growth in the relative level of our lower yielding liquidity investments 
Funding mix  8 • Growth of our low rate brokered HISA 

• Redemption of a higher cost deposit note
• Partly o�set by growth of our higher cost EQ Bank deposit product

Rates/spread(1) (4) • Lower spreads within both our Single Family and Commercial Lending portfolios
Change in Core Lending NIM  -

Securitization Financing NIM: 
Mortgage prepayment income  2 • Mortgage prepayment income on larger multi-unit residential mortgages is inherently volatile  

and the impact on NIM can vary quarter to quarter
Asset mix  3 • Reduction in the relative size of our lower yielding liquidity investments
Other   (3) • Low margins within our Prime Single Family business at times over the past twelve months
Change in Securitization NIM  2
Change in Total NIM(2) 1

(1) The rate e�ect is calculated after adjusting for the impact of asset and funding mix changes.
(2) Change in total NIM does not necessarily equal the sum of change in Core Lending and Securitization Financing NIMs for several reasons including asset mix shifts between the two 

mortgage portfolios.

Q4 2016 v Q3 2016

NII increased 10% sequentially due to growth in average asset balances and a 6 bp increase in NIM.  The increase in our overall NIM was 
mainly the result of higher NIMs with both portfolios. 

Table 22(b): Factors a�ecting Q4 2016 v Q3 2016 NIM

Impact (in bps) Drivers of change

Core Lending NIM: 
Mortgage prepayment income  (2) • Single Family Lending experienced lower levels of early discharges 
Asset mix  (6) • Growth in average balances of our lower yielding Single Family Lending business and liquidity investments  

outpaced the growth of our Commercial Lending portfolio
Funding mix 4 • Redemption of a higher cost deposit note

• A lower proportion of funding from our higher cost EQ Bank deposit product
Rates/spreads(1) 7 • Higher spreads  within our Single Family and Commercial Lending portfolios, partly due to recent reductions  

in our EQ Bank and brokered deposit interest rates
Other   1
Change in Core Lending NIM 4

Securitization Financing NIM: 
Mortgage prepayment income  5 • Mortgage prepayment income on larger multi-unit residential mortgages is inherently volatile  

and the impact on NIM can vary quarter to quarter
Change in Securitization NIM 5
Change in Total NIM(2) 6

(1) The rate e�ect is calculated after adjusting for the impact of asset and funding mix changes.
(2) Change in total NIM does not necessarily equal the sum of change in Core Lending and Securitization Financing NIMs for several reasons including asset mix shifts between the two 

mortgage portfolios.
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PROVISION FOR CREDIT LOSSES

Table 23: Provision for credit losses 

Three months ended
($ THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PERCENTAGES)  Dec 31, 2016 Sep 30, 2016 % Change Dec 31, 2015 % Change

Individual provision  $  870 $  1,243 (30%) $  466 87%
Collective provision    -     -  N/A    598 (100%)
Provision for credit losses  $  870 $   1,243 (30%) $   1,064 (18%)
Provision for credit losses – rate  0.02%   0.03% (0.01%)   0.03% (0.01%)
Allowance for credit losses  $  34,426 $  33,850 2% $  33,216 4%

The Company’s provision for credit losses was $0.9 million in the quarter, down $0.3 million from Q3 2016 and $0.2 million compared to the 
same period of last year. The low level of provision re�ects the health of our mortgage portfolio and low loss estimates for newly impaired 
loans.  Based on our normal extensive review of mortgage assets and credit allowances, management concluded that this level of provision 
would maintain allowances at an appropriate level and that no additions to our collective allowance were required during the quarter. 

OTHER INCOME

Table 24: Other income

  Three months ended
($ THOUSANDS)  Dec 31, 2016 Sep 30, 2016 % Change Dec 31, 2015 % Change

Fees and other income
Fees and other income $  5,279 $  3,873 36% $  3,454 53%
Income from successor issuer activities 1,529 - N/A  - N/A

Net loss on investments    (557)    (44) N/A    (13) N/A
Securitization activities:

Gains on securitization and income from retained interests 2,448    2,743 (11%)   949 158%
Fair value gains (losses) on derivative �nancial instruments  589    439 N/A    (79) N/A

Total   $  9,288 $  7,011 32% $  4,311 115%

Q4 2016 v Q4 2015

Other income increased compared with Q4 2015, mainly attributable to:

• Fees and other income due to growth in our mortgage assets and $1.3 million of gains recorded on certain investments acquired from 
Maple Bank;

• Income from successor issuer activities on our Maple assets; and

• Gains on securitization and income from retained interests due to a higher volume of derecognition activity in the current quarter. 

Q4 2016 v Q3 2016 

Other income increased sequentially primarily because of gains recorded on certain Maple assets and income from successor issuer 
activities, o�set in part by higher investment losses realized during the quarter.
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NON-INTEREST EXPENSES 

Table 25: Non-interest expenses and E�ciency Ratio

  Three months ended
($ THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PERCENTAGES AND FTE)    Dec 31, 2016 Sep 30, 2016 % Change Dec 31, 2015 % Change

Growth of our franchise:                 
Compensation and bene�ts   $  13,595 $  14,181 (4%) $  12,367 10%
Technology and system costs      4,140    3,600 15%    3,495 18%
Product costs     2,262    2,074 9%    1,700 33%
Regulatory, legal and professional fees      2,257    2,281 (1%)    1,765 28%
Marketing and corporate expenses      2,038    1,310 56%    1,759 16%
Premises      1,404    1,495 (6%)    950 48%
Non-interest expenses before strategic investments   $   25,696 $   24,941 3% $   22,036 17%
Investments in our future:                 
Compensation and bene�ts   $   1,268 $   1,393 (9%) $   906 40%
Other      2,786    2,705 3%    1,487 87%
Total investments in our future   $  4,054 $   4,098 (1%) $   2,393 69%
Total non-interest expenses   $  29,750 $  29,039 2% $  24,429 22%
E�ciency Ratio – TEB    33.9%  37.0% (3.1%)  35.7% (1.8%)
Full-time employee ("FTE") – period average     552   542 2%   484 14%

Q4 2016 v Q4 2015 

We operated more productively on both an absolute basis and relative to other �nancial institutions during the quarter.  Our E�ciency Ratio 
decreased to 33.9% from 35.7% a year ago despite growth in our expense base and investments we made in our key strategic priorities. 

The majority of the increase in our expenses was due to:

Growth of Our Franchise: $3.7 million or 69% of net increase

• Compensation and bene�ts costs were higher than in Q4 2015 largely because of growth in FTE of 15%; 

• Technology and systems costs increased as a result of investments in our core banking technology platform to support the  
growth of our business;

• Products costs were up as a result of growth in our originations and funding activities, and the outsourcing of our brokered HISA 
administration in Q4 2016; and

• Premises costs increased as a result of expanding and renovating our o�ce space.

Investments in Our Future: $1.7 million or 31% of net increase

These investments represent non-interest expenses recorded in the period in support of our most signi�cant strategic initiatives.  
They exclude the related capital investments made in the period until those amounts begin to be amortized.

• $0.7 million increase in product costs due to amortization of previously capitalized digital banking investments, mainly  
over a 10 year period;

• $0.7 million increase in technology and system costs to maintain and support our digital banking systems; and

• $0.4 million increase in compensation and bene�ts to grow our digital banking and prime lending teams.
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Q4 2016 v Q3 2016 

The majority of the increase in our expenses was driven by:

Growth of Our Franchise: $0.8 million or 100% of net increase

• Marketing and corporate expenses increased partly because we realized a $0.3 million HST recovery in Q3. The remainder of the increase 
was attributable to various business and employee development activities; and

• Technology and system costs were up because of ongoing enhancements to our core banking platform;

O�set by:

• Lower compensation and bene�ts, related to a true-up of our annual incentive and bene�ts accruals.

Investments in Our Future: remained �at quarter over quarter

• $0.4 million increase in marketing expenses for an EQ Bank brand campaign during the fourth quarter;

O�set by:

• $0.3 million decrease in technology and system costs in relation to maintaining the digital banking system.

INCOME TAXES 

Q4 2016 v Q4 2015 

The Company’s e�ective income tax rate in the quarter increased to 26.3% from 25.6% a year ago, mainly due to an increase in non-
deductible expenses and other adjustments as well as lower tax-exempt dividend income earned from our preferred securities portfolio.  

Q4 2016 v Q3 2016 

Our e�ective income tax rate increase slightly to 26.3% compared to 25.8% in the previous quarter, primarily due to an increase in non-
deductible expenses and other adjustments. 
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TOTAL MORTGAGE PRINCIPAL

The following table provides quarterly mortgage principal continuity schedules by lending business for Q4 2016 and Q4 2015:

Table 26: Mortgage principal continuity schedule

Three months ended December 31, 2016

Single Family   Total Derecognized Securitization
($ THOUSANDS,  Lending  Commercial  Total Core Securitization  Mortgage  Mortage  Financing

EXCEPT PERCENTAGES)   Service  Lending  Lending  Financing  Principal  Principal(1)  MUM (2)

Q3 2016 closing balance   $  7,540,069 $  2,657,201 $  10,197,270 $  6,763,386 $  16,960,656 $  2,961,555  $  9,724,941
Originations    930,449    377,578    1,308,027    871,391    2,179,418    -      871,391
Securitization derecognized    -     -     -     (371,142)    (371,142)    371,142     -
Net repayments    (614,812)    (207,773)    (822,585)    (246,515)    (1,069,100)    (28,516)     (275,031)
Q4 2016 closing balance   $  7,855,706 $  2,827,006 $  10,682,712 $  7,017,120 $  17,699,832 $  3,304,181  $  10,321,301

% Change from Q3 2016   4%   6%   5%   4%   4%   12%    6% 
% Change from Q4 2015     22%   27%   23%   18%   21%   59%    29% 
Net repayments percentage(3)    8.2%   7.8%   8.1%   3.6%   6.3%   1.0%    2.8% 

Three months ended December 31, 2015

Single Family   Total Derecognized Securitization
($ THOUSANDS,  Lending  Commercial  Total Core Securitization  Mortgage  Mortage  Financing

EXCEPT PERCENTAGES)   Service  Lending  Lending  Financing  Principal  Principal(1)  MUM (2)

Q3 2015 closing balance   $  6,225,409 $  2,240,474 $  8,465,883 $  5,439,543 $  13,905,426 $  2,011,653  $  7,451,196 
Originations      719,361    259,502    978,863    759,258    1,738,121    -      759,258 
Securitization derecognized      -     -     -     (78,421)    (78,421)    78,421     -
Net repayments     (495,107)    (270,510)    (765,617)    (165,062)    (930,679)    (17,586)     (182,648)
Q4 2015 closing balance   $  6,449,663 $  2,229,466 $  8,679,129 $  5,955,318 $  14,634,447 $  2,072,488  $  8,027,806 

% Change from Q3 2015     4%   (0%)   3%   9%   5%   3%    8% 
Net repayments percentage(3)    8.0%   12.1%   9.0%   3.0%   6.7%   0.9%    2.5%

(1) Derecognized Mortgage Principal represents Mortgages Under Administration that are not reported on Equitable’s consolidated balance sheets. These mortgages were securitized using 
transaction structures that transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards or control associated with the mortgages to a third party, resulting in the derecognition of the securitized 
mortgages. 

(2) Securitization Financing MUM includes Securitization Financing balance sheet assets and Derecognized Mortgage Principal.
(3) Net repayment percentage is calculated by dividing net repayments by the previous period’s closing balance.

Q4 2016 v Q4 2015 

Please refer to pages 28-29 for a discussion of our year-over-year portfolio growth.

Q4 2016 v Q3 2016 

Total mortgage balances were up 5% due to growth in both our Core Lending and Securitization Financing portfolios.

Core Lending balances continued to grow as a result of higher originations.  Securitization Financing MUM, which includes $3.3 billion of 
derecognized mortgage principal, grew by 6% as we continued to build our Prime Single Family business.



47

MORTGAGE ASSET ORIGINATIONS

Mortgage origination levels are seasonal, particularly in Single Family Lending Services, and as such, we do not focus on quarter over 
quarter comparisons.  The table below provides mortgage originations for Q4 2016 and Q4 2015.

Table 27: Mortgage originations – by lending business

  Three months ended
  Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015   Change from 2015

Mortgage   Mortgage  Mortgage 
principal % principal %  principal %

($ THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PERCENTAGES)  funded  of total  funded  of total funded Change

Core Lending:
Single Family Lending   $  930,449 43% $  719,361 41% $  211,088 29%
Commercial Lending      377,578 17%   259,502 15%   118,076 46%

    1,308,027 60%   978,863 56%   329,164 34%
Securitization Financing:

Multi-unit residential    219,653 10%   269,948 16%   (50,295) (19%)
Prime single family residential     651,738 30%   489,310 28%   162,428 33%

     871,391 40%   759,258 44%   112,133 15%
Total mortgage originations  $  2,179,418 100% $  1,738,121 100% $  441,297 25%

Within Core Lending, Single Family produced record fourth quarter originations.  This performance is re�ective of recent competitive 
dynamics and growth of the Canadian housing market.  Commercial Lending originations outperformed the levels achieved last year, driven 
by our successful rebranding strategy and consistently strong relationship with brokers and business partners.

Securitization Financing originations in the last quarter increased by 15% from 2015 levels, driven by Prime originations of $652 million.  
Multi originations were down $50 million or 19% compared to the same quarter of the prior year because renewal volumes consumed a 
greater portion of our available CMB capacity.  

SECURITIZATION

The table below provides a summary of the mortgages securitized and derecognized in the quarter, as well as the gain on sale amounts:

Table 28: Securitization and derecognition activity

  Three months ended
($ THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PERCENTAGES)   Dec 31, 2016  Sep 30, 2016 % Change  Dec 31, 2015 % Change

Securitization derecognized – non-prepayable Multis   $  172,778 $  130,656 32% $  69,264 149%
Securitization derecognized – prepayable mortgages    198,364    296,626 (33%)    9,157 2,066%
Total principal derecognized   $  371,142 $  427,282 (13%) $  78,421 373%
Gains on sale   $  2,117 $  2,505 (15%) $  755 180%
Gain on sale margin   0.57%   0.59% (0.02%)   0.96% (0.39%)

Q4 2016 v Q4 2015 

Gains on sale increased almost three fold from 2015 levels because the volume of mortgages derecognized increased and despite a lower 
gain on sale margin.  Derecognition volumes increased due to higher demand for non-prepayable Multis (which automatically qualify for 
derecognition) and also because of transactions that we executed to e�ect the derecognition of prepayable mortgages. These transactions 
resulted in the derecognition of $198 million of prepayable Multis and produced $0.4 million of gains on sale (a margin of 0.19%).

The gain on sale margin was down from 2015 largely due to a mix shift towards prepayable Multis.  Margins on these type of mortgages are 
lower because there are costs associated with executing the transactions that allow for derecognition.  In addition, the mortgages that we 
derecognized had a relatively low spread.

Q4 2016 v Q3 2016

Gains on sale were down sequentially due to reduced derecognition volumes and a slightly lower gain on sale margin. 
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Table 29: Unaudited interim consolidated statements of income

  Three months ended
($ THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)   Dec 31, 2016 Sep 30, 2016 Dec 31, 2015

Interest income: 
 Mortgages – Core Lending  $  120,714 $  114,416 $  101,848
 Mortgages – Securitization Financing   46,159   44,776   41,978
 Investments   2,431   2,142   1,894
 Other     1,347   1,087   1,464
      170,651   162,421   147,184

Interest expense:      
 Deposits   46,393   47,204   42,085
 Securitization liabilities   43,932   41,489   38,979
 Bank facilities   1,224   1,926   1,292
 Debentures   950   950   1,213
 Other    226   25   157
      92,725   91,594   83,726

Net interest income   77,926   70,827   63,458
Provision for credit losses   870   1,243   1,064
Net interest income after provision for credit losses   77,056   69,584   62,394
Other income:
 Fees and other income   6,809   3,873   3,454
 Net loss on investments   (557)   (44)   (13)
 Gains on securitization activities and income from securitization retained interests   3,036   3,182   870
      9,288   7,011   4,311

Net interest and other income   86,344   76,595   66,705
Non-interest expenses:       
 Compensation and bene�ts    14,863   15,574   13,273
 Other    14,887   13,465   11,156
      29,750   29,039   24,429

Income before income taxes    56,594   47,556   42,276
Income taxes      
 Current   13,426   8,227   7,855
 Deferred    1,490   4,099   2,985
      14,916   12,326   10,840

Net income  $  41,678 $  35,230 $  31,436

Earnings per share
 Basic  $  2.58 $ 2.19 $ 1.95
 Diluted  $  2.56 $ 2.16 $ 1.93
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Table 30: Unaudited interim consolidated statements of comprehensive income

  Three months ended
($ THOUSANDS)   Dec 31, 2016 Sep 30, 2016 Dec 31, 2015

Net income  $  41,678 $  35,230 $  31,436

Other comprehensive income – items that may be reclassi�ed subsequently to income: 
Available for sale investments:
Net unrealized gains from change in fair value   4,453   3,249   4,611
Reclassi�cation of net losses (gains) to income    888   (174)   (122)
    5,341  3,075   4,489

Income tax expense   (1,418)   (816)   (1,185)
     3,923   2,259   3,304

Cash �ow hedges:
Net unrealized gains (losses) from change in fair value   7,611   1,096   (1,909)
Reclassi�cation of net losses to income   500  703   1,060
     8,111   1,799   (849)

Income tax (expense) recovery    (2,153)   (478)   224
    5,958   1,321   (625)

Total other comprehensive income   9,881  3,580   2,679
Total comprehensive income  $  51,559 $  38,810 $  34,115
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Table 31: Unaudited interim consolidated statements of cash �ows

  Three months ended
($ THOUSANDS)  Dec 31, 2016 Sep 30, 2016 Dec 31, 2015

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income for the period  $ 41,678 $ 35,230 $ 31,436
Adjustments for non-cash items in net income:
 Financial instruments at fair value through income   3,017  (2,479)  1,561
 Amortization of premiums/discounts on investments   (156)  114  161
 Amortization of capital assets and intangible costs   2,105  1,963  1,016
 Provision for credit losses   870  1,243  1,064
 Securitization gains   (2,117)  (2,505)  (755)
 Net loss on sale or redemption of investments   557  44  13
 Stock-based compensation   261  223  226
 Income taxes    14,916  12,326  10,840

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
 Restricted cash   (8,933)  (88,254)  8,906
 Securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements   (96,640)  48,146  43,680
 Mortgages receivable, net of securitizations   (740,992)  (821,327)  (744,817)
 Other assets   7,576  (14,713)  (1,711)
 Deposits   495,126  120,927  155,974
 Securitization liabilities   503,960  450,708  624,092
 Obligations under repurchase agreements   43,198  69,290  (163,189)
 Bank facilities  (348,909)  228,909  45,779
 Other liabilities  105,024  4,198  21,617
Income taxes paid  (3,055)  (2,885)  - 
Securitization retained interests  4,949  4,339  3,063
Cash �ows from operating activities  22,435  45,497  38,956
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
 Issue of common shares, net of issuance cost   49,333  -   - 
 Proceeds from issuance of common shares   1,263  871  1,391
 Dividends paid on preferred shares    (1,190)  (1,191)  (1,190)
 Dividends paid on common shares    (3,269)  (3,270)  (2,940)
 Redemption of debentures   -  -   (20,000)

Cash �ows from (used in) �nancing activities   46,137  (3,590)  (22,739)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
 Purchase of investments  (124,607)  -   (1,767)
 Proceeds on sale or redemption of investments   118,775  8,997  1,557
 Net change in Canada Housing Trust re-investment accounts  (168)  15  48
 Purchase of capital assets and system development costs  (2,181)  (3,368)  (6,207)
Cash �ows (used in) from investing activities  (8,181)  5,644  (6,369)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  60,391  47,551  9,848
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period  383,788  336,237  413,518
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period  $ 444,179 $ 383,788 $ 423,366

Cash �ows from operating activities include:
Interest received  $ 127,351 $ 162,889 $ 147,543
Interest paid  (91,303)  (89,638)  (79,920)
Dividends received  1,733  1,604  1,728
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ACCOUNTING POLICY CHANGES 

The Company’s signi�cant accounting policies are essential to an understanding of its reported results of operations and �nancial position.  
Accounting policies applied by the Company in the 2016 annual consolidated �nancial statements are the same as those applied by the 
Company as at and for the year ended December 31, 2015. Refer to Note 3 to the audited consolidated �nancial statements for a summary 
of the Company’s signi�cant accounting policies. 

FUTURE ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” and IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” are mandatorily e�ective for annual periods beginning on 
or after January 1, 2018 and IFRS 16 “Leases” is mandatorily e�ective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. The Company 
is in process of evaluating the impact of these future accounting changes on its �nancial statements.  Please refer to Note 3 to the audited 
consolidated �nancial statements for further details.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The preparation of the consolidated �nancial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that a�ect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the consolidated �nancial statements and 
the reported amounts of revenue and expenses.  Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed by management on an ongoing basis.  
The critical estimates and judgments utilized in preparing the Company’s consolidated �nancial statements a�ect the assessment of the 
allowance for credit losses on mortgages, the impairment of other �nancial instruments, the fair values of �nancial assets and liabilities, the 
derecognition of �nancial assets transferred in securitization transactions, the e�ectiveness of �nancial hedges for accounting purposes and 
income taxes.

The critical estimates and judgments made in the preparation of the Company’s consolidated �nancial statements include probability 
of default and loss given default for mortgage receivables, discount rates utilized in the valuation of the Company’s �nancial assets 
and liabilities, the creditworthiness of the Company to its counterparties, the creditworthiness of issuers of the investments held by 
the Company, the values of comparable assets and the fair value of securities not traded in an active market.  In making estimates and 
judgments, management relies on external information and observable market conditions where possible, supplemented by internal 
analysis as required.  These estimates and judgments have been applied in a manner consistent with prior years and there are no known 
trends, commitments, events or uncertainties that we believe will materially a�ect the methodology or assumptions utilized in making 
these estimates and judgments in these consolidated �nancial statements.  Actual results could di�er from these estimates, in which 
case the impact would be recognized in the consolidated �nancial statements in future years.  For further information regarding critical 
accounting estimates, please refer to Note 2(d) to the audited consolidated �nancial statements.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

The Company hedges interest rate risks associated with insured residential mortgages and mortgage commitments intended for 
securitization, certain mortgages, securitization and deposit liabilities.  The Company also hedges the risk of changes in future cash �ows 
related to our Restricted Share Unit (“RSU”) and Deferred Share Unit (“DSU”) plans.

The Company's securitization activities are subject to interest rate risk, which represents the potential for changes in interest rates between 
the time the Company commits to funding a mortgage it intends to securitize through the issuance of a securitization liability, and the time 
the liability is actually issued. The Company enters into bond forwards to hedge this exposure, with the intent to manage the change in cash 
�ows of the future interest payments on the highly probable forecasted issuance of the securitization liability. The Company applies hedge 
accounting to these derivative �nancial instruments to minimize the volatility in income caused by changes in interest rates. 

For non-prepayable insured residential mortgages, where the transferred assets qualify for derecognition, the Company uses bond forwards 
to protect itself from �uctuations in interest rates between the time the Company commits to funding these mortgages and the time they 
are securitized.  The change in value of the commitments and the funded mortgages before securitization are substantially o�set by the 
change in value of the bond forwards and the Company does not apply hedge accounting to these derivative instruments.

The Company uses interest rate swaps to hedge our interest rate exposure on certain securitization and deposit liabilities.  The Company 
applies hedge accounting to these relationships.

The Company also hedges the risk of changes in future cash �ows related to our RSU and DSU plans by entering into total return equity 
swap contracts with third parties, the value of which is linked to the price of the Company’s common shares. Changes in the fair value of 
these derivative �nancial instruments o�set the compensation expense related to the change in share price, over the period in which the 
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swap is in e�ect. The Company applies hedge accounting to the RSU-related derivative �nancial instruments to minimize the volatility in 
income caused by changes in the Company’s share price.  Equitable does not use hedge accounting for the DSU-related swaps.

As part of its CMB activities, the Company may assume reinvestment risk between the amortizing MBS and the bullet CMB for securitized 
mortgages which are derecognized.  The Company assumes this risk by entering into total return swaps with highly rated counterparties 
and exchanging the cash �ows of the CMB for those of the MBS transferred to CHT.  

For more information on derivative �nancial instruments see Notes 3, 5, 6 and 10 to the audited consolidated �nancial statements.  

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ACTIVITIES

The Company engages in certain �nancial transactions that, for accounting purposes, are not recorded on our audited consolidated balance 
sheets.  O�-Balance sheet transactions are generally undertaken for risk, capital and funding management purposes.  These include certain 
securitization transactions, the commitments we make to fund our pipeline of mortgage originations (see Note 9 and Note 22 to the 
audited consolidated �nancial statements) and letters of credit issued in the normal course of business. 

SECURITIZATION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

Certain securitization transactions qualify for derecognition when the Company has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards or 
transferred control associated with the transferred assets.  The outstanding securitized mortgage principal that quali�ed for derecognition 
totaled $3.3 billion at December 31, 2016 (December 31, 2015 – $2.1 billion).  The securitization liabilities associated with these transferred 
assets are approximately $3.3 billion (December 31, 2015 – $2.1 billion. The securitization retained interest recorded with respect to certain 
securitization transactions was $88.8 million (December 31, 2015 – $61.7 million) and the associated servicing liability was $22.3 million at 
December 31, 2016 (December 31, 2015 – $14.6 million).

COMMITMENTS AND LETTERS OF CREDIT

The Company provides commitments to extend credit to our borrowers.  The Company had outstanding commitments to fund $1.0 billion 
of mortgages in the ordinary course of business at December 31, 2016 (December 31, 2015 – $1.0 billion). 

The Company issues letters of credit which represent assurances that the Company will make payments in the event that a borrower  
cannot meet their obligations to a third party.  Letters of credit in the amount of $5.9 million were outstanding at December 31, 2016 
(December 31, 2015 – $8.6 million), none of which have been drawn upon.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Certain of the Company’s key management personnel have invested in deposits, subordinated debentures, and/or the Series 3 preferred 
shares of the Company in the ordinary course of business, on market terms and conditions.  See Note 23 to the audited consolidated 
�nancial statements for further details.

RISK MANAGEMENT

Through our wholly owned subsidiary Equitable Bank, the Company is exposed to risks that are similar to those of other �nancial 
institutions, including the symptoms and e�ects of both domestic and global economic conditions and other factors that could adversely 
a�ect our business, �nancial condition and operating results. These factors may also in�uence an investor’s decision to buy, sell or hold 
shares in the Company.  Many of these risk factors are beyond the Company’s direct control.  The Board of Directors (the “Board”) plays an 
active role in monitoring the Company’s key risks and in determining the policies, practices, controls and other mechanisms that are best 
suited to manage these risks.  

The Company’s business activities, including our use of �nancial instruments, exposes the Company to various risks, the most signi�cant of 
which are credit risk, liquidity and funding risk, and market risk.

The Risk Management framework, Credit Risk, Liquidity and Funding Risk Management, and Market Risk Management sections below  
form an integral part of the 2016 annual consolidated �nancial statements as they present required IFRS disclosures as set out in IFRS 7 
Financial Instruments: Disclosures, which permits cross-referencing between the notes to the �nancial statements and the MD&A.  
See Note 4 of the annual consolidated �nancial statements.
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RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

The Board has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Company’s Enterprise Risk Management (“ERM”) framework 
which includes our Risk Appetite Framework (“RAF”).  The Company’s ERM framework and RAF are designed to align with our overall 
corporate strategy, �nancial and capital plans, business unit strategies and day-to-day operations, as well as our risk management policies 
and practices (i.e., risk limits, risk selection/underwriting guidelines and criteria, etc.) across the organization.  Our RAF, which identi�es pre-
de�ned risk appetite thresholds, is updated by Senior Management and approved by the Board on an annual basis, or more frequently, if 
required. 

The ERM framework covers the type and amount of risk that the Company is capable and willing to take on in support of its business 
operations and strategy. The ERM framework is designed to actively monitor all key current and emerging risks on a continuous basis, and 
to provide the Board with timely periodic updates on our risk management practices and related economic capital requirements. It also sets 
out our approach for identifying, assessing, managing and reporting on our key risks, including the establishment of roles, responsibilities, 
processes and tools to be used.  To ensure that all signi�cant and emerging risks are considered, we review our risk pro�le with respect to 
each of our core risks on a continuous basis, and report to the Board at least quarterly.  The Company’s ERM framework is also designed to 
ensure that all key risks are managed within our pre-de�ned risk appetite thresholds as outlined in our RAF, and that the potential for loss 
remains within acceptable Board-approved limits. 

Equitable Bank’s Enterprise Risk Management Framework

The Risk and Capital Committee (“RCC”) of the Board assists the Board in ful�lling its oversight and governance responsibilities for the 
management of the Company’s core and emerging risks and the adequacy of our Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (“ICAAP”), 
as well as our strategic and capital plans. It also reviews the Company’s actual risk pro�le against the approved RAF and assesses the 
Company’s policies, programs, procedures and controls in place to manage both core and emerging risks. The RCC has primary oversight 
responsibility for operational risk, business and strategic risk and reputational risk. At present, the RCC is comprised of �ve independent 
directors, including the Chairs of the Investment Committee, Audit Committee, Human Resources and Compensation Committee, and 
Corporate Governance Committee. It meets quarterly with the Chief Executive O�cer (“CEO”), Chief Financial O�cer (“CFO”), and the Chief 
Risk O�cer (“CRO”).  

Board

Risk & Capital
Committee

Investment Committee &
Other Board Committees

Enterprise Risk Managment
(”ERM”) Committee

Risk Appetite Framework  (”RAF”)
ICAAP and Capital Management

Determination of Risk Appetite and
Threshold for Losses (Stress Testing)

Risk Aggregation and Consolidation
Summarized in Risk Dashboards

Credit Risk
Liquidity and Funding Risk
Operational Risk
Reputational Risk

Market Risk
Business and Strategic Risk

Legal and Regulatory Risk
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The Company’s ERM Committee, which is chaired by the CRO and consists of members of senior management, reports to the RCC and 
assists the Board in ful�lling its oversight and governance responsibilities vis-à-vis the Company’s risk management practices and ICAAP.  To 
ensure that all signi�cant risks that the Company faces are actively managed and monitored, the ERM Committee reviews and monitors the 
Company’s key and emerging risks, risk trends, the results of our enterprise-wide stress and scenario tests, relevant policies and related risk 
management considerations/actions to be taken. It reports to the Board at least quarterly.  

The Investment Committee of the Board assists the Board in ful�lling its oversight role for credit, liquidity and funding, and market risks. 
With respect to credit risk, the Investment Committee reviews the amount, nature, characteristics, concentration and quality of the Bank’s 
asset portfolios, as well as all signi�cant credit exposures and trends in portfolio quality. The Investment Committee oversees the Asset and 
Liability Committee (“ALCO”), which identi�es the liquidity/funding and market risks faced by the Company, sets appropriate risk limits and 
controls, and monitors those risks and adherence to Board approved limits. The ALCO is chaired by the CEO and is comprised of members of 
senior management.

The Audit Committee of the Board assists the Board in ful�lling its oversight responsibilities with respect to the quality and integrity of the 
Company’s �nancial reporting processes and the performance of the internal audit function. The Audit Committee is assisted in ful�lling 
its mandate by the Company’s Finance and Internal Audit departments. Internal Audit undertakes regular and independent reviews of the 
Company’s risk management controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to the Audit and other applicable Board Committees.  

The Corporate Governance Committee of the Board maintains primary oversight over the Company’s Regulatory Compliance Management 
Program and ensures the Company’s compliance with all legal and regulatory requirements. 

The Human Resources and Compensation Committee of the Board assists the Board in ensuring that the Company’s compensation policies 
and practices are aligned with our risk appetite and risk management frameworks.  This ensures that the incentive for management to 
assume risks in the pursuit of business objectives is aligned with our Board-approved risk appetite.

Under the Company’s risk management framework, senior management reports on risk issues to the �ve aforementioned committees of 
the Board on a quarterly basis.

The Bank follows the ‘three lines of defense’ model to managing risk. Business Unit Leaders are the ‘�rst line’, and are primarily accountable 
for identifying, assessing, managing and reporting risk within their functional areas of responsibility. The Risk Oversight functions, which 
include the Finance, Risk Policy and Compliance departments, are accountable for independent oversight of the Business Unit operations 
from a ‘second line’ perspective. Given the size and relatively low complexity of the Bank’s operations and risk pro�le, business line 
management leverages the skills of the ‘second line’ as subject matter experts to assist in the design of our risk monitoring practices.  Due to 
the inherent expertise embedded in our ‘second line’, the performance of some traditional ‘�rst line’ oversight functions may be undertaken 
by the ‘second line’.  Internal Audit is accountable for independent assurance as the ‘third line of defense’. 

To ensure capital allocation and risk management are aligned, the Company’s ICAAP, which is updated regularly, determines the ongoing 
capital needs of the business and reviews those needs in the context of our operating environment and strategic plans. Material risks are 
regularly stress tested to determine their impact on capital and to establish our internal capital adequacy targets on a go-forward basis.

CREDIT RISK

Credit risk is de�ned as the possibility that the Company will not receive the full value of amounts and recovery costs owed to it if 
counterparties fail to honour their obligations to the Company.  Credit risk arises principally from the Company’s lending activities, and 
our investment in debt and equity securities.  The Company’s exposure to credit risk is monitored by senior management and the ERM 
Committee, as well as the Investment Committee of the Board, which also undertakes the approval and monitoring of the Company’s 
investment and lending policies.

The Company’s primary lending business is providing �rst mortgages on real estate located across Canada.  All mortgages are individually 
evaluated by the Company’s or our agent’s underwriters using internal and external credit risk assessment tools, and are assigned risk 
ratings in accordance with the level of credit risk attributed to each loan. Each transaction is approved independently in accordance with 
the authorization structure set out in the Company’s policies. Our underwriting approach, particularly in our Core Lending business, places 
a strong emphasis on security evaluation and judgmental analysis of the risks in the transaction. As a result, for borrowers who have good 
equity and debt service ratios, we can underwrite mortgages on terms favourable to the Company in situations where other lenders may 
not be able to reach a satisfactory business transaction. Since 2014, the Company has been originating Single Family prime mortgages 
through third party agents, in addition to originating them internally. As part of our risk management practices, we ensure that these third 
party sourced prime mortgages are underwritten to the high standards required of both Company-originated mortgages, as well as those 
required by our mortgage insurers.
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We have clearly de�ned underwriting policies and procedures that we adhere to in our mortgage underwriting process – these include a 
maximum Loan-to-Value (“LTV”) on all uninsured commercial and residential mortgage loans; certain standards with regard to the asset 
quality and debt service coverage of commercial properties; standards for the marketability of the properties taken as security, including 
geographic market restrictions; and requirements surrounding the overall credit quality and integrity of all borrowers. We also actively 
analyze the pro�le of our lending businesses and new mortgage originations in tandem with external market conditions, including market 
values and employment conditions that prevail in those markets where we lend. When we judge that the risk associated with a particular 
region or product is increasing, we adjust our underwriting criteria to ensure that our underwriting policies continue to be prudent and 
re�ective of current and expected economic conditions, and thereby safeguard the future health of our portfolio. When appropriate, we 
also respond to the changing marketplace with initiatives designed to increase or decrease our mortgage originations, as required, while 
continuing to ensure a prudent credit risk pro�le across our entire portfolio.

The Company categorizes individual credit exposures in our mortgage portfolio using an internal risk rating system that rates each 
mortgage in the portfolio on the basis of perceived risk, or probability of, a potential �nancial loss – in order to focus management on 
monitoring higher risk mortgages.  Each mortgage’s risk rating is initially determined during the underwriting process and subsequently 
either con�rmed or revised thereafter, as a result of certain trigger events, using customized risk grids applicable to the property type 
supporting the loan. In the case of mortgage impairment, probable recovery is determined using a combination of updated property-
speci�c information, historical loss experience and management judgment to determine the impairment provision that may be required.

The Company also invests in equity securities (i.e., preferred shares) to generate returns that meet certain internally acceptable ROE 
thresholds.  These securities also represent a potential source of liquidity for the Company.  However, such investments expose the Company 
to credit risk – should the issuer of the preferred shares be unable to make dividend payments or, under a worst case scenario, if the issuer 
becomes insolvent. To limit its exposure to credit risk, the Company establishes policies with exposure limits based on credit rating and 
investment type.  Securities rated P-2 and higher comprised 44.2% of the Company’s preferred share equity securities portfolio at December 
31, 2016, compared to 48.7% a year earlier. Securities rated P-3 (mid) or higher represent 99% of the portfolio at the end of December 2016.

The Company’s rating scale for the credit quality of our counterparties is based on both internal and external credit grading systems.  Table 
32 below maps those grading systems against the categories on the Company’s credit risk exposure ratings scale.  It presents the long-term 
Standard & Poor’s equivalent grades for the Company’s cash and cash equivalents, debt and equity securities, and derivative counterparties. 
Low risk denotes that there is a very low risk of either default or loss, standard risk that there is a low risk of default or loss, and high risk that 
there is some concern that default or loss could occur.

Cash and cash equivalents and derivatives ratings are based on the issuer grade of the respective �nancial institution, their subsidiaries or 
other �nancial intermediaries. Debt securities are categorized based on short-term or long-term issue grades, depending on the maturity 
dates of the securities.  Preferred share securities are categorized based on the DBRS preferred share rating scale used in the Canadian 
securities market.  Mortgages are categorized according to the Company’s internal risk rating framework, which is based on the expected 
degree of �nancial loss caused by default. 

Equitable assigns economic and regulatory capital for our counterparty credit exposures in accordance with OSFI’s Capital Adequacy 
Requirements (“CAR”) Guideline, which is based on standards issued by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (“BCBS”).  All deemed 
credit exposures, such as counterparty credit risk that may arise through deposits placed with banks, derivatives contracts and other 
activities, are regularly assessed to ensure that such activities are consistent with the Bank’s Board-approved RAF and do not expose the 
Bank to undue risk of loss. All related counterparty credit limits are approved by Senior Management and monitored on an ongoing basis to 
ensure that all such exposures are maintained within approved limits.

Table 32: Credit risk exposure ratings scale

Low risk Standard risk High risk

Cash and cash equivalents, investments, and derivatives: 
 S&P equivalent grade AAA – BBB-  BB+ – B  B- – CC

Mortgages receivable:
 Mortgage risk rating 0 – 3  4 – 5 6 – 8

Management has assessed the credit quality of the Company’s assets as at December 31, 2016 and 2015, on the basis of the above mapping 
of internal and external risk ratings to the credit risk exposure categories. The table below shows the credit quality by class for all �nancial 
assets exposed to credit risk, based on the Company’s credit risk exposure rating scale.
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Table 33: Asset credit quality

   Neither past due nor impaired      2016
         Past due but Individually

($ THOUSAND)  Low risk Standard risk High risk not impaired  Impaired  Allowances  Total

Cash and cash equivalents   $  444,179 $  -  $  -  $  -  $  -  $  -  $  444,179
Restricted cash      247,878    -     -     -     -     -     247,878
Securities purchased under reverse 
 repurchase agreements      199,401    -     -     -     -     -     199,401
Investments: 

Debt securities(1)     -     -     23,042    -     -     -     23,042
Equity securities – preferred shares      48,994    61,702    -     -     -     -     110,696
Canada Housing Trust re-investment accounts      2,499    -     -     -     -     -     2,499

Mortgage receivable – Core Lending      1,849,604    8,534,883    250,368    38,658    39,365    34,426    10,678,452
Mortgage receivable – Securitization Financing      7,093,301    5,795    427    5,828   -      -     7,105,351
Securitization retained interests      88,782    -     -     -     -     -     88,782
Other assets:  
 Receivables related to securitization activities      5,193    -     -     -     -     -     5,193
 Accrued interest and dividends on
  non-mortgage assets      1,441    -     -     -     -     -     1,441
 Other     247    -     -     -     -     -     247
    $  9,981,519 $  8,602,380 $  273,837 $  44,486 $  39,365 $  34,426 $  18,907,161

(1) Includes debt securities guaranteed by Government of Canada, corporate debt and successor issuer rights.

   Neither past due nor impaired      2015
         Past due but Individually

($ THOUSAND)   Low risk  Standard risk  High risk not impaired  Impaired   Allowances  Total

Cash and cash equivalents   $  423,366 $  -  $  -  $  -  $  -  $  -  $  423,366
Restricted cash      107,988    -    -    -    -    -    107,988
Securities purchased under reverse 
 repurchase agreements      19,918    -    -    -    -    -    19,918
Investments: 

Debt securities(1)     16,295    -     1,000    -     -     -     17,295
 Equity securities – preferred shares      64,735    68,318   -    -    -    -    133,053
 Canada Housing Trust re-investment accounts      2,395    -    -    -    -    -    2,395

Mortgage receivable – Core Lending      1,409,706    6,974,360   247,335   42,231   34,183   33,216   8,674,599
Mortgage receivable – Securitization Financing      5,975,624    45,814   297   4,472   -    -    6,026,207 
Securitization retained interests      61,650    -    -    -    -    -    61,650
Other assets: 
 Receivables related to securitization activities      5,524    -    -    -    -    -    5,524
 Accrued interest and dividends on 
  non-mortgage assets     148    272   -    -    -    -    420
 Other         1,090    -    -    -    -    -    1,090
    $  8,088,439 $  7,088,764 $  248,632 $  46,703 $  34,183 $  33,216 $  15,473,505

(1) Includes debt securities guaranteed by Government of Canada, corporate debt and successor issuer rights.
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Collateral held as security

All mortgages are secured by real estate property located in Canada.  Appraised values for collateral held against mortgages are obtained 
at the time of origination and are generally not updated, except when a mortgage is individually assessed as impaired.  For impaired 
mortgages, the most recent appraised value of collateral at December 31, 2016 was $ 50.3 million (December 31, 2015 – $42.5 million).  
At December 31, 2016, the appraised values of collateral held for mortgages considered past due but not impaired, as determined when 
the mortgages were originated, was $61.3 million (December 31, 2015 – $63.0 million).  It is the Company’s policy to pursue the timely 
realization of collateral in an orderly manner. 

Real estate from foreclosures that were owned and held for sale at December 31, 2016 amounted to $7.6 million (December 31, 2015 –  
$8.2 million) and are included in Other assets (Note 12) in the consolidated balance sheets.  The Company does not use the real estate 
obtained through foreclosure for its own operations.

The Company does not hold collateral against investments in debt and equity securities; however, securities received under reverse 
repurchase agreements are allowed to be sold or re-pledged in the absence of default by the owner. The Company has a commitment to 
return collateral to the counterparty in accordance with the terms and conditions stipulated by the master repurchase agreement. Equitable 
has no contractual agreement with any counterparty that require it to post increased collateral in the event of a credit rating downgrade of 
Equitable Bank.

Credit Concentration Risk

A key component of credit risk that is closely monitored and measured within the unsecuritized mortgage portfolio is credit concentration 
risk. By way of de�nition, credit concentration risk results if an unduly large proportion of the Company’s lending business involves a 
single person, organization or group of related persons or organizations, a single geographic area, a single industry or a single category of 
investment.  The ability of these counterparties to meet contractual obligations may be similarly a�ected by changing economic or other 
conditions.  On a regular basis, with the approval of the Investment Committee of the Board and the full Board, management establishes 
credit limits for exposure to certain counterparties, industries or market segments, monitors these credit exposures, and prepares detailed 
analyses and reports assessing overall credit risk within the Company’s mortgage and investment portfolios.  

Management believes that it is adequately diversi�ed by borrower, property type and geography. At December 31, 2016, no individual 
borrower represented more than $60.1 million (December 31, 2015 – $56.4 million) or 0.62% (December 31, 2015 – 0.71%) of uninsured 
mortgage principal outstanding. See Table 13 and 15 of our Q4 2016 Supplemental Information and Regulatory Disclosures Report for a 
breakdown of mortgage principal outstanding by property type and geography, respectively.

LIQUIDITY AND FUNDING RISK

We de�ne Liquidity and Funding risk as the possibility that the Company will be unable to generate su�cient funds in a timely manner 
and at a reasonable price to meet our �nancial obligations as they come due.  These �nancial obligations mainly arise from the maturity 
of deposits, maturity of mortgage backed securities and commitments to extend credit. Funding and Liquidity Risk may also be a�ected if 
an unduly large proportion of the Company’s deposit-taking business involves a single person, organization or group of related persons/
organizations or a single geographic area.

In accordance with our RAF, the Board de�nes the Company's liquidity and funding risk tolerance as ‘low’, and also reviews and approves the 
limits to measure and control this risk. These are articulated via our Board-approved Liquidity and Funding Risk Management Policy – which 
is updated annually, at a minimum. This Policy requires us to maintain a pool of high quality liquid assets and stipulates various liquidity 
ratios and limits, concentration limits and, among other considerations, ongoing periodic liquidity stress testing requirements. Our liquidity 
position and adherence to the requirements of this Policy are monitored on a daily basis by Senior Management. These metrics are also 
reported monthly to the Asset Liability Management Committee (“ALCO”) and, quarterly, both to the ERM Committee and the Investment 
Committee of the Board. Any exceptions to established Policy limits are reported immediately to the ALCO or to the Board, as applicable. 
Both as at December 31, 2016 and the date of this MD&A, we were in full compliance with the Liquidity and Funding Risk Management 
Policy, as well as all related regulatory requirements.

We also adhere to the O�ce of the Superintendent of Financial Institution’s (“OSFI”) Liquidity Adequacy Requirement (“LAR”) Guideline, with 
both the Liquidity Coverage Ratio (“LCR”) and the Net Cumulative Cash Flow (“NCCF”) reported to OSFI on a monthly basis. 

Our practice is to hold a su�cient amount of liquidity on our balance sheet to ensure that we remain well positioned to manage 
unexpected events that may reduce/limit our access to funding. We closely monitor our liquidity position on a daily basis and ensure that 
the level of liquid resources held, together with our ability to raise new deposits, is su�cient to meet our funding commitments, deposit 
maturity obligations, and properly discharge our other �nancial obligations. Actual liquidity may vary from period-to-period, mainly due to 
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the timing of anticipated cash �ows and funding seasonality.  In addition to our funding and liquidity management policies and procedures, 
we have also developed a Liquidity and Funding Risk Contingency Plan, which outlines actions to be undertaken to address the out�ow of 
funds in the event of a funding or liquidity crisis.

Table 34: Assets held for liquidity protection 

($THOUSANDS)   Policy minimum 2016  2015

Liquidity assets held for regulatory purposes    $  1,169,091 $  760,823
Liquidity assets as a % of minimum required policy liquidity(1)   100%   165%  136%

(1) For purposes of this calculation, Equitable’s Liquidity and Funding Risk Management Policy requires the value of assets held for liquidity protection to be reduced to re�ect their estimated 
liquidity value.

Stress and scenario testing is an integral part of Equitable’s Liquidity and Funding Risk Management framework and supports the 
development of action plans to address  funding needs in stressed environments. We manage our funding needs to ensure that we can 
meet our �nancial commitments in a timely manner and at reasonable prices, even in times of stress. The Company’s stress testing models 
consider scenarios that incorporate institution-speci�c, market-speci�c and combination events. These scenarios model cash �ows over a 
one-year period incorporating such factors as a decline in capacity to raise new deposits, lower liquidity values for market investments and 
an accelerated redemption of notice deposits. In each scenario, the Company targets to hold su�cient liquid assets and have fundraising 
capacity su�cient to meet all obligations for at least a three month forecast period while maintaining normal business activities. In order to 
establish these scenarios, we assess our fund raising capacity and establish assumptions related to the cash �ow behavior of each type of 
asset and liability. As at December 31, 2016, we held su�cient liquid assets and maintained su�cient funding capacity to meet all funding 
obligations over the one-year forecasting period under all considered scenarios.

Since 2013, we have actively diversi�ed our funding sources in order to proactively manage our funding risk pro�le.  This diversi�cation has 
been accomplished through the addition of our brokered HISA o�ering, large bank sponsored funding facilities, a deposit note program, 
new securitization vehicles, and most recently, the launch of our digital banking platform, EQ Bank.

The following table summarizes contractual maturities of the Company’s �nancial liabilities.

Table 35: Contractual obligations

   Payments due by period
($ THOUSANDS)     Total   Less than 1 year 1 − 3 years 4 − 5 years  After 5 years

Deposits principal and interest(1)  $  7,714,061  $  4,303,115 $  2,934,589 $  476,357 $  -
Securitization liabilities principal and interest(1)   8,871,567   1,336,274   1,908,583   4,373,019   1,253,691
Debentures principal and interest(1)     68,509     68,509    -     -     -
Bank facilities principal and interest(1)   50,000   50,000   -    -    -
Other liabilities(1)   111,726   88,999   7,447   5,205   10,075
Total 2016 contractual obligations    $  16,815,863  $  5,846,897 $  4,850,619 $  4,854,581 $  1,263,766
Total 2015 contractual obligations    $  13,993,604  $  5,765,420 $  4,171,320 $  2,643,588 $  1,413,276

(1) The balance for �nancial liabilities will not agree with those in our consolidated balance sheet as this table incorporates all cash �ows, on an undiscounted basis, including both principal 
and interest.

See Note 22 to the consolidated �nancial statements for credit commitments and contingencies as at December 31, 2016 and 2015.

MARKET RISK 

Market Risk consists of Interest Rate risk and Equity Price risk, and is broadly de�ned as the possibility that changes in either market interest 
rates or equity prices may have an adverse e�ect on our pro�tability or �nancial condition. Interest rate risk may be a�ected if an unduly 
large proportion of our assets or liabilities have unmatched terms, interest rates or other attributes, such as optionality features embedded 
in our cashable deposits or mortgage commitments.  For the interest sensitivity position of the Company as at December 31, 2016, see 
Note 24 to the consolidated �nancial statements.   With respect to Equity Price risk, the value of our securities portfolio may be impacted by 
market determined variables which are beyond our control, such as benchmark yields, credit and/or market spreads, implied volatilities, the 
possibility of credit migration and default, among others.  Overall, we have a ‘low’ tolerance for Market risk.

With respect to structural Interest Rate risk, our objective is to manage and control the Company’s interest rate risk exposures within 
acceptable parameters and our primary method of mitigating this risk involves funding our assets with liabilities of a similar duration. 
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The responsibility for managing the Company’s Interest Rate risk resides with the ALCO, which meets monthly to review and approve all 
Treasury-related policies, to review key Interest Rate Risk metrics, and to provide direction on our operating and funding strategy. Also, 
Senior Management continuously reviews our interest rate risk pro�le and monitors the Company’s ongoing funding strategy through the 
daily interest rate-setting process.

We monitor Interest Rate Risk by utilizing simulated interest rate change sensitivity models to estimate the e�ects of various interest rate 
change scenarios on net interest income and on the economic value of shareholders’ equity (“EVE”).  EVE is a calculation of the present value 
of the Company’s asset cash �ows less the present value of liability cash �ows on an after-tax basis.  Management considers this measure to 
be more comprehensive than measuring changes in net interest income, as it captures all interest rate mismatches across all terms. Certain 
assumptions that are based on actual experience are also built into the simulations, including assumptions related to the pre-maturity 
redemption of deposits and early payouts of mortgages. 

The table below illustrates the results of management’s sensitivity modeling to immediate and sustained interest rate increase and decrease 
scenarios.  The models measure the impact of interest rate changes on EVE and NII during the 12-month period following December 31, 
2016.  The estimate of sensitivity to interest rate changes is dependent on a number of assumptions that could result in a di�erent outcome 
in the event of an actual interest rate change.

Table 36: Net interest income shock

Increase in  Decrease in  
($ THOUSANDS)    interest rates interest rates(1)

100 basis point shift
Impact on net interest income  $ 14,658 $ (3,549)
Impact on EVE   (3,771)  11,351
EVE impact as a % of common shareholders' equity   (0.4%)   1.3%

200 basis point shift 
Impact on net interest income  $ 26,934 $ (3,549)
Impact on EVE   (6,628)   19,638
EVE impact as a % of common shareholders' equity   (0.7%)   2.2%

(1)  Interest rate is not allowed to decrease beyond a �oor of 0% and is therefore not allowed to be negative.

The management of Equity Price risk is also assigned to the ALCO by the Investment Committee of the Board. The ALCO manages the 
Company’s securities portfolio in accordance with its ‘Securities Portfolio Management Policy’ and takes into consideration the following 
factors:

• General economic conditions and the possible e�ect of in�ation or de�ation;

• The expected tax consequences of investment decisions or business strategies;

• The credit quality of each investment and its role within the overall portfolio;

• The expected total return from income and the appreciation of capital;

• The Bank’s need for liquidity, available capacity, and regularity/stability of earnings; and

• Each investment’s special relationship or special value, if any, to the overall objectives of the portfolio.

On a monthly basis, the ALCO reviews the investment performance, composition, quality and other pertinent characteristics of the 
securities portfolio. This information is also presented to and reviewed by the Investment Committee of the Board at least quarterly, or more 
frequently, if required.

OPERATIONAL RISK

We de�ne Operational risk as the possibility that a loss could result from people, inadequate or failed internal processes or systems, or from 
external events. Our de�nition speci�cally excludes legal risk – which we include under the ‘Legal and Regulatory Risk’ category below. 

Operational risk is present in virtually all business activities of the Company and includes such considerations as fraud, damage to 
equipment, system failures, data entry errors, cyber security and business continuity.  To the extent that they may impact collateral values or 
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other pertinent loan loss drivers, we also consider natural disasters in our assessment of operational risk.  As outlined in the Company’s RAF, 
Equitable has a ‘low-to-medium’ tolerance for Operational Risk. We recognize that while the nature of operational risk is such that there is 
little or no expected reward in taking on this risk, the costs to attempt to eliminate operational risk may be excessive.

The Company’s Operational Risk Management program includes the following key components:

• Governance: While Operational risk may not be completely eliminated, proactive management of this risk is very important in order to 
mitigate exposure to �nancial losses, reputational damage and/or regulatory �nes.  We have implemented a Board-approved Operational 
Risk Management Policy and an Operational Risk Management Framework, which are jointly designed to monitor, review and report on 
operational risk management across the Company.  Both the Policy and the related Framework articulate our governance practices for 
the proper management of Operational risk and include clear accountabilities for the three-lines-of-defense (i.e., Business Units, Risk 
Management and related oversight functions such as Compliance and Finance, and Internal Audit) – in alignment with both the BCBS’s 
‘Principles for the Sound Management of Operational Risk’, and with OSFI’s related ‘Operational Risk Management Guideline’.  Given the size 
of the Company, the relatively low complexity of our business operations and our operational risk pro�le, business line management 
leverages the skills of the second line as subject matter experts to assist in the development of our operational risk monitoring 
practices.  Additionally, given the expertise embedded in our second line of defense, the performance of some �rst line operational risk 
management activities are undertaken by the second line.

• Training: Ultimately, every employee within our organization is required to play a key role in managing Operational risk.  In this regard, 
we have, since 2014, rolled out operational risk management training and testing for all employees across the Company – to provide 
them with an overview of the various types of operational risks, and their respective roles and responsibilities in helping to protect the 
interests and assets of the Company.

• Risk and Control Self-Assessments (“RCSA’s”): We use these tools on an annual basis to help us identify and evaluate operational 
risk factors within our individual business and functional units, as well as on Company-wide basis.  They assist us in the proactive 
identi�cation and assessment of key operational risks inherent in our material activities and systems, and in evaluating the e�ectiveness 
of controls that are in place to manage these risks.

• Key Risk Indicators (“KRI’s”): As part of our RCSA monitoring exercise, we utilize KRI’s to measure, monitor and report on the level of 
operational risk on a business/functional unit basis, as well as across the organization.  These KRI’s also serve as early warning triggers to 
highlight potential issues before the Company experiences an incident or loss event.

• Risk Measurement and Reporting: On a regular monthly basis, our centralized Operational Risk Management Team consolidates key 
operational risk management trends, signi�cant events, if any, and KRI’s across the Company; these are reported to the ERM committee 
and to the RCC of the Board on a quarterly basis, at a minimum.

• Business Continuity Management: The Company maintains a robust Business Continuity Management program, which includes a ‘Crisis 
Management Plan’ – to ensure that we have the capability to sustain, manage and recover critical operations and processes in the event 
of a business disruption, thereby minimizing any adverse e�ects on our customers, partners and other stakeholders.  All key business 
units within the organization are required to maintain, and regularly test and review, their business continuity plans.

• Technology and Cyber Security: To manage these risks, our defense systems are designed as an integral part of both our existing EQB 
infrastructure, and our new architecture and development for our Digital Banking platform.  With our enhanced use of the internet 
and mobile technologies, we maintain an increased focus on the con�dentiality, integrity and availability of our information and cyber 
security controls that protect our network, data and infrastructure.

The cyber security risk landscape includes numerous cyber threats such as hacking threats, identity theft, denial of service, and advanced 
persistent threats.  These and other cyber threats continue to become more sophisticated and complex and potentially damaging.  EQB 
proactively maintains a “defense in depth” strategy with developed standards and procedures to prevent, detect, respond, manage and 
address cyber security threats from all types of malicious attackers that attempt to steal sensitive information, cause a system failure or 
denial of service on websites or other types of service disruption.

We work closely with our critical cyber security and software suppliers to ensure that our technology capabilities remain cyber resilient and 
e�ective in the event of any unforeseen cyber-attack. Our internal teams receive daily cyber security updates, rehearse incident table top 
exercises, and take specialized training in an e�ort to thwart current and evolving cyber threats. 

Risks are actively managed through information security management programs which include regular vulnerability assessments, 
completion of the OSFI Cyber Security Self-Assessment and continuous improvements to the Bank’s security and change management 
practices based on best practices from recognized industry associations.
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EQB has not experienced any material cyber security breaches and has not incurred any material expenses with respect to the remediation 
of such cyber events.

Security risks continue to be actively monitored and reviewed, leveraging the expertise of the Bank’s service providers and vendors, 
reviewing industry best practices and regularly re-assessing controls in place to mitigate the risks identi�ed.  

LEGAL AND REGULATORY RISK

Legal and Regulatory Risk is de�ned as the possibility that a loss could result from exposure to �nes, penalties, or punitive damages from 
civil litigations, contractual obligations, criminal or supervisory actions, as well as private settlements; and from not complying with 
regulatory requirements, regulatory changes or regulators' expectations.

In accordance with our Board-approved RAF, we have a ‘very low’ tolerance for Legal and Regulatory risk.  We undertake reasonable and 
prudent measures designed to achieve compliance with governing laws and regulations; this includes Equitable’s Regulatory Compliance 
Management (“RCM”) Program – which is designed to identify and manage our continuously evolving legal and regulatory requirements. 
We also undertake reasonable and prudent measures designed to achieve compliance with governing laws and regulations, and promote a 
strong culture of risk and compliance management across the organization.  The Company’s business units are engaged in the identi�cation 
and proactive management of our legal and regulatory risks, while the Compliance, Legal, Anti-Money Laundering and Risk Management 
teams assist them by providing ongoing guidance and oversight.  Management of these risks also includes the timely escalation of issues to 
Senior Management and to the Board.

The Company’s RCM Program provides us with a control framework to manage and mitigate our exposure to regulatory risk – consistent 
with all applicable Canadian regulatory expectations, such as those mandated by OSFI, the CDIC, FINTRAC, Financial Consumer Agency of 
Canada (“FCAC”), etc. 

BUSINESS AND STRATEGIC RISK

Business and Strategic risk is de�ned as the possibility that we could experience material losses or reputational damage as a result of our 
business plans and/or strategies, the implementation of those strategies, or the failure to properly respond to changes in the external 
business environment.  

The banking business is highly competitive and Equitable Bank’s products compete with those o�ered by other banks, trust companies, 
insurance companies, and other �nancial services companies in the jurisdictions in which it operates. Many of these companies are strongly 
capitalized and hold a larger share of the Canadian banking market. There is always a risk that there will be new entrants in the market with 
more e�cient systems and operations that could impact our mortgage lending or deposit-taking market share.

We do not use proprietary retail branches to originate deposits or mortgages. We rely primarily on business conducted on behalf of 
investing clients by members of the Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada (“IIROC”), the Registered Deposit Brokers 
Association (“RDBA”) and the Mutual Fund Dealer Association (“MFDA”) to distribute our deposit products.  Mortgage originations depend 
on a network of independent mortgage brokers, mortgage brokerage �rms and other mortgage banking organizations. Under adverse 
circumstances, it may be di�cult to attract enough new deposits from agents or mortgage business from brokers to meet our current 
operating requirements. In order to manage the risk of not being able to attract enough deposits, we maintain access to a diversity  
of funding sources and have recently launched our direct-to-consumer EQ Bank platform. The potential failure to sustain or increase  
current levels of deposits or mortgage originations from these sources could negatively a�ect the �nancial condition and operating  
results of the Company. 

The Company’s Board has approved a ‘low-to-medium’ tolerance for Business and Strategic risk. We believe that this risk is best managed 
via a robust and dynamic annual strategic planning process that includes establishing Board-approved business growth strategies and 
quanti�able performance targets for each business segment over the forthcoming three-to-�ve year period. Management of this risk also 
includes regular monitoring of actual versus forecasted performance and an e�ective internal monitoring and reporting process – to the 
ERM Committee and the Board.

REPUTATIONAL RISK

Reputational risk is the possibility that current and potential customers, counterparties, analysts, shareholders, investors, regulators 
or others will have an adverse opinion of the Company – irrespective of whether these opinions are based on facts or merely public 
perception.  Such an event could result in potential losses to the Company arising from a decline in business volumes, challenges accessing 
funding markets, or increased funding costs. 
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In accordance with our Board-approved RAF, our tolerance for Reputational risk remains ‘low’ and the Company believes that the pursuit 
of our long-term goals requires the proper conduct of our business activities in accordance with our established Code of Conduct and 
business principles, as well as with all applicable laws and regulations.  Equitable also maintains a Board-approved Reputational Risk 
Management Policy which, along with related compliance policies and procedures and our ERM practices, is su�ciently designed to identify, 
assess and manage the reputational and other non-�nancial considerations present within the Company’s business.

UPDATED SHARE INFORMATION 

At February 16, 2017, the Company had 16,460,688 common shares and 3,000,000 non-cumulative 5-year rate reset preferred shares issued 
and outstanding.  In addition, there were 556,921 unexercised stock options, which are, or will be, exercisable to purchase common shares 
for maximum proceeds of $25.6 million. 

DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that all relevant information is accumulated and 
communicated to senior management, including the President and Chief Executive O�cer and the Chief Financial O�cer, on a timely basis 
to enable appropriate decisions to be made regarding public disclosure.  Management has evaluated the e�ectiveness of the Company’s 
disclosure controls and procedures (as de�ned in the rules of the Canadian Securities Administrators) as of December 31, 2016.  Based on 
that evaluation, management has concluded that these disclosure controls and procedures were e�ective.

INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Internal Control over Financial Reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of �nancial reporting and 
the preparation of �nancial statements in accordance with IFRS.  Management has evaluated the design and operational e�ectiveness of 
the Company’s Internal Control over Financial Reporting as of December 31, 2016 to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability 
of �nancial reporting.  This evaluation was conducted in accordance with the Integrated (2013) Framework published by the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”), a recognized control model, and the requirements of National Instrument 
52-109 of the Canadian Securities Administrators.  Based on this evaluation, management has concluded that the Company’s Internal 
Control over Financial Reporting was e�ective as of December 31, 2016.

CHANGES IN INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING 

There were no changes in the Company’s internal control over �nancial reporting that occurred during the fourth quarter of 2016 that have 
materially a�ected, or are reasonably likely to materially a�ect, the Company’s internal control over �nancial reporting.

NON-GENERALLY ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES (“GAAP”) FINANCIAL MEASURES

Management uses a variety of �nancial measures to evaluate the Company’s performance.  In addition to GAAP prescribed measures, 
management uses certain non-GAAP measures that it believes provide useful information to investors regarding the Company’s �nancial 
condition and results of operations.  Readers are cautioned that non-GAAP measures often do not have any standardized meaning, and 
therefore, are unlikely to be comparable to similar measures presented by other companies.  The primary non-GAAP measures used in this 
MD&A are:

• Adjusted results: in periods where management determines that non-recurring or unusual items will have a signi�cant impact on a 
user’s assessment of business performance, the Company may present adjusted results in addition to reported results by removing the 
non-recurring or unusual items from the reported results.  Management believes that adjusted results, if any, can to some extent enhance 
comparability between reporting periods or provide the reader with a better understanding of how management views the Company’s 
performance.  Adjusted results are also intended to provide the user with greater consistency and comparability to other �nancial 
institutions.  Adjustments that remove non-recurring or unusual items from net income will a�ect the calculation of other measures such 
as adjusted ROE and adjusted EPS. 



63

• Assets Under Management (“AUM”): is the sum of total assets reported on the consolidated balance sheet and mortgage principal 
derecognized but still managed by the Company.

($ THOUSANDS)  2016  2015 % Change  2014 % Change

Total assets on the consolidated balance sheet $ 18,973,588  $ 15,527,584 22% $ 12,854,903 48%
Mortgage principal derecognized  3,304,181   2,072,488 59%  1,519,008 118%
Assets Under Management  $ 22,277,769  $ 17,600,072 27% $ 14,373,911 55%

• Book value per common share: is calculated by dividing common shareholders’ equity by the number of common shares outstanding.

($ THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE AND PER SHARE AMOUNTS)  2016   2015 % Change  2014 % Change

Shareholders’ equity  $ 977,150  $ 796,116 23% $ 703,694 39%
Preferred shares  72,557   72,557 -%  72,412 -%
Common shareholders’ equity  $ 904,593  $ 723,559 25% $ 631,282 43%
Common shares outstanding 16,460,142  15,538,605 6% 15,435,356 7%
Book value per common share $ 54.96  $ 46.57 18% $ 40.90 34%

• Capital ratios:

> CET1 Ratio: this key measure of capital strength is de�ned as CET1 Capital as a percentage of total RWA.  This ratio is calculated for 
the Company’s subsidiary, Equitable Bank, in accordance with the guidelines issued by OSFI.  CET1 Capital is de�ned as shareholders’ 
equity plus any qualifying other non-controlling interest in subsidiaries less preferred shares issued and outstanding, any goodwill, 
other intangible assets and cash �ow hedge reserve components of accumulated other comprehensive income. 

> Tier 1 and Total Capital Ratios: these adequacy ratios are calculated for Equitable Bank, in accordance with the guidelines issued by 
OSFI by dividing Tier 1 or Total Capital by total RWA. Tier 1 Capital is calculated by adding non-cumulative preferred shares to CET1 
Capital. Tier 2 Capital is equal to the sum of the Bank’s collective allowance and subordinated debentures. Total Capital equals to Tier 1 
plus Tier 2 Capital. 

> Leverage Ratio:  this measure is calculated by dividing Tier 1 Capital by an exposure measure.  The exposure measure consists of total 
assets (excluding items deducted from Tier 1 Capital) and certain o�-balance sheet items converted into credit exposure equivalents.  
Adjustments are also made to derivatives and secured �nancing transactions to re�ect credit and other risks.

The Capital ratios are calculated on the “all-in” basis in accordance with OSFI’s Capital Adequacy Requirements (“CAR”) Guideline. A 
detailed calculation of all Capital ratios can be found in Table 18 of this MD&A.

• Economic value of shareholders’ equity (“EVE”): is a calculation of the present value of the Company’s asset cash �ows less the present 
value of liability cash �ows on an after-tax basis.  EVE is a more comprehensive measure of our exposure to interest rate changes than is in 
net interest income because it captures all interest rate mismatches across all terms.

• E�ciency Ratio: this measure is used to assess the e�ciency of the Company’s cost structure in terms of revenue generation.  This ratio is 
derived by dividing non-interest expenses by the sum of net revenue.  A lower e�ciency Ratio re�ects a more e�cient cost structure. 

Three months ended
($ THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PERCENTAGES)   Dec 31, 2016   Sep 30, 2016 % Change  Dec 31, 2015 % Change
Non-interest expenses  $ 29,750  $ 29,039 2% $ 24,429 22%
Net revenue  87,831   78,407 12%  68,378 28%
E�ciency Ratio  33.9%  37.0% (3.1%) 35.7% (1.8%)

Years ended
($ THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PERCENTAGES)    Dec 31, 2016   Dec 31, 2015 % Change  Dec 31, 2014 % Change
Non-interest expenses  $ 116,539  $ 87,962 32% $ 71,644 63%
Net revenue  308,463   261,545 18%  219,877 40%
E�ciency Ratio  37.8%  33.6% 4.2% 32.6% 5.2%
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• Investments in our future:  is the portion of non-interest expenses spent on various strategic initiatives to enable future growth and 
maintain our superior level of service.  In most cases, these investments are made ahead of associated bene�ts, and as such reduce our 
net income and elevate our E�ciency Ratio in the current year.  A detailed calculation can be found in Table 7 and Table 25 of this MD&A.

• Liquid assets: is a measure of the Company’s cash or assets that can be readily converted into cash, which are held for the purposes of 
funding mortgages, deposit maturities, and the ability to collect other receivables and settle other obligations.  A detailed calculation can 
be found in Table 14 of this MD&A.

• Liquidity Coverage Ratio (“LCR”): this ratio, calculated according to OSFI’s Liquidity Adequacy Requirements, measures the Company’s 
ability to meet its liquidity needs for a 30 calendar day liquidity stress scenario. It is equal to high-quality liquid assets divided by total net 
cash out�ows over the next 30 calendar days.

• Mortgages Under Management (“MUM”): is the sum of mortgage principal reported on the consolidated balance sheet and mortgage 
principal derecognized but still managed by the Company.

($ THOUSANDS)  2016  2015 % Change  2014 % Change
Mortgage principal reported on the consolidated balance sheet  $ 17,699,832  $ 14,634,447 21% $ 12,240,698 45%
Mortgage principal derecognized  3,304,181   2,072,488 59%  1,519,008 118%
Mortgages Under Management  $ 21,004,013  $ 16,706,935 26% $ 13,759,706 53%

• Net interest margin (“NIM”): this pro�tability measure is calculated on an annualized basis by dividing net interest income – TEB by the 
average total interest earning assets for the period.  A detailed calculation can be found in Table 3 and Table 21 of this MD&A.  

• Net revenue: is calculated as the sum of net interest income, other income, and the TEB adjustment.

Three months ended
($ THOUSANDS)    Dec 31, 2016   Sep 30, 2016 % Change  Dec 31, 2015 % Change
Net interest income  $ 77,926  $ 70,827 10% $ 63,458 23%
Other income  9,288   7,011 32%  4,311 115%
TEB adjustment 617  569 8% 609 1%
Net revenue   $ 87,831     $ 78,407 12% $ 68,378 28%

Years ended
($ THOUSANDS)  Dec 31, 2016   Dec 31, 2015 % Change  Dec 31, 2014 % Change
Net interest income  $ 279,357  $ 242,227 15% $ 204,522 37%
Other income  26,458   16,836 57%  13,423 97%
TEB adjustment 2,648  2,482 7%  1,932 37%
Net revenue   $ 308,463  $ 261,545 18% $ 219,877 40%

• Provision for credit losses – rate: this credit quality metric is calculated on an annualized basis and is de�ned as the provision for 
credit losses as a percentage of average loan portfolio outstanding during the period.  Prior to 2016, management computed this metric 
based on individual provisions only.  In 2016, this was expanded to include collective provisions as well.  Comparative �gures have been 
computed under the revised methodology.

Three months ended
($ THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PERCENTAGES)  Dec 31, 2016   Sep 30, 2016 % Change  Dec 31, 2015 % Change
Provision for credit losses  $ 870  $ 1,243 (30%) $ 1,064 (18%)
Divided by: average mortgage principal  17,330,244   16,560,975 5%  14,269,937 21%
Provision for credit losses – rate  0.02%  0.03% (0.01%)  0.03% (0.01%)

Years ended
($ THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PERCENTAGES)  Dec 31, 2016   Dec 31, 2015 % Change  Dec 31, 2014 % Change
Provision for credit losses  $ 2,445  $ 3,638 (33%) $ 2,627 (7%)
Divided by: average mortgage principal  16,167,140   13,437,573 20%  11,673,873 38%
Provision for credit losses – rate  0.02%  0.03% (0.01%)  0.02% -%
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• Return on average assets: this pro�tability measure is calculated on an annualized basis and is de�ned as net income as a percentage of 
average month-end total assets balances outstanding during the period. 

Years ended
($ THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PERCENTAGES)    Dec 31, 2016   Dec 31, 2015 % Change  Dec 31, 2014 % Change
Net income  $ 138,330  $ 125,865 10% $ 106,718 30%
Average total assets  17,301,263   14,234,441 22%  12,151,622 42%
Return on average assets   0.8%  0.9% (0.1%) 0.9% (0.1%)

• Return on shareholders’ equity (“ROE”): this pro�tability measure is calculated on an annualized basis and is de�ned as net income 
available to common shareholders as a percentage of the weighted average common equity outstanding during the period.  

Years ended
($ THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PERCENTAGES)  Dec 31, 2016   Dec 31, 2015 % Change  Dec 31, 2014 % Change
Net income available to common shareholders  $ 133,568  $ 121,102 10% $ 102,107 31%
Weighted average common equity outstanding  789,639   676,999 17%  585,766 35%
Return on shareholders’ equity   16.9%  17.9% (1.0%)  17.4% (0.5%)

• Risk-weighted assets (“RWA”): represents the Bank’s assets and o�-balance sheet exposures, weighted according to risk as prescribed 
by OSFI under the CAR Guideline.  A detailed calculation can be found in Table 19 of this MD&A.

• Securitization Financing MUM: is the sum of Securitization Financing mortgage principal reported on the consolidated balance sheet 
and Securitization Financing mortgage principal derecognized but still managed by the Company.  A detailed calculation can be found in 
Table 9 and Table 26 of this MD&A.

• Taxable equivalent basis (“TEB”): the presentation of �nancial information on a TEB is a common practice among �nancial institutions.  
On a selective basis, the Company uses TEB in the discussion of revenues, interest margins and E�ciency Ratios in this MD&A.  The 
TEB methodology grosses up tax-exempt income, such as dividends from equity securities, by an amount which makes this income 
comparable on a pre-tax basis to regular taxable income such as mortgage interest. For the three months ended December 31, 2016, 
September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, the TEB adjustment was $0.6 million, $0.6 million and $0.6 million. For the year ended 
December 31, 2016, the TEB adjustment was $2.6 million as compared to $2.5 million for 2015.

• Total shareholder return:  is de�ned as total return of stock to an investor including stock appreciation and dividends.  

ADDITIONAL GENERALLY ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES (“GAAP”) FINANCIAL MEASURES

In addition to GAAP and non-GAAP �nancial measures, management also uses additional GAAP �nancial measures it believes provide useful 
information to investors regarding the Company’s �nancial results of operations.  Readers are cautioned that additional GAAP measures do 
not have any standardized meaning, and therefore, may not be comparable to similar measures presented by other companies.  Management 
believes that these measures enhance comparability of the Company’s results between reporting periods and helps the reader better 
understand how management views the Company’s performance.  The primary additional GAAP measures used in this MD&A are:

• Net interest income: this additional GAAP measures is de�ned as total revenues derived from interest or dividend generating assets less 
total expenses related to interest bearing liabilities.

Three months ended
($ THOUSANDS)  Dec 31, 2016   Sep 30, 2016 % Change  Dec 31, 2015 % Change
Interest income  $ 170,651  $ 162,421 5% $ 147,184 16%
Less: interest expense  92,725   91,594 1%  83,726 11%
Net interest income  $ 77,926  $ 70,827 10% $ 63,458 23%

Years ended
($ THOUSANDS)    Dec 31, 2016   Dec 31, 2015 % Change  Dec 31, 2014 % Change
Interest income  $ 637,465  $ 565,158 13% $ 509,544 25%
Less: interest expense   358,108   322,931 11%  305,022 17%
Net interest income  $ 279,357  $ 242,227 15% $ 204,522 37%
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• Total revenue: is de�ned as interest income plus other income.

Three months ended
($ THOUSANDS)  Dec 31, 2016   Sep 30, 2016 % Change  Dec 31, 2015 % Change

Interest income  $ 170,651  $ 162,421 5% $ 147,184 16%
Other income  9,288   7,011 32%  4,311 115%
Total revenue  $ 179,939  $ 169,432 6% $ 151,495 19%

Years ended
($ THOUSANDS)  Dec 31, 2016   Dec 31, 2015 % Change  Dec 31, 2014 % Change

Interest income  $ 637,465  $ 565,158 13% $ 509,544 25%
Other income  26,458   16,836 57%  13,423 97%
Total revenue  $ 663,923  $ 581,994 14% $ 522,967 27%
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MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING  

The consolidated �nancial statements of Equitable Group Inc. (the “Company”) are prepared by management, which is responsible for the 
integrity and fairness of the information presented.  The information provided herein, in the opinion of management, has been prepared, 
within reasonable limits of materiality, using appropriate accounting policies that are in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standard (“IFRS”) as well as the accounting requirements of the O�ce of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions Canada (“OSFI”) as 
these apply to its subsidiary, Equitable Bank.  The consolidated �nancial statements re�ect amounts which must, of necessity, be based on 
informed judgments and estimates of the expected e�ects of current events and transactions.

Management maintains and monitors a system of internal control to meet its responsibility for the integrity of the consolidated �nancial 
statements. These controls are designed to provide reasonable assurance that the Company’s consolidated assets are safeguarded, that 
transactions are executed in accordance with management’s authorization and that the �nancial records form a reliable base for the 
preparation of accurate and timely �nancial information.  Management also administers a program of ethical business conduct, which 
includes quality standards in hiring and training employees, written policies and a written corporate code of conduct.  Management 
responsibility also includes maintaining adequate accounting records and an e�ective system of risk management. 

The Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) oversees management's responsibility for the consolidated �nancial statements 
through the Audit Committee.  The Audit Committee conducts a detailed review of the consolidated �nancial statements with management 
and internal and external auditors before recommending their approval to the Board.

The Company's subsidiary, Equitable Bank, is a Schedule I Bank under the Bank Act (Canada) and is regulated by OSFI.  On a regular basis, 
OSFI conducts an examination to assess the operations of Equitable Bank and its compliance with statutory requirements and sound 
business practices.

KPMG LLP has been appointed as external auditors by the shareholders to examine the consolidated �nancial statements of the Company 
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  The external auditors are responsible for reporting on whether the 
consolidated �nancial statements are fairly presented in accordance with IFRS.  The auditors have unrestricted access to and periodically 
meet with the Audit Committee, with and without management present, to discuss their audits and related matters.

Andrew Moor      Tim Wilson 
President and Chief Executive O�cer    Chief Financial O�cer

February 16, 2017
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT    

To the Shareholders of Equitable Group Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated �nancial statements of Equitable Group Inc., which comprise the consolidated balance 
sheets as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, the consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in 
shareholders' equity and cash �ows for the years then ended and notes, comprising a summary of signi�cant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated �nancial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated �nancial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated �nancial statements based on our audits.  We conducted our audits in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated �nancial statements are free from material 
misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated �nancial 
statements.  The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
consolidated �nancial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant 
to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated �nancial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the e�ectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An 
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated �nancial statements.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is su�cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated �nancial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated �nancial position of Equitable 
Group Inc. as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 and its consolidated �nancial performance and its consolidated cash �ows for 
the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants
Toronto, Canada

February 16, 2017
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
($ THOUSANDS) 

As at December 31 Note  2016 2015

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 6   $  444,179 $  423,366
Restricted cash 6     247,878   107,988
Securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements    199,401   19,918
Investments  7   136,718   153,714
Mortgages receivable – Core Lending 8,9   10,678,452   8,674,599
Mortgages receivable – Securitization Financing 8,9   7,105,351   6,026,207
Securitization retained interests 9   88,782   61,650
Other assets 12   72,827   60,142
   $  18,973,588 $  15,527,584

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity
Liabilities:

Deposits 13  $  9,763,082 $  8,211,265
Securitization liabilities 9   7,762,632   6,109,436
Obligations under repurchase agreements 9   112,488  -
Deferred tax liabilities 14   38,771   28,698
Other liabilities 15   204,465   81,290
Bank facilities 16   50,000   235,779
Debentures 17    65,000   65,000

      17,996,438   14,731,468

Shareholders' equity:
Preferred shares 18   72,557   72,557
Common shares 18   196,608   143,690
Contributed surplus 19   5,056   4,706
Retained earnings    725,912   605,436
Accumulated other comprehensive loss    (22,983)   (30,273)

      977,150   796,116
   $  18,973,588 $  15,527,584

See accompanying notes to the consolidated �nancial statements.

David LeGresley      Andrew Moor
Chair of the Board      President and Chief Executive O�cer
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
($ THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

Years ended December 31 Note  2016 2015

Interest income:
 Mortgages – Core Lending   $  444,093 $  392,462
 Mortgages – Securitization Financing    179,838   159,247
 Investments    8,821   7,173
 Other     4,713   6,276
      637,465   565,158

Interest expense:
Deposits     183,340   170,699
Securitization liabilities 9   165,960   141,567
Bank facilities    4,756   4,198
Debentures    3,800   5,033

 Other     252   1,434
      358,108   322,931

Net interest income    279,357   242,227
Provision for credit losses 8    2,445   3,638
Net interest income after provision for credit losses    276,912   238,589
Other income:
 Fees and other income    17,640   11,413
 Net gain (loss) on investments    146   (463)
 Gains on securitization activities and income from securitization retained interests 9   8,672   5,886
      26,458   16,836

Net interest and other income    303,370   255,425
Non-interest expenses:
 Compensation and bene�ts    60,280   48,474
 Other     56,259   39,488
      116,539   87,962

Income before income taxes    186,831   167,463
Income taxes 14
 Current    37,947   27,847
 Deferred     10,554   13,751
      48,501   41,598

Net income   $  138,330 $  125,865

Earnings per share 20
 Basic   $  8.57 $ 7.83
 Diluted   $  8.49 $ 7.73

See accompanying notes to the consolidated �nancial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
($ THOUSANDS) 

Years ended December 31 Note  2016 2015

Net income   $  138,330 $  125,865

Other comprehensive income – items that may be reclassi�ed subsequently to income:

Available for sale investments:
Net unrealized gains (losses) from change in fair value     3,247   (25,320)
Reclassi�cation of net (gains) losses to income    (187)   107
      3,060   (25,213)

Income tax (expense) recovery     (812)   6,656
      2,248   (18,557)

Cash �ow hedges:  10
Net unrealized gains (losses) from change in fair value    3,877   (6,219)
Reclassi�cation of net losses to income    2,986   3,620
      6,863   (2,599)

Income tax (expense) recovery    (1,821)   686
      5,042   (1,913)

Total other comprehensive income (loss)    7,290   (20,470)
Total comprehensive income   $  145,620 $  105,395

See accompanying notes to the consolidated �nancial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
($ THOUSANDS) 

Accumulated other  
comprehensive 

Income (loss) 
Available

Preferred   Common  Contributed   Retained   Cash �ow  for sale
2016 shares  shares  surplus  earnings  hedges  investments   Total   Total

Balance, beginning of year $  72,557 $  143,690 $  4,706 $  605,436 $  (7,815) $  (22,458) $  (30,273) $  796,116
Net income    -    -    -    138,330  - -   -   138,330
Other comprehensive income,  

net of tax   -     -     -     -     5,042    2,248    7,290    7,290
Shares issued, net of  

issuance cost  -    49,333    -    -     -    -     -     49,333 
Exercise of stock options   -     2,877    -     -     -     -     -     2,877
Dividends:
 Preferred shares   -     -     -     (4,763)    -     -     -     (4,763)
 Common shares   -     -     -     (13,091)    -     -     -     (13,091)

Stock-based compensation    -     -     1,058    -     -     -     -     1,058
Transfer relating to the  

exercise of stock options   -     708    (708)    -     -     -     -     - 

Balance, end of year $  72,557 $  196,608 $  5,056 $  725,912 $  (2,773) $  (20,210) $  (22,983) $  977,150

 Accumulated other  
 comprehensive 
 Income (loss) 

Available
Preferred   Common Contributed   Retained  Cash �ow for sale

2015   shares shares surplus earnings hedges investments   Total  Total

Balance, beginning of year $  72,412 $  140,657 $  4,331 $  496,097 $  (5,902) $  (3,901) $  (9,803) $  703,694
Net income    -    -    -    125,865   -    -    -    125,865
Other comprehensive loss,  

net of tax   -    -    -    -    (1,913)   (18,557)   (20,470)   (20,470)
Issuance cost   145  -    -   -    -    -   -     145
Exercise of stock options   -    2,473   -    -    -    -    -    2,473
Dividends:
 Preferred shares   -    -    -    (4,762)   -    -    -    (4,762)
 Common shares   -    -    -    (11,764)   -    -    -    (11,764)

Stock-based compensation    -    -    935   -    -    -    -    935
Transfer relating to the  

exercise of stock  options   -    560   (560)   -    -    -    -    -

Balance, end of year $  72,557 $  143,690 $  4,706 $  605,436 $  (7,815) $  (22,458) $  (30,273) $  796,116
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
($ THOUSANDS)

Years ended December 31  2016 2015

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income   $ 138,330 $ 125,865
Adjustments for non-cash items in net income: 
 Financial instruments at fair value through income  (471)  5,222
 Amortization of premiums/discount on investments  237  743
 Amortization of capital assets and intangible costs  7,863  3,532
 Provision for credit losses  2,445  3,638
 Securitization gains  (8,135)  (5,247)
 Net (gain) loss on sale or redemption of investments  (146)  463
 Stock-based compensation  1,058  935
 Income taxes   48,501  41,598

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
 Restricted cash  (139,890)  (40,298)
 Securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements  (179,483)  (1,801)
 Mortgages receivable, net of securitizations  (3,122,072)  (2,456,730)
 Other assets  (6,770)  (167)
 Deposits  1,554,090  719,090
 Securitization liabilities  1,653,196  1,754,108
 Obligations under repurchase agreements  112,488  (52,413)
 Bank facilities  (185,779)  143,543
 Other liabilities  105,011  17,440
Income taxes paid  (17,394)  (26,419)
Securitization retained interests  16,291  10,798
Cash �ows (used in) from operating activities  (20,630)  243,900
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
 Issue of common shares, net of issuance costs  49,333  - 

Preferred shares – issuance costs  - 145
 Proceeds from issuance of common shares  2,877  2,473
 Redemption of debentures  -   (20,000)
 Dividends paid on preferred shares   (4,763)  (4,762)
 Dividends paid on common shares   (12,754)  (8,658)
Cash �ows from (used in) �nancing activities  34,693  (30,802)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of investments  (131,390)  (26,856)
 Proceeds on sale or redemption of investments   151,380  16,208
 Net change in Canada Housing Trust re-investment accounts  (104)  11,859
 Purchase of capital assets and system development costs  (13,136)  (21,006)
Cash �ows from (used in) investing activities  6,750   (19,795)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  20,813  193,303
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year  423,366  230,063
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year  $ 444,179 $ 423,366

Cash �ows from operating activities include:     
Interest received  $  590,687 $  563,992
Interest paid  (337,685)   (310,298)
Dividends received  7,438   12,763
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Note 1 – Reporting Entity

Equitable Group Inc. (the "Company") was formed on January 1, 2004 as the parent company of its wholly owned subsidiary, Equitable 
Bank. The Company is listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange ("TSX") and domiciled in Canada with its registered o�ce located at 30 St. Clair 
Avenue West, Suite 700, Toronto, Ontario. Equitable Bank is a Schedule I Bank under the Bank Act (Canada) and is regulated by the O�ce 
of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions Canada ("OSFI").  Equitable Bank o�ers savings and mortgage lending products to retail and 
commercial customers across Canada.

Note 2 – Basis of Preparation

(a) Statement of Compliance:

The consolidated �nancial statements of Equitable Group Inc. have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) and Interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee, as published by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (“IASB”).  

The consolidated �nancial statements were authorized for issue by the Company’s Board of Directors on February 16, 2017. 

(b) Basis of measurement:

The consolidated �nancial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following items which are stated at fair 
value: derivative �nancial instruments, �nancial assets and liabilities that are classi�ed or designated as at fair value through income and 
available for sale �nancial assets.  

(c) Functional currency:

The functional currency of the Company is Canadian dollars, which is also the presentation currency of the consolidated �nancial 
statements.

(d) Use of estimates and accounting judgments in applying accounting policies:

The preparation of the consolidated �nancial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that a�ect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the consolidated �nancial statements and 
the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the years.  Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed by management on 
an ongoing basis. The critical estimates and judgments utilized in preparing the Company’s consolidated �nancial statements a�ect the 
assessment of the allowance for credit losses on mortgages, the impairment of other �nancial instruments, the fair values of �nancial assets 
and liabilities, derecognition of �nancial assets transferred in securitization transactions, e�ectiveness of �nancial hedges for accounting 
purposes and income taxes.

The critical estimates and judgments made in the preparation of the Company’s consolidated �nancial statements include probability 
of default and loss given default for mortgages receivable, discount rates utilized in the valuation of the Company’s �nancial assets and 
liabilities, the credit worthiness of the Company to its counterparties, the values of comparable assets and the fair value of securities not 
traded in an active market. In making estimates and judgments, management uses external information and observable market conditions 
where possible, supplemented by internal analysis as required.  These estimates and judgments have been applied in a manner consistent 
with prior periods and there are no known trends, commitments or events that we believe will materially a�ect the methodology or 
assumptions utilized in making these estimates and judgments in these consolidated �nancial statements. Actual results could di�er from 
these estimates, in which case the impact would be recognized in the consolidated �nancial statements in future periods.

(e) Consolidation:

The consolidated �nancial statements as at and for the twelve months ended December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015  include the 
assets, liabilities and results of operations of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiary, Equitable Bank, after the elimination of 
intercompany transactions and balances.  The Company has control of Equitable Bank as it is exposed to and has rights to variable returns 
from its involvement with Equitable Bank and it has the ability to a�ect those returns through its power over the relevant activities of 
Equitable Bank.
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Note 3 – Signi�cant Accounting Policies 

The following note describes the Company's signi�cant accounting policies. These accounting policies have been applied consistently to all 
periods presented in these consolidated �nancial statements.

(a) Financial instruments:

The Company’s consolidated balance sheet consists primarily of �nancial instruments and the majority of net income is derived from 
income and expenses, as well as gains and losses related to the respective �nancial instruments.

Financial instrument assets include cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements, 
investments, mortgages receivable – core lending, mortgages receivable – securitization �nancing, securitization retained interests and 
derivative �nancial instruments. Financial instrument liabilities include deposits, securitization liabilities, obligations under repurchase 
agreements, accounts payable, bank facilities, debentures and derivative �nancial instruments.

(i) Classi�cation of �nancial assets and liabilities

 Financial assets and liabilities are initially recorded at fair value in the consolidated balance sheets. Subsequent to initial recognition 
�nancial assets and liabilities are measured at fair value, cost or amortized cost according to the categories determined by the 
accounting framework for �nancial instruments.

 Financial instruments at fair value through income

 Financial instruments are classi�ed in this category if they are held for trading or designated by management under the fair value 
option. They are carried at fair value and any related realized and unrealized gains and losses are recognized in the consolidated 
statements of income.

Classi�ed as held for trading 

An instrument is classi�ed as held for trading if it is acquired principally for the purposes of selling or repurchasing in the near 
term or if it is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a designated and e�ective hedging instrument in an accounting hedge). 
Upon initial recognition, transaction costs are expensed as incurred.

Designated as at fair value through income

Instruments designated as at fair value through income must meet one of the following criteria: (a) the designation eliminates or 
signi�cantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency; (b) a group of �nancial assets or liabilities or both is managed 
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis in accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy; 
or (c) the instrument contains one or more embedded derivatives unless: (i) the embedded derivative does not signi�cantly 
modify the cash �ows that otherwise would be required by the contract; or (ii) it is clear with little or no analysis that separation is 
prohibited.

 Held to maturity

 Held to maturity �nancial assets are non-derivative �nancial assets and are classi�ed in this category if management has the intent 
and ability to hold the instrument to maturity. Held to maturity �nancial assets are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly 
attributable incremental transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, held to maturity �nancial assets are measured at 
amortized cost using the e�ective interest rate method.

 Loans and receivables

 Loans and receivables are �nancial assets with �xed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. Such assets 
are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly attributable incremental transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost using the e�ective interest method, less allowance for credit losses.
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 Available for sale

 Available for sale �nancial assets are non-derivative �nancial assets that are designated as available for sale and that are not 
classi�ed in any of the categories described above. They are initially recognized at fair value plus any directly attributable 
incremental transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, available for sale �nancial assets are measured at fair value. Gains 
and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognized in Other comprehensive income (“OCI”), net of income taxes. When the 
instrument is derecognized, the cumulative gain or loss in OCI is transferred to income.  

 Financial liabilities

 Financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortized cost, except for liabilities 
designated as at fair value through income.

(ii) Determination of fair value

 When a �nancial instrument is initially recognized, its fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer 
a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

 Subsequent to initial recognition, for �nancial instruments measured at fair value where active market prices are available, bid 
prices are used for �nancial assets and ask prices for �nancial liabilities. For those �nancial instruments measured at fair value where 
an active market is not available, fair value estimates are determined using valuation methods which maximize use of observable 
market data and include discounted cash �ow analysis and other commonly used valuation techniques. See Note 5 for the valuation 
methods and assumptions used to estimate fair values of �nancial instruments.

(iii) Derecognition

 Financial assets

 The Company derecognizes a �nancial asset when:

• the contractual rights to receive the cash �ows from the asset have expired; or

• the Company has transferred its rights to receive future cash �ows of the �nancial asset, or it retains the contractual rights to 
receive the cash �ows of the �nancial asset but assumes a contractual obligation to pay the cash �ows to one or more recipients 
and either:

(i) the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the �nancial asset; or 

(ii) the Company has neither retained nor transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership in the �nancial asset,  
  but has transferred control of the asset.  

 Any interest in transferred �nancial assets that qualify for derecognition that is created or retained by the Company is recognized 
as a separate asset or liability in the consolidated balance sheets. On derecognition of a �nancial asset the di�erence between 
the carrying amount of the asset (or the carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset transferred), and the sum of (i) the 
consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and (ii) any cumulative gain or loss that 
had been recognized in OCI is recognized in the consolidated statements of income.

 If the transfer of assets does not meet the criteria for derecognition, the Company continues to recognize the �nancial asset and also 
recognizes a �nancial liability for the consideration received upon the transfer in the consolidated balance sheets.

 The derecognition criteria is also applied to the transfer of part of an asset, rather than a whole, or to a group of similar �nancial 
assets in their entirety, when applicable. When it is applied to part of an asset, the part comprises of speci�cally identi�ed cash �ows, 
a fully proportionate share of the asset, or a fully proportionate share of a speci�cally identi�ed cash �ow from the asset.
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 Financial liabilities

 The Company derecognizes a �nancial liability when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires.

(iv) O�setting

 Financial assets and liabilities are o�set and the net amount presented in the consolidated balance sheets when the Company has a 
legal right to set o� the recognized amounts and it intends either to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously. Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under IFRS or for gains and losses arising 
from a group of similar transactions.

(v) Risks associated with �nancial instruments

 The use of �nancial instruments exposes the Company to credit risk, interest rate risk, and liquidity risk. A discussion on how these 
risks and other risks are managed can be found in the Risk Management section of Company’s December 31, 2016 Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis and Note 4 to these consolidated �nancial statements.

(b) Interest:

Interest income and interest expense for all �nancial instruments not designated as at fair value through income are recognized in 
income using the e�ective interest rate method. The e�ective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash �ow 
payments and receipts through the expected life of the �nancial asset or liability (or, where appropriate, a shorter period) to the carrying 
amount of the �nancial asset or liability. When calculating the e�ective interest rate, management estimates future cash �ows considering 
all contractual terms of the �nancial instrument, but not future credit losses. The calculation of the e�ective interest rate includes all 
transaction costs and fees paid or received that are an integral part of the e�ective interest rate.

(c) Cash and cash equivalents:

Cash and cash equivalents consist of deposits with regulated �nancial institutions and highly liquid short-term investments, including 
government guaranteed investments and other money market instruments, whose term to maturity at the date of purchase is less than 
three months and are readily convertible to known amounts of cash which are subject to an insigni�cant risk of changes in value. Interest 
earned on cash and cash equivalents is included in Interest income − other in the consolidated statements of income. 

(d) Investments:

Investments are accounted for at settlement date and initially measured at fair value plus, in the case of investments not at fair value 
through income, incremental direct transaction costs, and subsequently accounted for depending upon their classi�cation as either 
available for sale, held for trading, held to maturity or fair value through income.  

Investments that are designated as available for sale are reported on the consolidated balance sheets at fair value. Unrealized gains and 
losses, net of income taxes, are reported in OCI, until the investment is sold or an impairment loss is recognized, at which time the cumulative 
gain or loss is transferred to Other income in the consolidated statements of income.  Available for sale investments are purchased with the 
original intention to hold the securities to maturity or until market conditions render alternative investments more attractive. 

Investments designated as held for trading or as at fair value through income are reported at fair value on the consolidated balance sheets, 
with unrealized gains and losses, reported in the consolidated statements of income.

Held to maturity investments are recorded at amortized cost, net of impairment losses on the consolidated balance sheets.

Investments are assessed for impairment at the end of each reporting period, or more frequently, if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate the existence of objective evidence of impairment. Investments that are designated as available for sale are assessed for 
impairment if objective evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset.  Loss events include 
default or delinquency of the debtor, indications that the issuer of a security will enter bankruptcy, signi�cant deterioration of credit quality, 
the disappearance of an active market for security or observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated cash 
�ows from the assets.
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For available for sale securities that are considered to be impaired, the cumulative loss in OCI is transferred to Other income. Fair value 
increases in available for sale debt securities that are objectively related to an event occurring after impairment loss was recognized are 
recorded as reversals of impairment loss in Other income. Impairment losses on available for sale equity instruments are not subsequently 
reversed through net income.

For held to maturity investments that are determined to be impaired, the write-down to net realizable value (i.e. present value of estimated 
future cash �ows discounted using the original e�ective interest rate) is reported in Other income in the consolidated statements of income. 
For held to maturity securities, where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the instrument is increased to the 
lesser of the revised estimate of the recoverable amount and the carrying amount that would have been recorded had no impairment loss 
been recognized previously.

Interest income and dividends earned, net of amortization of premiums and discounts, are included in Interest income − investments in the 
consolidated statements of income. Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive income is established. Usually this is the ex-
dividend date for the equity securities. The fair values of investments are generally based on quoted market prices.  

(e) Securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements:

Securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements represent purchases of Government of Canada guaranteed debt securities and 
are treated as collateralized lending transactions as they represent the purchase of securities with a simultaneous agreement to sell them 
back at a speci�ed price on a speci�ed future date, which is generally short term. These receivables in respect of the amount advanced are 
classi�ed as loans and receivables and are held at amortized cost plus accrued interest on the consolidated balance sheets. The interest 
income related to these investments is recorded on an accrual basis using the e�ective interest method and is included in Interest income – 
investments in the consolidated statements of income.

(f )   Mortgages receivable:

Classi�cation

(i) Mortgages receivable classi�ed as loans and receivables

 Mortgages are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost, plus accrued interest, using the 
e�ective interest rate method, and are reported net of unamortized origination fees, commitment income, premiums or discounts 
and an allowance for credit losses. Net fees relating to mortgage origination are amortized to income on an e�ective yield basis over 
the term of the mortgages to which they relate, and are included in Interest income – mortgages in the consolidated statements of 
income.

(ii) Mortgages designated as at fair value through income

 Certain mortgages designated as at fair value through income are carried at fair value with changes in fair value included in Interest 
Income – mortgages in the consolidated statements of income.  Net fees relating to mortgage origination are recognized in income 
as incurred, and are included in Interest income – mortgages in the consolidated statements of income.

(iii) Mortgages classi�ed as held for trading

 Certain mortgages held for securitization and classi�ed as held for trading are carried at fair value with changes in fair value 
included in Other income – gains on securitization and income from securitization retained interests in the consolidated statements 
of income.  Net fees relating to mortgage origination are expensed as incurred and are included in Other income – gains on 
securitization activities and income from securitization retained interests in the consolidated statements of income.
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Impairments

The Company classi�es a mortgage receivable as impaired when, in the opinion of management, there is reasonable doubt as to the timely 
collectability, either in whole or in part, of principal or interest.  A conventional mortgage is deemed to be impaired at the earlier of the date 
it has been individually provided for or when contractual payments are past due 90 days.  Mortgages guaranteed by the Government of 
Canada are considered impaired when they are contractually past due 365 days.  However, management does not anticipate credit losses 
on such mortgages as they are insured.

When an impaired mortgage is identi�ed, an individual allowance is recorded to reduce the carrying value of the mortgage to its net 
realizable amount, measured on the basis of expected future cash �ows, and discounted at the mortgage’s e�ective interest rate. The 
impairment is re�ected in the consolidated statements of income in the years in which the impairment is recognized.  When a mortgage is 
classi�ed as impaired, interest income continues to be accrued using the e�ective interest rate method and may be partially or fully o�set 
by an increase in the allowance for credit losses. A mortgage is no longer considered impaired when all past due amounts including interest 
have been recovered and it is determined that the principal and interest are fully collectible, at which time the individual allowance is 
reversed.  

Mortgage losses are recorded when proceeds expected from realization of the security are less than the carrying amount of the mortgage.  
In subsequent periods, any recoveries of amounts previously written o� are credited to the provision for credit losses. 

Foreclosed assets retained in settlement of an impaired loan and held for sale are accounted for at fair value less estimated cost to sell at the 
date of foreclosure.  Any di�erence between the carrying value of the mortgage before foreclosure and the estimated realizable value of the 
asset is recorded as a loss in the consolidated statements of income.

For any subsequent change in fair value, gains and losses are recognized in fees and other income in the consolidated statements of 
income.

(g)  Allowance for credit losses:

Allowance for credit losses on mortgage assets consists of both individually and collectively assessed impairment allowances.

Individual allowance

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists for individual mortgage assets. For 
mortgages assessed as impaired, an individual allowance is recorded, measured as the di�erence between the mortgage’s carrying amount 
and the present value of estimated future cash �ows discounted at the mortgage’s original e�ective interest rate. The calculation of the 
estimated future cash �ows of the mortgage re�ects management’s judgement relating to the timing of future cash �ow amounts that can 
be reasonably expected from the borrowers and/or guarantors and the realization of collateral. The amounts expected to be recovered are 
reduced by estimated costs of realization.

Collective allowance

The Company maintains a collective allowance in order to cover any impairment in the existing portfolio for mortgages that have not yet 
been individually identi�ed as impaired.  If there is no objective evidence of impairment for an individual loan, whether signi�cant or not, the 
loan is included in a group of assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assessed for losses incurred but not identi�ed.  The 
level of the allowance for each group of assets depends upon security and mortgage type, internal risk ratings, geographic location, loan-
to-value ratio, and other relevant factors.  Loss assumptions may be adjusted over time based on current observable data and economic 
conditions.  The collective allowance may also be adjusted for management’s judgement as to whether current economic conditions are such 
that the actual level of inherent losses at the balance sheet date is likely to be greater or less than that calculated by the model.
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(h)  Securitizations:

In the normal course of business, the Company securitizes insured residential mortgages through the Government of Canada’s National 
Housing Act (“NHA”), Mortgage Backed Securities (“MBS”) and Canada Mortgage Bond (“CMB”) programs, which are facilitated by Canada 
Mortgage and Housing Corporation (“CMHC”). The Company securitizes the mortgages through the creation of MBS and the ultimate sale 
of MBS to third party investors or through the CMB program.

The Company also securitizes uninsured residential mortgages by entering into an agreement to sell these mortgages into a program 
sponsored by another major Schedule I Canadian bank.

Securitized mortgages and securitization liabilities

Sales of MBS that do not qualify for derecognition result in the related mortgages being classi�ed as Mortgages receivable – securitization 
�nancing on the consolidated balance sheets, which are accounted for at amortized cost, plus accrued interest, and are reported net of 
unamortized origination fees, commitment income, premiums or discounts and insurance costs. Net fees and any premium or discount 
relating to mortgage origination are amortized to income on an e�ective yield basis over the term of the mortgages to which they relate, 
and are included in Interest income mortgages – securitization �nancing in the consolidated statements of income.

Sale of uninsured residential mortgages do not qualify for derecognition and are classi�ed as Mortgages receivable – core lending on 
the consolidated balance sheets, and are accounted for at amortized cost, plus accrued interest, and are reported net of unamortized 
origination fees, commitment income, premiums or discounts. Net fees and any premium or discount relating to mortgage origination are 
amortized to income on an e�ective yield basis over the term of the mortgages to which they relate, and are included in Interest income 
mortgages – core lending in the consolidated statements of income.  

In addition, these transactions are considered secured �nancing and result in the recognition of securitization liabilities. Securitization 
liabilities are recorded at amortized cost, plus accrued interest, and are reported net of any unamortized premiums or discounts and 
transaction costs incurred in obtaining the secured �nancing. Interest expense is allocated over the expected term of borrowing by 
applying the e�ective interest rate to the carrying amount of the liability.

Securitization retained interest and servicing liability

In certain securitization transactions that qualify for derecognition, the Company has a continuing involvement in the securitized asset 
that is limited to retained rights in future excess interest and the liability associated with servicing these assets. The securitization retained 
interests are classi�ed as available for sale securities in the consolidated balance sheets and are carried at fair value with changes in fair 
value reported in OCI, net of income taxes. The servicing liability is reported as part of Other liabilities. During the life of the securitization, 
as cash is received, the retained interests and the servicing liability are amortized and recognized in the consolidated statements of income 
under Gains on securitization activities and income from securitization retained interests.

Gains on securitization

When an asset is derecognized, the related mortgages are removed from the consolidated balance sheets and a gain or loss is recognized 
in the consolidated statements of income under Other income – gains on securitization activities and income from Securitization retained 
interests. 

(i)  Derivative �nancial instruments:  

The Company uses derivative �nancial instruments primarily to manage exposure to interest rate risk. Derivative instruments that are 
typically used are interest rate swaps, bond forwards and total return swaps. Interest rate swaps are used to adjust exposure to interest 
rate risk by modifying the maturity characteristics of existing assets and liabilities. Bond forwards are used to hedge interest rate exposures 
resulting from changes in interest rates between the time the Company commits to funding a mortgage it intends to securitize through the 
NHA MBS and CMB program, and the date of securitization. Total return swaps are used to hedge the risk of changes in future cash �ows 
related to the Company’s Restricted share unit (“RSU”) and Deferred share unit (“DSU”) plan. The Company also uses total return swap to 
hedge the reinvestment risk between the amortizing MBS and the bullet CMB related to its CMB activities. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015
($ THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE, PER SHARE AND STOCK OPTION AMOUNTS)



81

Derivatives embedded in other �nancial instruments or host contracts are treated as separate derivatives when the following conditions 
are met: 

• their economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host contract;

• a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the de�nition of a derivative; and

• the combined contract is not held for trading or designated at fair value through income.

Separated embedded derivatives are presented with other derivative assets and liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets.

Cash �ow hedges

In order for a derivative to qualify as an accounting hedge, the hedging relationship must be designated and formally documented at its 
inception, detailing the particular risk management objective and strategy for the hedge and the speci�c asset, liability or cash �ow being 
hedged, the hedging instrument, as well as how its e�ectiveness is being assessed. Changes in the fair value of the derivative must be 
highly e�ective in o�setting changes in the amount of future cash �ows being hedged.

The Company’s cash �ow hedges include hedges of highly probable cash �ows on �xed rate liabilities arising from accounting for 
securitization transactions as secured �nancing under IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The Company enters 
into bond forwards (including certain embedded derivatives) to hedge this cash �ow risk and applies hedge accounting to these derivative 
�nancial instruments. The Company also enters into interest rate swaps to hedge future cash �ows related to its �oating rate liabilities. To 
the extent that changes in the fair value of the derivative do not exceed the changes in the fair value of the hedged item, they are recorded 
in OCI, net of tax. The cumulative amounts deferred in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (“AOCI”) are reclassi�ed to Interest 
expense – securitization liabilities in the consolidated statements of income.

The Company’s cash �ow hedges also include Total return equity swap contracts (“TRS”) used to hedge the risk of changes in future cash 
�ows related to its RSU plan. The value of RSUs or PSUs issued is linked to the price of the Company’s common shares over the period the 
TRS is in e�ect.  The fair value of the TRS is included in Other assets and/or Other liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets and the 
e�ective portion of the changes in fair values of these TRS is recorded in OCI, net of tax.  The cumulative amounts deferred in AOCI are 
reclassi�ed to Non-interest expense – compensation and bene�ts in the consolidated statements of income, over the vesting period of the 
RSUs or PSUs.

Hedge e�ectiveness is evaluated at the inception of the hedging relationship and on an ongoing basis, retrospectively and prospectively, 
primarily using quantitative statistical measures of correlation. The change in the fair value of the hedging item will be recorded on the 
consolidated balance sheets under AOCI as either deferred gains or losses during the hedge term only to the extent of the e�ective portion 
of the hedges. Any ine�ectiveness in the hedging relationship is included in Other income – gains on securitization activities and income 
from securitization retained interests in the consolidated statements of income as it occurs.

For cash �ow hedges that are discontinued before the end of the original hedge term and for which the designated hedge cash �ows 
are probable of occurring, the unrealized gain or loss recorded in OCI is amortized to Gains on securitization activities and income from 
securitization retained interests, in the consolidated statements of income.

The Company also uses TRSs to hedge the risk of changes in future cash �ows related to its DSU plan and the Company has not applied 
hedge accounting to these derivative instruments.  The value of the DSU is linked to the price of the Company’s common shares over the 
period the TRS is in e�ect.  The fair value of the TRS is included in Other assets and/or Other liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets and 
changes in fair value of these TRSs being recorded in Non-interest expense – compensation and bene�ts in the consolidated statements of 
income for the period in which the changes occur.

Fair value hedges

The Company enters into interest rate swap agreements to manage interest rate exposures on �xed rate deposits used to fund �oating 
rate mortgages. The fair values of these interest rate swap agreements is included in Other assets and/or Other liabilities with changes in 
fair value recorded in Interest expense – deposits. Changes in the fair value of deposits attributable to the hedged risks are also included in 
Interest expense – deposits. For most hedging relationships, the Company has applied hedge accounting.
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In order for a derivative to qualify as an accounting hedge, the hedging relationship must be designated and formally documented at its 
inception, detailing the particular risk management objective and strategy for the hedge and the speci�c asset, liability or cash �ow being 
hedged, the hedging instrument, as well as how its e�ectiveness is being assessed. Changes in the fair value of the derivative must be 
highly e�ective in o�setting changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability. Hedge e�ectiveness is evaluated at the inception of 
the hedging relationship and on an ongoing basis, retrospectively and prospectively, primarily using quantitative statistical measures of 
correlation. 

The Company enters into bond forwards to manage interest rate exposures for certain mortgage commitments and funded mortgages 
until the date they are securitized. The fair values of these bond forwards are included in Other assets and/or Other liabilities with changes 
in fair value recorded in Other income – gains on securitization activities and income from securitization retained interests. Changes in fair 
value of mortgages and mortgage commitments are also included in Other income – gains on securitization activities and income from 
securitization retained interests. The Company does not apply hedge accounting to these derivative instruments.

The Company’s hedging activities are transacted with approved counterparties, which are limited to Canadian chartered banks, their 
subsidiaries and other �nancial intermediaries. 

(j)  Compensation plans:

The Company o�ers several bene�t programs to eligible employees. These bene�ts include a deferred pro�t sharing plan, employee stock 
purchase plan, annual bonuses, and compensation in the form of share-based payments. 

(i) Short-term employee bene�ts

 Short-term employee bene�t obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is 
provided. A liability is recognized for the amount expected to be paid under short-term bonus plans if the Company has a present 
legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be 
estimated reliably. 

(ii) Deferred pro�t sharing plan (“DPSP”) 

 The Company has a DPSP under which the Company pays �xed contributions into a separate entity and will have no legal or 
constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions are recognized as an expense in income when they are 
due in respect of service rendered before the end of the reporting period.  

(iii) Stock-based compensation

 Stock option plan:

 The Company has a stock option plan for eligible employees of Equitable Bank. Under this plan, options are periodically awarded to 
participants to purchase common shares at prices equal to the closing market price of the shares or the volume-weighted average 
closing price of the Company’s common shares on the TSX for the �ve consecutive trading days immediately prior to the date the 
options were granted. The Company uses the fair value-based method of accounting for stock options and recognizes compensation 
expense based on the fair value of the options on the date of the grant, which is determined using the Black-Scholes option 
pricing model. The fair value of the options is recognized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period of the options granted as 
compensation expense with a corresponding increase in Contributed surplus. The awards are delivered in tranches; each tranche is 
considered a separate award and is valued and amortized separately. Expected forfeitures are factored into determining the stock 
option expense and the estimates are periodically adjusted in the event of actual forfeitures or for changes in expectations. The 
Contributed surplus balance is reduced as the options are exercised and the amount initially recorded for the options in Contributed 
surplus is reclassi�ed to capital stock. Compensation expense related to the stock-based compensation plan is included in Non-
interest expense – compensation and bene�ts in the consolidated statements of income.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015
($ THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE, PER SHARE AND STOCK OPTION AMOUNTS)



83

 RSU plan:

 The Company has an RSU plan and may grant RSUs and/or Performance Share Units (“PSUs”) to eligible employees on an annual 
basis. The expense related to the award of these units is included in Non-interest expense – compensation and bene�ts in the 
consolidated statements of income over the vesting period and any corresponding liability is included in Other liabilities in the 
consolidated balance sheets. Since each RSU or PSU represents a notional common share, any changes in unit value and re-invested 
notional dividend amounts are recognized in the consolidated statements of income. Each RSU or PSU held at the end of the vesting 
period including those acquired as dividend equivalents will be paid to the eligible employee in cash, the value of which will be 
based on the volume-weighted average closing price of the Company’s common shares on the TSX for the �ve consecutive trading 
days immediately prior to the vesting.  The value of PSUs may be increased or decreased up to 25%, based on the Company’s relative 
total shareholder return compared to a de�ned peer group of �nancial institutions in Canada, and the incremental expense or 
recovery on those shares is recorded when the Company can reliably estimate the actual payout.

 DSU plan:

 The Company has a DSU plan for Directors. The obligation that results from the award of a DSU is recognized in income upon the 
grant of the unit and the corresponding amount is included in Other liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. A Director will 
be credited with additional DSUs whenever a cash dividend is declared by the Company. The change in the obligation attributable 
to the change in stock price of Equitable Group Inc. and dividends paid on common shares is recognized in Non-interest expense – 
Compensation and bene�ts in the consolidated statements of income for the period in which the changes occur. The redemption 
value of each DSU is the volume-weighted average trading price of the common shares of Equitable Group Inc. on the TSX for the 
�ve trading days immediately prior to the redemption date.

 Employee stock purchase (“ESP”) plan:

 The Company has an ESP plan for its employees. Under this plan, employees have the option of directing a portion of their gross 
salary towards the purchase of the Company’s common shares. The Company matches a �xed portion of employee share purchases 
up to a speci�ed maximum. Employer contributions are recognized in Non-interest expense – Compensation and bene�ts in the 
period incurred.

(k)  Income taxes:

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognized in income except to the extent that it 
relates to items recognized directly in OCI or equity. Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for 
the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous 
years.

The Company follows the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under the asset and liability method, deferred tax 
assets and liabilities represent the amount of tax applicable to temporary di�erences between the carrying amounts of the assets and 
liabilities and their values for tax purposes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted or substantively enacted tax rates 
expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary di�erences are expected to be recovered or settled. The e�ect 
on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the years that include the date of enactment or 
substantive enactment.

Current tax assets and liabilities are o�set if there is a legally enforceable right to o�set current tax assets against current tax liabilities, 
usually in respect of income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, and the Company intends to settle current 
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or settle the tax assets and liabilities simultaneously.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are o�set if the Company has a legally enforceable right to set o� the deferred tax assets and liabilities 
related to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on either the same taxable entity; or di�erent taxable entities, but the entities 
intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or their tax assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously for each future 
period in which these di�erences reverse.
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A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary di�erences to the extent that it is probable 
that future taxable pro�ts will be available against which they can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and 
are reduced to the extent it is no longer probable that the related tax bene�t will be realized. 

(l)  Capital assets:

Capital assets are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is calculated using a declining balance method over the 
estimated useful lives of the assets at the following annual rates as this most closely re�ects the pattern of consumption of the future 
economic bene�ts:

Capital asset categories Rate of depreciation
Furniture, �xtures and o�ce equipment 20%
Computer hardware and software 30%

Leasehold improvements are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the lesser of the lease term and the estimated useful life of the asset.

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at each �nancial year end and adjusted appropriately. 

(m)  Intangible assets:

Intangible assets are comprised of internally generated system and software development costs. An intangible asset is recognized only 
when its cost can be reliably measured and includes all directly attributable costs necessary to create the asset to be capable of operating 
in the manner intended by management. Research costs are expensed and eligible development costs are capitalized. Intangible assets 
are carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses, if any, in the consolidated balance sheets. The 
company’s intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over their useful lives, ranging from 3 to 10 years. Amortization expenses 
are included in Non-interest expenses – other in the consolidated statements of income.

Intangible assets, including those under development are assessed for indicators of impairment at each reporting period. If there’s an 
indication that impairment exists, the Company performs an impairment test by comparing the carrying amount of the intangible asset to 
its recoverable amount. If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount is written down to its recoverable 
amount and an impairment loss is recognized in the consolidated statements of income.

(n)  Leases:

Operating leases 

Operating lease rentals payable are recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, which commences when the 
property is available for use. Free rent periods are treated as a reduction of rental expense and are also recognized over the lease term on a 
straight-line basis. 

(o)  Deposits:

Deposits are comprised of GICs, High Interest Savings Accounts (“HISA”) and institutional deposit notes. Deposits, with the exception of 
those designated as at fair value through income, are recorded on the consolidated balance sheets at amortized cost plus accrued interest, 
using the e�ective interest rate method. Deferred deposit agent commissions are accounted for as a component of deposits with the 
amortization of these commissions, with the exception of commissions relating to deposits designated as at fair value through income, 
which are expensed as incurred, and are calculated on an e�ective yield basis as a component of interest expense. 

(p)  Obligations under repurchase agreements:

Investments sold under repurchase agreements represent sales of Government of Canada guaranteed debt securities by the Company 
e�ected with a simultaneous agreement to purchase the assets back at a speci�ed price on a speci�ed future date, which is generally 
short term. Repurchase agreements are treated as borrowings and are carried at amortized cost, plus accrued interest, using the e�ective 
interest rate method, recorded in the consolidated balance sheets at the respective prices at which the investments were originally sold plus 
accrued interest. Interest expense relating to repurchase agreements is recorded in Interest expense – other in the consolidated statements 
of income. 
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(q)  Bank facilities and debentures:

Bank facilities and debentures are recorded in the consolidated balance sheets at amortized cost using the e�ective interest rate method. 

(r)  Share capital:

Issuance costs

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of an equity instrument are deducted from the initial measurement of the equity 
instruments and is presented net of tax. 

(s)  Fees:

Other income includes ancillary fees related to the administration of the mortgage portfolio. These fees are accrued and recognized as the 
related services are rendered. 

(t)  Earnings per share:

Earnings per share is computed by dividing net income available to common shareholders by the weighted average number of common 
shares outstanding for the year. Net income available to common shareholders is determined by deducting the dividend entitlements of 
preferred shareholders from net income. Diluted earnings per share re�ects the potential dilution that could occur if additional common 
shares are assumed to be issued under securities or contracts that entitle their holders to obtain common shares in the future. The number 
of additional shares for inclusion in diluted earnings per share calculations is determined using the treasury stock method. Under this 
method, stock options which exercise price is less than the average market price of the Company's common shares are assumed to be 
exercised and the proceeds are used to repurchase common shares at the average market price for the year. The incremental number of 
common shares issued under stock options and repurchased from proceeds is included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share. 

(u)  Provisions:

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be estimated 
reliably, and it is probable that an out�ow of economic bene�ts will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by 
discounting the expected future cash �ows at a pre-tax rate that re�ects current market assessments of the time value of money. 

(v)  Future accounting changes:

(i)  Financial Instruments (IFRS 9)

 On July 24, 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, which will replace IAS 39 and covers three broad topics: Classi�cation 
and Measurement, Impairment and Hedging. 

 On June 21, 2016, OSFI issued its �nal guideline on IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and Disclosures. The guideline provides guidance to 
Federally Regulated Entities on the application of IFRS 9, including the implementation of the expected credit loss framework under 
IFRS 9. The guideline is consistent with the BCBS Guidance on credit risk and accounting for expected credit losses, issued on December 
18, 2015, which sets out supervisory expectations on sound credit risk practices associated with the implementation of expected 
credit loss accounting models. The OSFI guideline will be e�ective for Equitable Bank beginning on January 1, 2018, consistent with 
the adoption of IFRS 9.

 Implementation approach

 The adoption of IFRS 9 is a signi�cant initiative for the Company involving substantial �nance, risk management and technology 
resources. The project is managed through a governance structure that includes an Executive Steering Committee (EC) comprised 
of senior levels of management from risk management and �nance. The EC is responsible for the overall implementation of IFRS 
9, ensuring integration throughout the Company and providing executive review and approval of key decisions made during the 
transition process.  Periodic reporting on the progress against plan is provided to the EC and the Company’s senior management.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015
($ THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE, PER SHARE AND STOCK OPTION AMOUNTS)



86

 To date, as per the plan, the Company’s e�orts have largely been focused on updating accounting policies to address key aspects 
of the Standard, developing risk models and associated methodologies, and conducting training sessions to impacted internal 
stakeholders. The Company will complete the development and validation of the impairment models for the calculation of expected 
credit losses in 2017 to support a parallel run during 2017. The Company will update accounting policy manuals, internal control 
documents, implement changes to business and �nancial reporting processes and systems, and enhance the Company’s existing 
governance process to support the high quality implementation of the Standard by January 1, 2018. The following is a summary of 
some of the more signi�cant items that are likely to be important in understanding the impact of the implementation of IFRS 9:

 Classi�cation and Measurement

 The standard considers two criteria when determining the measurement basis for debt instruments held as �nancial assets: i) its 
business model for managing those �nancial assets and ii) the cash �ow characteristics of the assets. Based on these criteria, debt 
instruments are measured at amortized cost, fair value through OCI, or fair value through the Consolidated Statement of Income. 
Equity investments are measured at fair value through the Consolidated Statement of Income. However, the Company may, at initial 
recognition of a non-trading equity investment, irrevocably elect to designate the investment as fair value through OCI, with no 
subsequent recycling to the Consolidated Statement of Income and dividend income recognized in the Consolidated Statement of 
Income. This designation is also available to existing non-trading equity investments at the date of adoption of IFRS 9.

 The Company is currently in the process of assessing the business models and contractual cash �ow characteristics of all the �nancial 
assets held by the Company.  

 Impairment

 The standard introduces a new single model for the measurement of impairment losses on all �nancial instruments including loans 
and debt securities measured at amortized cost or at fair value through OCI. The IFRS 9 expected credit loss (ECL) model is forward 
looking and replaces the current “incurred loss” model of IAS 39.  Expected credit losses under IFRS 9 are the present value of all cash 
shortfalls related to default events either (i) over the following twelve months or (ii) over the expected life of a �nancial instrument 
depending on credit deterioration from inception. ECL should re�ect an unbiased, probability-weighted outcome as opposed to the 
single best estimate allowed under the current approach. 

 The ECL model uses a three stage approach based on the extent of credit deterioration since origination: 

 Stage 1 – 12-month ECL applies to all �nancial assets that have not experienced a signi�cant increase in credit risk (SIR) since 
origination and are not credit impaired. The ECL will be computed using a 12-month probability of default (‘PD’) that represents the 
PD occurring over the next 12 months or less in line with the maturity pro�le of the asset.

 Stage 2 – When a �nancial asset experiences a SIR since origination but is not credit impaired, it is considered to be in Stage 2. This 
requires the computation of ECL based on lifetime PD that represents the PD occurring over the remaining lifetime of the �nancial 
asset.  

 Stage 3 – Financial assets that have an objective evidence of impairment will be included in this stage. Similar to Stage 2, the 
allowance for credit losses will continue to capture the lifetime expected credit losses for such loans. 

 Macroeconomic factors and forward looking indicators are required to be incorporated into the measurement of ECL as well as 
the determination of whether there has been a signi�cant increase in credit risk since origination. Measurement of ECLs at each 
reporting period should re�ect reasonable and supportable information at the reporting date about past events, current conditions 
and forecasts of future economic conditions. The assessment of whether there has been a SIR is to be performed at each reporting 
date.

 The Company is currently in the process of developing and testing the key models required under IFRS 9 and has not yet quanti�ed 
the impact on the collective allowance.
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 Hedging

 The new general hedge accounting principles under IFRS 9 are aimed to align hedge accounting more closely with risk 
management.  This new standard does not fundamentally change the types of hedging relationships or the requirement to measure 
and recognize ine�ectiveness, however, it is expected to provide more hedging strategies that are used for risk management to 
qualify for hedge accounting and introduce more judgment to assess the e�ectiveness of a hedging relationship.

 The Company is permitted to adopt the hedge accounting requirements of IFRS 9 concurrently or to defer the adoption of the hedge 
accounting requirements of the standard to a future period.  The Company is currently considering deferring the adoption of these 
requirements, although it will implement the revised hedge accounting disclosures.

(ii)  Revenue from Contracts with Customers (IFRS 15)

 On May 28, 2014 the IASB issued IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with customers. The standard contains a single model that applies 
to contracts with customers and two approaches to recognizing revenue: at a point in time or over time.  The model features a 
contract-based �ve-step analysis of transactions to determine whether how much and when revenue is recognized.  New estimates 
and judgmental thresholds have been introduced, which may a�ect the amount and/or timing of revenue recognized.

 IFRS 15 is mandatorily e�ective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018 and the Company does not expect any 
signi�cant changes of IFRS 15 on its �nancial statements.

(iii) Leases (IFRS 16)

 In January 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16 Leases.  The standard introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to 
recognize assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. A lessee 
is required to recognize a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying leased asset and a lease liability representing 
its obligation to make lease payments.

 IFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in IAS 17. IFRS 16 is e�ective for annual periods beginning 
on or after January 1, 2019 and is available for early adoption. The Company is in the process of evaluating the impact of IFRS 16 on 
its �nancial statements.

Note 4 – Risk Management

The Company, like other �nancial institutions, is exposed to the symptoms and e�ects of global economic conditions and other factors 
that could adversely a�ect its business, �nancial condition and operating results, which may also in�uence an investor to buy, sell or hold 
shares in the Company.  Many of these risk factors are beyond the Company’s direct control.  The use of �nancial instruments exposes the 
Company to credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. A discussion of the Company’s risk exposures and how it manages those risks can be 
found in the Risk Management section of the Company’s MD&A on pages 52-62.

Note 5 – Financial Instruments

The Company’s business activities result in a consolidated balance sheet that consists primarily of �nancial instruments.  The majority of the 
Company’s net income is derived from gains, losses, income and expenses related to these �nancial assets and liabilities. 

(a) Valuation methods and assumptions:

Valuation methods and assumptions used to estimate fair values of �nancial instruments are as follows:

(i) Financial instruments whose cost or amortized cost approximates fair value

 The fair value of Cash and cash equivalents and Restricted cash approximate their cost due to their short term nature.

 Securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements, obligations under repurchase agreements, bank facilities and certain 
other �nancial assets and liabilities are carried at cost or amortized cost, which approximates fair value. 
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(ii)  Financial instruments classi�ed as available for sale and as at fair value through income

 These �nancial assets and �nancial liabilities are measured on the consolidated balance sheets at fair value.  For �nancial instruments 
measured at fair value where active market prices are available, bid prices are used for �nancial assets and ask prices for �nancial 
liabilities. For those �nancial instruments measured at fair value that are not traded in an active market, fair value estimates are 
determined using valuation methods which maximize the use of observable market data and include discounted cash �ow analysis 
and other commonly used valuation techniques.

(iii) Mortgages receivable

 The estimated fair value of mortgages receivable is determined using a discounted cash �ow calculation and the market interest 
rates o�ered for mortgages with similar terms and credit risks.

(iv) Deposits

 The estimated fair value of deposits is determined by discounting expected future contractual cash �ows using observed market 
interest rates o�ered for deposits with similar terms. Deposit liabilities include GICs that are measured at fair value through income 
and are guaranteed by Canada Deposit Insurance Corporation (“CDIC”).  This guarantee from CDIC is re�ected in the fair value 
measurement of the deposit liabilities. 

(v) Securitization liabilities

 The estimated fair value of securitization liabilities is determined by discounting expected future contractual cash �ows using 
market interest rates o�ered for similar terms.

(vi) Debentures

 The estimated fair value of the debentures are determined by discounting expected future contractual cash �ows using market 
interest rates o�ered for similar terms.

(vii) Derivatives 

 Fair value estimates of derivative �nancial instruments are determined based on commonly used pricing methodologies (primarily 
discounted cash �ow models) that incorporate observable market data. Frequently applied valuation techniques incorporate various 
inputs such as stock prices, bond prices and interest rate curves into present value calculations.
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The following tables present the carrying values for each category of �nancial assets and liabilities and their estimated fair values as at 
December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015.  The tables do not include assets and liabilities that are not considered �nancial instruments.

2016
    Financial        Loans and 
   Financial instruments      receivables/ 
   instruments  designated as      �nancial 
   classi�ed as at fair value      liabilities at  Total
    held for  through  Held to   Available cost or   carrying 

trading income maturity   for sale amortized cost  value  Fair value

Financial assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 444,179 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 444,179 $ 444,179
Restricted cash  247,878   -   -   -   -   247,878   247,878
Securities purchased under reverse

repurchase agreements  -   -   -   -   199,401   199,401   199,401
Investments  308   -   2,499   132,911   1,000   136,718   136,718
Mortgages receivable – Core Lending  -   47,283   -   -   10,631,169   10,678,452   10,737,431
Mortgages receivable – Securitization

Financing  25,196   -   -   -   7,080,155   7,105,351   7,185,403
Securitization retained interests  -   -   -   88,782   -   88,782   88,782
Other assets:                   

Derivative �nancial instruments:                   
interest rate swaps   3,673   -   -   -   -   3,673   3,673
total return swaps  1,042  -  -  -   -   1,042   1,042
bond forwards  456  -  -  -   -   456   456

Mortgage commitments  48   -   -   -   -   48   48
Other  -   -   -   -   12,320   12,320   12,320

Total �nancial assets $ 722,780 $ 47,283 $ 2,499 $ 221,693 $ 17,924,045 $ 18,918,300 $ 19,057,331

Financial liabilities: 
Deposits  $ - $ 43,863 $ - $ - $ 9,719,219 $ 9,763,082 $ 9,761,039
Securitization liabilities  -  -  -  -   7,762,632   7,762,632   7,811,834
Obligations under repurchase agreements  -   -   -   -   112,488   112,488   112,488
Other liabilities:                    

Derivative �nancial instruments:                     
interest rate swaps   158   -   -   -   -   158   158
bond forwards  113   -   -   -   -   113   113

Other  -   -   -   -   183,602   183,602   183,602
Bank facilities  -   -   -   -   50,000   50,000   50,000
Debentures  -   -   -   -   65,000   65,000   65,363
Total �nancial liabilities $ 271 $ 43,863 $ - $ - $ 17,892,941 $ 17,937,075 $ 17,984,597
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2015
    Financial    Loans and 
   Financial instruments      receivables/ 
   instruments  designated as      �nancial 
   classi�ed as at fair value      liabilities at  Total
    held for  through  Held to   Available cost or   carrying 

trading income maturity   for sale amortized cost  value  Fair value

Financial assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 423,366 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 423,366 $ 423,366
Restricted cash  107,988  - -  -  -  107,988  107,988
Securities purchased under reverse  
 repurchase agreements  -  - -  -  19,918  19,918  19,918

Investments  891  - 2,395  149,428  1,000  153,714  153,714
Mortgages receivable – Core Lending  -  47,707 -  -  8,626,892  8,674,599  8,706,580
Mortgages receivable – Securitization 
  Financing  45,019  - -  -  5,981,188  6,026,207  6,214,016

Securitization retained interests  -  - -  61,650  -  61,650  61,650
Other assets: 
 Derivative �nancial instruments:  
  interest rate swaps  990  - -  -  -  990  990
 Mortgage commitments  2  - -  -  -  2  2
 Other  -  - -  -  8,216  8,216  8,216

Total �nancial assets $ 578,256 $ 47,707 $ 2,395 $ 211,078 $ 14,637,214 $ 15,476,650 $ 15,696,440

Financial liabilities: 
Deposits  $ - $ 45,431 $ - $ - $ 8,165,834 $ 8,211,265 $ 8,240,920
Securitization liabilities  -  - -  -  6,109,436  6,109,436  6,237,077
Other liabilities: 
 Derivative �nancial instruments:  
  bond forwards  1,592  - -  -  -  1,592  1,592
  total return swaps  879  - -  -  -  879  879
 Other  -  - -  -  78,510  78,510  78,510

Bank Facilities  -  - -  -  235,779  235,779  235,779
Debentures  -  - -  -  65,000  65,000  65,987
Total �nancial liabilities $ 2,471 $ 45,431 $ - $ - $ 14,654,559 $ 14,702,461 $ 14,860,744

(b)  Fair value hierarchy:

Financial instruments recorded at fair value on the consolidated balance sheets are classi�ed using a fair value hierarchy that re�ects the 
signi�cance of the inputs used in making the measurements.

The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

Level 1: valuation based on quoted prices (unadjusted) observed in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.

Level 2:   valuation techniques based on inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are either directly or indirectly observable  
for the asset or liability. 

Level 3:  valuation techniques with signi�cant unobservable market inputs.
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The fair value hierarchy requires the use of observable market inputs whenever such inputs exist. The objective of valuation techniques is to 
arrive at a fair value determination that re�ects the price of the �nancial instrument at the reporting date that would have been determined 
by market participants acting at arm’s length. A �nancial instrument is classi�ed to the lowest level of the hierarchy for which a signi�cant 
input has been considered in measuring fair value.

The following tables presents the �nancial instruments recorded at fair value in the consolidated balance sheets, classi�ed using the fair 
value hierarchy:

2016
      Total �nancial assets/
      �nancial liabilities

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 at fair value

Financial assets: 
Investments $ 111,177 $ 2,499 $ 23,042 $ 136,718
Mortgages receivable − Core Lending  -    47,283   10,690,148   10,737,431
Mortgages receivable − Securitization Financing  -    25,196   7,160,207   7,185,403
Securitization retained interests  -    88,782   -    88,782
Other assets:

Derivative �nancial instruments:
bond forwards  -    456   -    456
interest rate swaps  -    3,478   195   3,673
total return swaps  -    326   716   1,042

Mortgage commitments   -    -    48   48
Total �nancial assets  $ 111,177 $ 168,020 $ 17,874,356 $ 18,153,553

Financial liabilities:
Deposits  $ -  $ -  $ 9,761,039 $ 9,761,039
Securitization liabilities  -    1,414,907   6,396,927   7,811,834
Other liabilities:

Derivative �nancial instruments:
bond forwards  -    113   -    113
interest rate swaps  -    -    158   158

Debentures    -    65,363   -    65,363
Total �nancial liabilities  $ -  $ 1,480,383 $ 16,158,124 $ 17,638,507
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2015
      Total �nancial assets/
      �nancial liabilities

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 at fair value

Financial assets: 
Investments  $ 150,319 $ 2,395 $ 1,000 $ 153,714
Mortgages receivable  − Core Lending  -   47,707   8,658,873  8,706,580
Mortgages receivable  − Securitization Financing  -   45,019   6,168,997  6,214,016
Securitization retained interests  -   61,650   -   61,650
Other assets:

Derivative �nancial instruments:
interest rate swaps  -   -     990  990

Mortgage Commitments  -   -    2  2
Total �nancial assets  $ 150,319 $ 156,771 $ 14,829,862 $ 15,136,952

Financial liabilities:
Deposits  $ -  $ -  $ 8,240,920 $ 8,240,920
Securitization liabilities  -   1,531,629   4,705,448  6,237,077
Other liabilities:

Derivative �nancial instruments:
bond forwards  -   1,592   -   1,592
total return swaps  -   879   -   879

Debentures  -   65,987   -   65,987
Total �nancial liabilities  $ -  $ 1,600,087 $ 12,946,368 $ 14,546,455

Note 6 – Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

   2016  2015

Deposits with regulated �nancial institutions  $  444,179 $ 423,366
Cash and cash equivalents  $  444,179 $ 423,366

Restricted cash – securitization  $  231,872 $ 84,658
Restricted cash – interest rate swaps   15,505  22,904
Restricted cash – other programs   501  426
Restricted cash  $  247,878 $ 107,988

Restricted cash – securitization represents deposits held in trust in connection with the Company’s securitization activities.  These deposits 
include cash accounts held at a major Schedule I Canadian Bank that hold principal and interest payments collected from securitized 
mortgages awaiting payment to their respective investors, deposits held as collateral by third parties for the Company’s securitization 
hedging activities and deposits held in interest reinvestment accounts in connection with the Company’s participation in the CMB program. 

Restricted cash – interest rate swaps represent deposits held as collateral by third parties for the Company’s interest rate swap transactions.  
The terms and conditions of these arrangements with counterparties are governed by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, 
Inc. (ISDA) agreements.

Restricted cash – other programs represent deposits held as collateral in connection with our Home Equity line of credit and deposit 
programs. These balances may be drawn upon only in the event of insu�cient cash �ows from the underlying programs. 
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Note 7 – Investments

Carrying value of investments, categorized by type and maturity are as follows:

    2016 2015
    Maturities
    Over Over     With no 
  Within 1   1 to 3  3 to 5  Over 5  speci�c 
  year years years years maturity  Total  Total

Equity securities – preferred shares   $  -  $  2,891 $  -  $  -  $  107,806 $  110,697 $  133,053
Equity securities – common shares    -    -    -    -    480   480   971
Debt securities guaranteed by  

Government of Canada  -  -   -   -   -  -  16,295
Debt securities – Successor issuer rights    12,722   9,180   140   -    -   22,042  -
Debt securities – corporate debt      -     -     -     -     1,000    1,000    1,000
Canada Housing Trust re-investment accounts(1)     185    1,992    322    -     -    2,499    2,395
   $  12,907 $  14,063 $  462 $  -  $  109,286 $  136,718 $  153,714

(1) Canada Housing Trust re-investment accounts are restricted investments, held to repay the securitization liabilities in connection with the Company's participation in the CMB program.

Net unrealized gains (losses) on available for sale investments recorded in Accumulated other comprehensive loss are as follows:

   2016 2015

Equity securities – preferred shares $  (28,251) $  (33,111)
Equity securities – common shares  53   25
Debt securities guaranteed by Government of Canada - 1,127
Debt securities – Successor issuer rights  (94)  -
   $ (28,292) $  (31,959)
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Note 8 – Mortgages Receivable

(a) Mortgages receivable:

     Allowance for credit losses
2016   Gross amount Individual Collective Total Net amount

Mortgages – Core Lending   $  10,678,733 $ 1,389 $ 31,890 $ 33,279 $ 10,645,454
Mortgages – Securitization Financing    7,093,828  -   -   -   7,093,828
Accrued interest   45,668  1,147  -   1,147  44,521

  $ 17,818,229 $ 2,536 $ 31,890 $ 34,426 $ 17,783,803

        Allowance for credit losses
2015   Gross amount  Individual Collective Total Net amount

Mortgages – Core Lending   $ 8,678,968 $ 494 $ 31,890 $ 32,384 $ 8,646,584
Mortgages – Securitization Financing   6,014,263  -   -   -   6,014,263
Accrued interest   40,791  832  -   832  39,959
    $ 14,734,022 $ 1,326 $ 31,890 $ 33,216 $ 14,700,806

Mortgages – Securitization Financing include mortgages classi�ed as held for trading that are carried at fair value with changes in fair value 
included in Gains on securitization activities and income from securitization retained interests. As at December 31, 2016, mortgage principal 
outstanding on these mortgages is $25,196 (December 31, 2015 – $45,019, and the fair value adjustment is ($122) (December 31, 2015 – 
($206)).

Included in Mortgages – Core Lending are certain mortgages designated as at fair value through income and are carried at fair value with 
changes in fair value included in Interest income – Mortgages – Core Lending.  As at December 31, 2016, mortgage principal outstanding 
for these mortgages was $46,451 (December 31, 2015 – $46,120) and the fair value adjustment was $832 (December 31, 2015 – $1,587).
The impact of changes in fair value for mortgages designated as at fair value through income is as follows:

     2016  2015

Net loss in fair values for mortgages held for trading included in Gains on securitization
 activities and income from securitization retained interests  $  (328) $  (12)

Net loss in fair values for mortgages designated as at fair value through income and 
 recognized in interest income – Mortgages – Core Lending  $  (755) $  (355)

Mortgages receivable that are scheduled to be settled within one year are as follows:

   2016  2015

Mortgages – Core Lending  $  4,749,000 $  4,028,533
Mortgages – Securitization Financing   760,188   695,295
  $  5,509,188 $ 4,723,828
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(b) Impaired and past due mortgages:

The Company classi�es a mortgage receivable as impaired when, in the opinion of management, there is reasonable doubt as to the timely 
collectability, either in whole or in part, of principal or interest. As a matter of practice, a conventional mortgage is deemed to be impaired 
at the earlier of the date it has been individually provided for or when contractual payments are past due 90 days. Insured mortgages are 
considered impaired when they are contractually past due 365 days; however, management does not anticipate credit losses on such 
mortgages as they are insured.

As at December 31, 2016, accrued interest on impaired mortgages amounted to $1,261 (December 31, 2015 – $902).

Outstanding impaired mortgages, net of individual allowances are as follows: 

  2016 2015
     Individual 
   Gross   allowance   Net Net

Mortgages – Core Lending  $  38,846 $  2,536 $  36,310 $  32,760
Mortgages – Core Lending – Insured   519   -    519   97
Mortgages – Securitization Financing – Insured   -    -    -    - 
  $  39,365 $  2,536 $  36,829 $  32,857

Outstanding mortgages that are past due but not classi�ed as impaired are as follows: 

    2016
  30 − 59 days 60 − 89 days 90 days or more  Total

Mortgages – Core Lending  $  24,082 $  12,350 $  -  $  36,432
Mortgages – Core Lending – Insured   678   1,324   224   2,226
Mortgages – Securitization Financing – Insured   4,312   1,123   393   5,828
  $  29,072 $  14,797 $  617 $  44,486

    2015
  30 − 59 days 60 − 89 days 90 days or more Total

Mortgages – Core Lending  $  28,656 $  8,012 $  -  $ 36,668
Mortgages – Core Lending – Insured   1,200   820   2,255  4,275
Mortgages – Securitization Financing – Insured   3,503   628   313  4,444
    $ 33,359 $ 9,460 $ 2,568 $ 45,387
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(c) Allowance for credit losses:

    2016
  Individual allowance Collective allowance  Total

Balance, beginning of year  $  1,326 $  31,890 $  33,216
Provision for credit losses     2,445  -   2,445
Realized losses    (1,298)    -    (1,298)
Recoveries    63   -   63
Balance, end of year  $  2,536 $  31,890 $  34,426

    2015
  Individual allowance Collective allowance  Total

Balance, beginning of year  $  3,937 $  29,510 $  33,447
Provision for credit losses    1,258   2,380   3,638
Realized losses    (3,901)   -   (3,901)
Recoveries    32   -   32
Balance, end of year  $  1,326 $  31,890 $  33,216

Note 9 – Derecognition of �nancial assets

In the normal course of business, the Company enters into transactions that result in the transfer of �nancial assets. In accordance with 
Note 3(a)(iii) and 3(h), transferred �nancial assets are recognized in their entirety or derecognized in their entirety, subject to the extent 
of the Company’s continuing involvement. The Company transfers its �nancial assets through sale and repurchase agreements and its 
securitization activities.

(a) Transferred �nancial assets that are not derecognized in their entirety: 

Obligations under repurchase agreements

Obligations under repurchase agreements are transactions in which the Company sells a security and simultaneously agrees to repurchase 
it at a �xed price on a future date. The Company continues to recognize the securities in their entirety on the consolidated balance sheets 
because it retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. The cash consideration received is recognized as a �nancial asset and 
the obligation to pay the repurchase price is recognized as a �nancial liability.

Securitizations

The Company securitizes insured residential mortgages by selling its issued MBS to third party investors including a CMHC sponsored 
trust (Canada Housing Trust – “CHT”) under the CMB program. The Company may also retain certain issued MBS as part of its liquidity 
management strategy, as well as to manage interest rate risk associated with the Company’s participation in the CMB program. The CHT 
periodically issues CMB, which are guaranteed by the government, and sells them to third party investors. Proceeds from the CMB issuances 
are used by the CHT to purchase MBS from eligible MBS issuers who participate in the issuance of a particular CMB series.

Most of these securitization transactions do not qualify for derecognition as the Company continues to be exposed to substantially all of the 
risks and rewards associated with the transferred assets or it neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards and retains 
control in the asset. A key risk associated with transferred mortgages to which the Company remains exposed after the transfer in such 
securitization transactions is the prepayment risk. As a result, the mortgages continue to be recognized on the consolidated balance sheets 
at amortized cost and are accounted for as secured �nancing transactions, with the mortgages transferred pledged as collateral for these 
securitization liabilities.

The Company’s securitization activities include selling uninsured mortgages by entering into an agreement with another Schedule I bank 
and participating in a securitization program sponsored by that bank. Under this agreement, the Company sells the mortgages to the 
program and they remain in the program until maturity. The bank that sponsors the securitization program retains all of the re�nancing 
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risks related to the program. The sale of these mortgages does not qualify for derecognition as the Company continues to be exposed to 
substantially all of the risks and rewards associated with the transferred assets. As a result, the mortgages continue to be recognized on 
the consolidated balance sheets at amortized cost and the proceeds received are recognized under securitization liabilities. The mortgages 
transferred are pledged as collateral for these securitization liabilities.  

i) MBS securitizations

For MBS securitization liabilities, principal payments collected from the underlying mortgages are passed on to the MBS investors, reducing 
the amount of the liability outstanding on a monthly basis. Interest on the MBS securitization liability is calculated at the MBS coupon rate 
and is paid monthly to the MBS investors.

ii) CMB securitizations

As part of a CMB transaction, the Company may enter into total return swaps with highly rated counterparties, exchanging the cash �ows 
of the CMB for those of the MBS transferred to CHT. Any excess or shortfall in these cash �ows is absorbed by the Company. For transactions 
that fail derecognition, these swaps are not recognized on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets as the underlying cash �ows of 
these derivatives are captured through the continued recognition of the mortgages and their associated CMB securitization liabilities. 
Accordingly, these swaps are recognized on an accrual basis and are not fair valued through the Company’s consolidated statements of 
income. As at December 31, 2016, the notional amount of these swaps was $1,887,430 (December 31, 2015 – $1,424,072).

CMB securitization liabilities are non-amortizing bond liabilities with �xed maturity dates. Principal payments collected from the mortgages 
underlying the MBS sold to CHT are transferred to CHT on a monthly basis where they are held and invested in eligible investments until the 
maturity of the bond. To the extent that these eligible investments are not the Company’s own issued MBS, the investments are recorded 
on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets under Investments – Canada Housing Trust re-investment accounts. Interest on the CMB 
securitization liabilities is calculated at the CMB coupon rate and is paid to the CMB holders on a semi-annual basis.  

The following table provides information on the carrying amount and the fair values related to transferred �nancial assets that are not 
derecognized in their entirety and the associated liabilities:

  2016 2015
   Assets sold under   Assets sold under
   repurchase   repurchase 
  Securitized assets  agreements Securitized assets agreements

Carrying amount of assets  $  8,486,532 $  112,488 $  6,469,248 $ -
Carrying amount of associated liability   7,762,632    112,488   6,109,436  -
Carrying value, net position  $  723,900 $   -  $   359,812 $  -

Fair value of assets  $   8,567,106 $   -  $   6,659,389 $  -
Fair value of associated liability   7,811,749    -    6,237,077  -
Fair value, net position  $  755,357 $  -  $  422,312 $ -

The carrying amount of assets includes securitized assets that were retained by the Company and not transferred to third parties of  
$650,959 (December 31, 2015 – $290,434). The fair value of these assets are $644,768 (December 31, 2015 – $291,826).

The carrying amount of assets excludes mortgages held for securitization of $463,996 (December 31, 2015 – $484,778).
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The Company estimates that the principal amount of securitization liabilities will be paid as follows:

Other
Securitization Total

   MBS Liabilities CMB Liabilities Liabilities  Liabilities 

2017    $  643,919 $  76,346 $  100,483 $  820,748
2018       405,240    42,302    182,991    630,533
2019       633,651    -     302,329    935,980
2020       1,162,606    509,366    198,818    1,870,790
2021       1,380,758    628,801    216,915    2,226,474
Thereafter     1,235,026    75,688    -     1,310,714
  $ 5,461,200 $ 1,332,503 $ 1,001,536 $ 7,795,239

(b) Transfers that are derecognized in their entirety:

Certain securitization transactions undertaken by the Company result in the Company derecognizing the transferred assets in their entirety. 
This is the case where the Company has securitized and sold pools of residential mortgages with no prepayment option to third parties. The 
Company does not retain substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and transfers control over the assets. The Company retains 
some continuing involvement in the transaction which is represented by the retained interests and the associated servicing liabilities.

The Company also achieves derecognition on the securitization and sale of certain pools of residential mortgages with a prepayment 
option. In these transactions, the Company securitizes and sells pools of residential mortgages and then engages in a transaction to transfer 
its rights in the excess interest spread and/or any prepayment risk, thereby transferring substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
in the asset and derecognizing the asset in its entirety.

The following table provides quantitative information of the Company’s securitization activities and transfers that are derecognized in their 
entirety during the year:

   2016  2015 

Mortgages securitized and sold  $  1,328,487 $  617,015
Carrying value of Securitization retained interests   44,031   27,122
Carrying value of Securitized mortgage servicing liability   12,565   6,099
Gains on mortgages securitized and sold   8,135  5,247
Income from securitization activities and retained interests   537  639

During the year, the Company entered into transactions to transfer substantially all of the residual risks and rewards of securitized 
prepayable multi-residential mortgages to third parties. As a result, the Company derecognized $748,077 of multi-residential mortgages 
and recorded a gain on sale of $1,645 included in Mortgages securitized and sold and Gains on mortgages securitized and sold respectively.

The expected undiscounted cash �ows payable to the MBS holders on the Company's securitization activities and transfers that are 
derecognized in their entirety are as follows:

MBS Liabilities

2017  $  432,265
2018         607,047
2019         523,820
2020         618,241
2021         488,331
Thereafter       935,279
  $  3,604,983
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Note 10 – Derivative Financial Instruments

(a) Hedge instruments:

Cash �ow hedges

The Company's securitization activities are subject to interest rate risk, which represents the potential for changes in interest rates between 
the time the Company commits to funding a mortgage it intends to securitize through the issuance of a securitization liability, and the time 
the liability is actually issued. The Company utilizes derivative �nancial instruments in the form of bond forwards to hedge this exposure, 
with the intent to manage the change in cash �ows of the future interest payments on the highly probable forecasted issuance of the 
securitization liability. The Company applies hedge accounting to these derivative �nancial instruments to minimize the volatility in income 
caused by changes in interest rates.

During the year, the Company began hedging the risk of changes in future cash �ows related to its �oating rate securitization liabilities by 
entering into interest rate swaps. The Company applies hedge accounting to these derivative �nancial instruments to minimize the volatility 
in income caused by changes in interest rates.

The Company also hedges the risk of changes in future cash �ows related to its Restricted share unit plan by entering into total return 
equity swap contracts with third parties, the value of which is linked to the price of the Company’s common shares. Changes in the fair 
value of these derivative �nancial instruments o�set the compensation expense related to the change in share price, over the period in 
which the swap is in e�ect. The Company applies hedge accounting to these derivative �nancial instruments to minimize the volatility in 
income caused by changes in the Company’s share price.

The Company also hedges the risk of changes in future cash �ows related to its Deferred share unit plan by entering into a total return 
equity swap contract with a third party. The value of this derivative �nancial instrument is linked to the price of the Company’s common 
shares. Changes in fair value of the derivative o�sets the compensation expense related to the change in share price, over the period in 
which the swap is in e�ect. The Company does not apply hedge accounting to this derivative �nancial instrument.

Fair value hedges

The Company enters into hedging transactions to manage interest rate exposures on mortgage commitments and certain deposits used 
to fund �oating rate mortgages. The hedging instruments used to manage these exposures are interest rate swaps and bond forwards. The 
Company does not apply hedge accounting to these hedging relationships. 

The Company also enters into hedging transactions to manage interest rate exposure on certain �xed rate deposits and certain 
securitization liabilities, and applies hedge accounting to these relationships.

(b) Other derivatives:

Total return swaps 

As part of its CMB activities, the Company may assume reinvestment risk between the amortizing MBS and the bullet CMB for securitized 
mortgages which are derecognized.  The Company assumes this risk by entering into total return swaps with highly rated counterparties 
and exchanging the cash �ows of the CMB for those of the MBS transferred to CHT.  These swaps are recognized on the Company’s 
consolidated balances sheets and fair valued through the Company’s consolidated statements of income.
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(c)  Financial impact of derivatives:

The fair values and notional amounts of derivatives outstanding is as follows:

2016
    Positive current   Credit   Risk-  
   Notional replacement  equivalent   weighted   Fair value

Derivative instrument and term (years)  amount  cost(1) amount(2) balance(3) Assets Liabilities Net(4)

Cash �ow hedges:
Bond forwards – hedge accounting
 1 or less   $ 234,860 $ 916  $ 916  $ 522 $ 263 $ -  $ 263

Interest rate swaps – hedge accounting
 1 to 5   312,418   4,216    5,778    1,156    4,216   -    4,216 

Total return swaps – hedge accounting
 1 or less   1,551   -     93    19    -    (46)   (46)
 1 to 5   2,777  261   483   97   261  -   261 

Total return swaps – non-hedge accounting
 1 or less   1,833   110    220    44    110   -    110 

Fair value hedges:
Interest rate swaps – hedge accounting
 1 or less   100,000   195    695    139    195   -    195 
 1 to 5   142,000   -    710   142   -    (205)   (205)
 5 and above  24,634    -    123     25   -    (738)    (738)

Interest rate swaps – non-hedge accounting
 1 to 5   1,450   48    55    11    48   -    48 

Bond forwards – non-hedge accounting
 1 or less   36,850   80    80    80    80   -    80

Other derivatives:
Total return swaps
 1 to 5   386,511   176    2,109    422    176   -    176  
 5 and above   174,325  541   3,155   631   541  -   541
   $ 1,419,209 $ 6,543  $ 14,417  $ 3,288  $ 5,890 $ (989) $ 4,901 
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2015
    Positive current   Credit   Risk-  
   Notional replacement  equivalent   weighted   Fair value

Derivative instrument and term (years)  amount  cost(1) amount(2) balance(3) Assets Liabilities Net(4)

Cash �ow hedges:
Bond forwards –  hedge accounting
 1 or less   $ 210,125 $ -   $ -   $ -   $ -  $ (1,287) $ (1,287)

Total return swaps  – hedge accounting
 1 or less   1,379  -    -    -    -   (33)  (33)
 1 to 5   2,725  -    13   3   -   (469)  (469) 
Total return swaps –  hedge accounting
 1 or less   1,941  -    -    -    -   (377)  (377) 

Fair value hedges:
Interest rate swaps –  hedge accounting
 1 to 5   100,000  990   1,490   298   990  -   990 

Bond forwards –  non-hedge accounting
 1 or less   52,040  -    -    -    -   (305)  (305) 
   $ 368,210 $ 990  $ 1,503  $ 301  $ 990 $ (2,471) $ (1,481)

(1) Positive current replacement cost represents the cost of replacing all contracts that have a positive fair value, using current market rates.  It re�ects the unrealized gains on derivative 
instruments.

(2) Credit risk equivalent represents the total replacement cost plus an amount representing the potential future credit exposure, as outlined in OSFI’s Capital Adequacy Requirements 
Guideline.

(3) Risk-weighted balance is determined by applying the standardized approach for counterparty credit risk to the credit equivalent amount, as prescribed by OSFI.
(4) Derivative �nancial assets are included in Other assets (Note 12) and derivative �nancial liabilities are included in Other liabilities (Note 15).

Cash �ow hedges:

The impact of cash �ow hedges on the Company's consolidated �nancial results is as follows:

   2016  2015 

Fair value gains (losses) recorded in Other comprehensive income  $  6,863 $ (2,599)
Fair value losses recorded in income   (127)  (636)
Amounts reclassi�ed from Other comprehensive income to Interest expense – securitization liabilities   (3,145)  (3,090)
Amounts reclassi�ed from Other comprehensive income to Interest expense – deposits   (52)  -
Amounts reclassi�ed from Other comprehensive income to Non-Interest expenses – compensation and bene�ts   210  (530)

The time periods in which the undiscounted hedged cash out�ows are expected to occur and a�ect the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income are as follows:

Time period  2016  2015

Less than 1 year  $  66,743 $  68,562
1 – 3 years   110,174   120,367
4 – 5 years   81,072   75,817
Greater than 5 years   69,825   73,240
  $  327,814 $  337,986
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Fair value hedges:

Gain (loss) due to changes in fair value hedges included in the Company’s consolidated �nancial results is as follows:

   2016  2015

Interest rate swaps – hedge accounting  $ (1,001) $  2,432
Interest rate swaps – non-hedge accounting  -    (6)
Bond forwards  318   (57)
Changes in fair value recognized in income  $ (683) $ 2,369

Note 11 – O�setting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 

The disclosures in the table below include �nancial assets and �nancial liabilities that may or may not be o�set in the consolidated �nancial 
statements but are subject to agreements with netting arrangements which covers similar �nancial instruments irrespective of whether 
they are o�set in the consolidated �nancial statements. Such agreements include derivative agreements, collateral support agreements 
and repurchase agreements. Financial instruments include derivatives, securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements and 
obligations under repurchase agreements. 

The Company’s derivative transactions are entered into under ISDA master agreements. In general, amounts owed by each counterparty 
under an agreement are aggregated into a single net amount being payable by one party to the other. In certain cases all outstanding 
transactions under an agreement may be terminated and a single net amount including pledges is due or payable in settlement of these 
transactions. 

The Company’s securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements and obligations under repurchase agreements are covered by 
industry standard master agreements, which include netting provisions.

 The Company pledges and in certain cases receives collateral in the form of cash or securities in respect of the following transactions: 

• derivatives; 
• securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements; and 
• obligations under repurchase agreements. 

Such collateral is subject to the credit support agreement associated with ISDA agreements, or subject to standard industry terms of 
repurchase agreements. This means that cash or securities pledged/received as collateral can be sold during the term of the transaction but 
must be returned when the collateral is no longer required and/or on maturity. The terms also give each counterparty the right to terminate 
the related transactions upon the counterparty’s failure to post collateral. 
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Financial assets subject to o�setting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements:

    2016
Related amounts not

o�set on the
consolidated

balance sheets 
     Gross amounts
     of recognized Net amounts  Financial 
    Gross amounts �nancial liabilities   of �nancial assets  collateral 
    of recognized o�set on the  presented on the  (including)
    �nancial consolidated  consolidated  Financial  cash collateral  Net  

Types of �nancial assets  assets balance sheets balance sheets instruments received) amount

Derivatives held for risk management: 
 Interest rate swaps  $  391 $ (149) $  242 $  -  $  (242) $ -

Securities purchased under reverse 
repurchase agreements    199,401    -     199,401    -     (199,401)    -

  $  199,792 $ (149) $  199,643 $  -  $  (199,643) $ -

Financial liabilities subject to o�setting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements:

    2016
Related amounts not

o�set on the
consolidated

balance sheets 
     Gross amounts
     of recognized Net amounts of  Financial 
    Gross amounts �nancial assets   �nancial liabilities  collateral 
    of recognized o�set on the  presented on the  (including)
    �nancial consolidated  consolidated  Financial  cash collateral  Net

Types of �nancial liabilities  liabilities balance sheets balance sheets instruments received) amount

Derivatives held for risk management:
 Interest rate swaps  $ 354 $ (149) $ 205 $ -  $ (205) $ -

Obligations under repurchase  
agreements  112,488  -   112,488  (112,488)  -  -

  $ 112,842 $ (149) $ 112,693 $ (112,488) $ (205) $ -

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015
($ THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE, PER SHARE AND STOCK OPTION AMOUNTS)



104

Financial assets subject to o�setting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements: 

    2015
Related amounts not

o�set on the
consolidated

balance sheets 
     Gross amounts
     of recognized Net amounts  Financial 
    Gross amounts �nancial liabilities   of �nancial assets  collateral 
    of recognized o�set on the  presented on the  (including)
    �nancial consolidated  consolidated  Financial  cash collateral  Net 
Types of �nancial assets  assets balance sheets balance sheets instruments received) amount

Derivatives held for risk management:
Interest rate swaps  $ 990 $  -  $ 990 $  -  $  (885) $ 105

Securities purchased under reverse  
repurchase agreements  19,918   -   19,918   -    (19,918)  -

  $ 20,908 $  -  $ 20,908 $  -  $  (20,803) $ 105

There are no �nancial liabilities subject to o�setting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements.

Note 12 – Other Assets

  2016 2015

Capital assets  $  20,445 $   14,369
Intangible assets  18,998  18,836
Prepaid expenses and other   9,945   8,223
Receivable relating to securitization activities   8,998   5,524
Real estate owned   7,596   8,200
Derivative �nancial instruments: 

interest rate swaps  3,673   990
total return swaps   1,042  -
bond forwards   456  -

Accrued interest and dividends on non-mortgage assets   1,626   420
Mortgage commitments   48   2
Income taxes recoverable   -    3,578
  $ 72,827 $  60,142

Capital assets include leasehold improvements of $11,522 (December 31, 2015 – $6,320) related to an expansion and renovation of the 
Company’s leased head o�ce premises in Toronto.

Intangible assets are comprised of internally generated system and software development costs relating to the bank’s information systems.

Included in Prepaid expenses and other is a net receivable of $3.2 million (December 31, 2015 – $3.2 million) related to an alleged fraud 
that was identi�ed in 2011.  The Company is currently pursuing a recovery claim under our Financial Institution Bond, which is intended 
to protect against fraud losses.  There is no assurance that proceeds or recoveries, if any, will be received in a timely manner from these 
additional actions or that such proceeds will be su�cient to recover the full amount of the receivable.
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Note 13 – Deposits

  2016 2015

Term and other deposits  $  9,680,163 $  8,115,483
Accrued interest   103,362   113,563
Deferred deposit agent commissions   (20,443)   (17,781)
  $  9,763,082 $  8,211,265

Term and other deposits include $43,632 (December 31, 2015 − $45,193) of deposits designated as at fair value through income and are 
carried at fair value with changes in fair value included in Interest expense − Deposits. Changes in fair value re�ect changes in interest rates 
which have occurred since the deposits were issued, and the fair value adjustment as at December 31, 2016 is $232 (December 31, 2015 – 
$238).

The impact of changes in fair value for deposits designated as at fair value through income is as follows:

2016 2015

Fair value gain (loss) recognized in income  $ 6 $ (347)

Term and other deposits also include $242,000 (December 31, 2015 – $100,000) of deposits designated in qualifying fair value interest rate 
hedging relationships and are fair valued with respect to the hedged interest rate. Changes in fair value re�ect changes in interest rates which 
have occurred since the deposits were issued and the fair value adjustment as at December 31, 2016 is ($93) (December 31, 2015 − $946). 

The impact of changes in fair value for deposits designated in qualifying fair value interest rate hedging relationships that are fair valued 
through income is as follows:

  2016 2015

Fair value gain (loss) recognized in income  $  1,039 $ (2,410)

Note 14 – Income Taxes

(a) Income tax provision:

   2016 2015

Current tax expense:
 Current year  $  37,602 $  27,899
 Adjustments for prior years   345   (52)
      37,947   27,847

Deferred tax expense:
 Reversal of temporary di�erences   10,676   13,683
 Adjustments for prior years   (101)   (59)
 Changes in tax rates   (21)   127
     10,554   13,751

Total income tax expense  $  48,501 $  41,598
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The provision for income taxes shown in the consolidated statements of income di�ers from that obtained by applying statutory income tax 
rates to income before provision for income taxes due to the following reasons:

2016 2015

Canadian statutory income tax rate  26.5% 26.5%
Increase (decrease) resulting from:
 Tax-exempt income   (1.0%)  (2.0%)
 Future tax rate changes   0.0%  0.1%
 Non-deductible expenses and other   0.5%  0.2%

E�ective income tax rate   26.0%  24.8%

(b) Deferred tax liabilities:

Net deferred income tax liabilities are comprised of:

     2016  2015

Deferred income tax assets:
 Allowance for credit losses $  8,520 $  8,502
 Share issue expenses    1,049   1,011
 Other    1,349   1,248
      10,918   10,761

Deferred income tax liabilities: 
 Securitization activities   24,936   19,310
 Deposit agent commissions    5,409   4,638
 Net origination fees   13,937   10,264
 Intangible costs   3,477   3,645
 Other    1,930   1,602
      49,689   39,459

Net deferred income tax liabilities  $  38,771 $  28,698

Note 15 – Other Liabilities

  2016 2015

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  $   114,314 $   24,999
Mortgagor realty taxes   46,963  39,268
Securitized mortgage servicing liability   22,972   14,552
Income taxes payable   19,945   -
Derivative �nancial instruments: 

interest rate swaps 158 -
bond forwards   113   1,592
total return swaps   -    879

  $  204,465 $  81,290

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015
($ THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE, PER SHARE AND STOCK OPTION AMOUNTS)



107

Note 16 – Bank Facilities

(a) Operating credit facility:

The Company has a $35,000 credit facility in place with a major Schedule I Canadian Bank. The facility is secured by a portion of the 
Company’s investments in equity securities. There was no outstanding balance as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015.

(b) Secured funding facilities:

The Company has two credit facilities totaling $700,000 with major Schedule I Canadian Banks to �nance insured residential mortgages 
prior to securitization.  The balance outstanding on these facilities as at December 31, 2016 is $50,000 (December 31, 2015 – $235,779).

Note 17 – Debentures

The Company used the proceeds from Equitable Group Inc.’s debentures to provide regulatory capital to Equitable Bank, and did so by 
purchasing subordinated debentures issued by Equitable Bank. These intercompany debentures are subordinated to the rights of Equitable 
Bank’s depositors and other creditors. Equitable Bank can elect to redeem these debentures during their term subject to the terms and 
conditions of the debenture agreements, including any applicable penalties, and the prior approval of OSFI.

The series 10 debentures may be redeemed at any time at the option of the Company, subject to the terms and conditions of the debenture 
agreements, including any applicable penalties and its liquidity position. Interest on Series 10 debentures is paid semi-annually at a �xed 
rate of 5.40% per annum.

2016
    Outstanding Issued during Repaid during Outstanding
Debenture Interest rate Issue date Maturity date December 31, 2015 the year the year December 31, 2016

Series 10  5.40% 2012 October 2017 $  65,000 $  -  $  -  $  65,000

2015
    Outstanding Issued during Repaid during Outstanding

Debenture Interest rate Issue date Maturity date December 31, 2014 the year the year December 31, 2015

Series 9  6.09% 2010 December 2020 $   20,000 $   -  $   20,000 $   -
Series 10  5.40% 2012 October 2017   65,000    -    -    65,000
    $  85,000 $  -  $  20,000 $  65,000
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Note 18 – Shareholders’ Equity

(a) Capital stock:

Authorized: 
Unlimited number of non-cumulative 5-year rate reset preferred shares, Series 1, par value $25.00 per share  
Unlimited number of non-cumulative �oating rate preferred shares, Series 2, par value $25.00 per share  
Unlimited number of non-cumulative 5-year rate reset preferred shares, Series 3, par value $25.00 per share  
Unlimited number of non-cumulative �oating rate preferred shares, Series 4, par value $25.00 per share  
Unlimited number of common shares, no par value 

Issued and outstanding shares:

    2016  2015
     Number of     Dividends Number of    Dividends

shares Amount per share(1)   shares  Amount  per share(1)

Preferred Shares, Series 3  3,000,000 $ 72,557 $  1.59   3,000,000 $ 72,557 $  1.59

    2016 2015 
     Number of     Dividends Number of    Dividends

shares Amount per share(1)   shares  Amount  per share(1)

Common shares: 
Balance, beginning of year  15,538,605 $ 143,690    15,435,356 $ 140,657 
Shares issued, net of issuance cost  809,585  49,333    -    -
Contributions from exercise of stock options  111,952   2,877     103,249  2,473 
Transferred from contributed surplus

relating to the exercise of stock options  -   708    -   560 
Balance, end of year  16,460,142 $ 196,608 $  0.84   15,538,605 $ 143,690 $  0.76 

(1) Dividends per share represent dividends declared by the Company during the year.

(b) Preferred shares:

Series 3 – 5-year rate reset preferred shares

Holders of Series 3 preferred shares are entitled to receive �xed quarterly non-cumulative preferential cash dividends, as and when 
declared by the Board of Directors, which will be paid at a per annum rate of 6.35% per share for an initial period ending September 30, 
2019. Thereafter, the dividend rate will reset every �ve years at a level of 4.78% over the then �ve-year Government of Canada bond yield. 
Series 3 preferred shares are redeemable in cash at the Company’s option, subject to prior regulatory approval, on September 30, 2019 
and on September 30 every �ve years thereafter, in whole or in part, at a price of $25.00 per share plus all declared and unpaid dividends 
at the date �xed for redemption. Series 3 preferred shares are convertible at the holder’s option to non-cumulative �oating rate preferred 
shares, Series 4 (the “Series 4 preferred shares”), subject to certain conditions, on September 30, 2019 and on September 30 every �ve years 
thereafter.

Series 4 – �oating rate preferred shares

Holders of the Series 4 preferred shares will be entitled to receive a �oating rate quarterly non-cumulative preferential cash dividend 
equal to the 90-day Canadian Treasury Bill Rate plus 4.78%, as and when declared by the Board of Directors. Series 4 preferred shares 
are redeemable in cash at the Company’s option, subject to prior regulatory approval, on (i) September 30, 2024 and on September 30 
every �ve years thereafter, in whole or in part, at a price of $25.00 per share plus all declared and unpaid dividends at the date �xed for 
redemption; or (ii) $25.50 plus all declared and unpaid dividends to the date �xed for redemption in the case of redemptions on any other 
date on or after September 30, 2019. Series 4 preferred shares are convertible at the holder’s option to non-cumulative 5-year rate reset 
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preferred shares, Series 3 (the “Series 3 preferred shares”), subject to certain conditions, on September 30, 2024 and on September 30 every 
�ve years thereafter.

(c) Common shares:

Issuance of common shares

During the year, 111,952 (2015 − 103,249) shares were issued as a result of the exercise of stock options for cash consideration of $2,877 
(2015 − $2,473). The Company also issued 809,585 shares through a private placement for $49,333 (2015 – nil) and $708 (2015 − $560) was 
transferred from Contributed surplus to Common shares as a result of the stock option exercises. 

(d) Dividend reinvestment plan:

The Company has a dividend reinvestment plan. Participation in the plan is optional and under the terms of the plan, cash dividends on 
common shares are used to purchase additional common shares at the volume weighted average trading price of the common shares on 
the TSX for the �ve trading days immediately preceding the dividend payment date. At the option of the Company, the common shares may 
be issued from the Company’s treasury or acquired from the open market at market price. The Company suspended the plan in 2014 but 
retains the option to reinstate it in a future period.

(e) Dividend restrictions:

The Company’s subsidiary, Equitable Bank, is subject to minimum capital requirements, as prescribed by OSFI under the Bank Act (Canada). 
The Bank must notify OSFI prior to the declaration of any dividend and must ensure that any such dividend declaration is done in 
accordance with the provisions of the Bank Act (Canada), and those OSFI guidelines relating to capital adequacy and liquidity.

Note 19 – Stock-based Compensation

(a) Stock-based compensation plan:

Under the Company's stock option plan, options on common shares are periodically granted to eligible participants for terms of six to seven 
years and vest over a four or �ve-year period. As at December 31, 2016, the maximum number of common shares available for issuance 
under the plan was 1,475,570 (December 31, 2015 − 1,475,570). The outstanding options expire on various dates to March 2023. A summary 
of the Company's stock option activity and related information for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 is as follows:

  2016 2015
  Number of  Weighted average Number of  Weighted average
  stock options exercise price stock options exercise price

Outstanding, beginning of year   540,236 $ 40.12   544,449 $ 33.52
Granted   136,239   53.15  109,195  59.66
Exercised   (111,952)   25.70  (103,249)  23.95
Forfeited/cancelled   (7,056)   54.06  (10,159)  60.83
Outstanding, end of year   557,467 $ 46.03 540,236 $ 40.12
Exercisable, end of year   268,751 $ 38.37  267,725 $ 30.99
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The following table summarizes information relating to stock options outstanding and exercisable as at December 31, 2016:

  Options outstanding   Options exercisable
Weighted average

Number  remaining contractual  Number
Exercise price outstanding   life (years) exercisable

$ 26.01  7,500 1.9    7,500
$ 29.32  98,854 2.2    98,854
$ 27.23  10,000 2.4    10,000
$ 36.11  100,081   3.2    72,596
$ 37.43  4,000 3.4    3,000
$ 46.65  6,000 3.9    4,500
$ 52.90  92,856 4.2    45,982
$ 59.98  96,842 5.2    24,445
$ 55.32  7,500 5.9    1,875
$ 53.15  133,834   6.2    - 

Under the fair value-based method of accounting for stock options, the Company recorded compensation expense in the amount of $1,058 
(2015 − $935) related to grants of options under the stock option plan. This amount was credited to Contributed surplus.  The fair value of 
options granted during 2016 was estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes valuation model, with the following assumptions: 

   2016  2015

Risk-free rate   0.5%  0.9%
Expected option life (years)   4.8  4.8
Expected volatility  25.9%  24.7%
Expected dividends  1.3%  1.2%
Weighted average fair value of each option granted  $ 9.0 $ 10.74

(b) Employee share purchase (“ESP”) plan: 

The Company has an ESP plan for eligible employees. Under the plan, eligible employees can contribute between 1% and 10% of their 
annual base salary towards the purchase of common shares of the Company. For each eligible contribution, the Company contributes 50% 
of the employee’s contribution to purchase common shares of the Company up to a certain maximum per employee. 

During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company expensed $659 (2015 − $508) under this plan.

(c) Deferred share unit (“DSU”) plan:

The Company has a DSU plan for Directors. Under the plan, notional units are allocated to a Director from time to time by the Board 
of Directors and the units vest at the time of the grant. A director will be credited with additional DSUs whenever a cash dividend is 
declared by the Company. When an individual ceases to be a Director (the “Separation Date”), the individual may elect up to two separate 
redemption dates to be paid out the value of the DSUs. The redemption date elected by the participant is a date after the Separation 
Date and no later than December 15 of the �rst calendar year commencing after the Separation Date. The redemption value of each DSU 
redeemable by a Director is the volume-weighted average trading price of the common shares of the Company on the TSX for the �ve 
trading days immediately prior to the redemption date. 

In the event of any stock dividend, stock split, reverse stock split, consolidation, subdivision, reclassi�cation or any other change in the capital of 
the Company a�ecting its common shares, the Company will make, with respect to the number of DSUs outstanding under the DSU Plan, any 
proportionate adjustment as it considers appropriate to re�ect that change. The DSU plan is administered by the Board or a committee thereof. 
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The Company hedges the risk of change in future cash �ows related to the DSU plan. Please refer to Note 10 – Derivative Financial 
Instruments for further details.

A summary of the Company’s DSU activity for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 is as follows:

  2016 2015
  Number of Number of
  DSUs DSUs

Outstanding, beginning of year  30,133 24,709
Granted   6,666 5,117
Dividend Reinvested  439 307
Exercised   (5,022)  - 
Outstanding, end of year  32,216 30,133

In 2016, 5,022 (2015 – nil) DSUs were exercised for a total value of $101 (2015 – nil).  Compensation expense (income) recorded in 2016, 
relating to DSUs outstanding during the year amounted to $678 (2015 – ($21)). The liability associated with DSUs outstanding as at 
December 31, 2016 was $1,944 (December 31, 2015 – $1,565).

(d) Restricted share unit (“RSU”) plan:

The Company has a RSU plan for eligible employees. Under the plan, RSUs or PSUs are awarded by the Board to eligible employees during 
the annual compensation process and vest at the end of three years (“cli� vest”). Under the plan, each RSU or PSU represents one notional 
common share and earns notional dividends, which are re-invested into additional RSUs or PSUs when cash dividends are paid on the 
Company’s common shares. Each RSU or PSU held at the end of the vesting period including those acquired as dividend equivalents will be 
paid to the eligible employees in cash, the value of which will be based on the volume-weighted average closing price of the Company’s 
common shares on the TSX for the �ve consecutive trading days immediately prior to, and including the vesting date. The value of PSUs 
may be increased or decreased up to 25%, based on the Company’s relative total shareholder return compared to a de�ned peer group of 
�nancial institutions in Canada. 

The Company hedges the risk of change in future cash �ows related to the RSU plan. Please refer to Note 10 – Derivative Financial 
Instruments for further details.

A summary of the Company’s RSU and PSU activity for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 is as follows:

  2016 2015
  Number of Number of
  RSUs RSUs

Outstanding, beginning of year   42,861  39,794
Granted    33,888  26,855
Dividend reinvested   1,021  445
Exercised    (16,952)  (21,764)
Forfeited/cancelled   (2,692)   (2,469)
Outstanding, end of year   58,126 42,861

In December 2016, 16,952 (2015 – 21,764) RSUs were exercised for a total value of $1,045 (2015 – $1,166).  Compensation expense recorded 
relating to RSUs and PSUs outstanding during the year amounted to $1,646 (2015 – $886). The liability associated with RSUs and PSUs 
outstanding as at December 31, 2016 was $1,668 (December 31, 2015 – $1,093). 
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Note 20 – Earnings Per Share

Diluted earnings per share is calculated based on net income available to common shareholders divided by the weighted average number 
of common shares outstanding during the year, taking into account the dilution e�ect of stock options using the treasury stock method.

  2016 2015

Earnings per common share − basic:
Net income  $  138,330 $  125,865
Dividends on preferred shares   4,763   4,763
Net income available to common shareholders  $  133,567 $  121,102
Weighted average basic number of common shares outstanding   15,591,297   15,466,907
Earnings per common share − basic  $  8.57 $  7.83

Earnings per common share − diluted: 
Net income available to common shareholders  $  133,567 $  121,102
Weighted average basic number of common shares outstanding   15,591,297  15,466,907
Adjustment to weighted average number of common shares outstanding:

Stock options   137,691  205,427
Weighted average diluted number of common shares outstanding   15,728,988 15,672,334
Earnings per common share − diluted  $  8.49 $  7.73

For the year ended December 31, 2016, the calculation of the diluted earnings per share excluded 221,169 (2015 – 110,759) average options 
outstanding with a weighted average exercise price of $56.23 (2015 − $58.39) as the exercise price of these options was greater than the 
average price of the Company’s common shares.
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Note 21 – Capital Management

Equitable Bank manages its capital in accordance with guidelines established by OSFI, based on standards issued by the Basel Committee 
on Banking Supervision. For further details refer to pages 36-38 of the MD&A.

Equitable Bank maintains a Capital Management Policy and an Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process to govern the quality and 
quantity of capital utilized in its operations. During the year, Equitable Bank complied with all internal and external capital requirements.

Regulatory capital (relating solely to Equitable Bank) is as follows:

($ THOUSANDS)    2016 2015

Common Equity Tier 1 Capital ("CET1"): 
 Common shares   $ 199,089 $ 145,836
 Contributed surplus   6,148  6,126
 Retained earnings   721,117  600,128
 Accumulated other comprehensive loss(1)    (20,210)  (22,458)
 Less: Regulatory adjustments    (15,037)  (14,574)
Common Equity Tier 1 Capital   891,107  715,058

Additional Tier 1 capital: 
 Non-cumulative preferred shares   72,554  72,554

Tier 1 Capital   963,661  787,612

Tier 2 Capital: 
 Collective allowance   31,890  31,890
 Subordinated debentures   65,000  65,000
Tier 2 Capital   96,890  96,890

Total Capital   $ 1,060,551 $ 884,502

(1) As prescribed by OSFI (under Basel III rules), AOCI is part of CET1 in its entirety, however, the amount of cash �ow hedge reserves that relates to the hedging of items that are not fair 
valued are excluded.  
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Note 22 – Commitments and Contingencies

(a) Lease commitments:

The Company is committed to operating leases for o�ce premises located in Toronto, Calgary, Montreal and Vancouver. The future 
minimum lease payments under the leases are as follows:

   2016  2015

Less than 1 year  $  2,106 $  1,819
1-5 years    12,187   9,358
Greater than 5 years   7,512   7,458
  $  21,805 $ 18,635

In addition to these minimum lease payments for premises rental, the Company will pay its share of common area maintenance and realty 
taxes over the terms of the leases. Lease expense recognized in the consolidated statements of income for 2016 amounted to $4,477  
(2015 − $2,333).

(b) Credit commitments:

As at December 31, 2016, the Company had outstanding commitments to fund $1,037,929 (December 31, 2015 − $1,009,763) of mortgages 
in the ordinary course of business. Of these commitments, $569,338 (December 31, 2015 − $540,332) are expected to be funded within  
1 year and $468,591 (December 31, 2015 − $469,431) after 1 year.

The Company has issued standby letters of credit which represent assurances that the Company will make payments in the event that a 
borrower cannot meet its obligations to a third party. Letter of credits in the amount of $5,917 were outstanding at December 31, 2016 
(December 31, 2015 − $8,560), none of which have been drawn upon at that date.

(c) Contingencies:

In September 2013, Equitable entered into an agreement to resolve the litigation related to an alleged fraud that was identi�ed in 2011. The 
net outstanding receivable balance is $3.2 million (December 31, 2015 – $3.2 million) and the Company is currently pursuing a claim under 
our Financial Institution Bond, which is intended to protect against fraud losses.  There is no assurance that proceeds or recoveries, if any, 
will be received in a timely manner from these additional actions or that such proceeds will be su�cient to recover the full amount of the 
receivable.

The Company is subject to other various claims and litigation arising from time to time in the ordinary course of business. Management has 
determined that the aggregate liability, if any, which may result from other various outstanding legal proceedings would not be material 
and no other provisions have been recorded in these consolidated �nancial statements.
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Note 23 – Related Party Transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to directly or indirectly control the other party or exercise signi�cant 
in�uence over the other party in making �nancial or operational decisions. The Company’s related parties include key management 
personnel, close family members of key management personnel and entities which are controlled, signi�cantly in�uenced by, or for which 
signi�cant voting power is held by key management personnel or their close family members. Key management personnel are those 
persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company directly and indirectly. The 
Company considers the members of the Board of Directors as part of key management personnel.

(a) Key management personnel compensation table:

  2016 2015

Short-term employee bene�ts  $  3,334 $  3,306
Post-employment bene�ts   46   45
Share-based payments   1,707   728
  $  5,087 $ 4,079

(b) Share transactions, shareholdings and options of key management personnel and related parties:

As at December 31, 2016, key management personnel held 2,196,242 (December 31, 2015 – 2,154,585) common shares and 9,000 (2015 – 
9,000) preferred shares. These shareholdings include common shares of 2,007,118 (December 31, 2015 – 2,001,400) that were bene�cially 
owned by the non-management Directors or held by related party entities whose controlling shareholders are Directors of the Company. 
In addition, key management held 325,663 (December 31, 2015 – 312,126) options to purchase common shares of the Company at prices 
ranging from $26.01 to $53.15.

(c) Other transactions:

As at December 31, 2016, deposits of $572 (December 31, 2015 – $32) were held by key management personnel and related party entities 
whose controlling shareholders are directors of the Company and trusts bene�cially owned by the Directors. These investments were made 
in the ordinary course of business at terms comparable to those o�ered to unrelated parties.
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Note 24 – Interest Rate Sensitivity

The following table shows the Company’s position with regard to interest rate sensitivity of assets, liabilities and equity on the date of the 
earlier of contractual maturity or re-pricing date, as at December 31, 2016.

   0 to 3  4 months Total within  1 year Greater than Non-interest 
  Floating rate  months to 1 year 1 year to 5 years  5 years sensitive  Total(1)

Assets: 
Cash and cash equivalents 
 and restricted cash   $ 476,871 $ 187  $ -  $ 477,058 $ -  $ -  $ -  $ 477,058 

E�ective interest rate     0.82%   0.50%    -    0.82%   -   -    -    0.82% 
Securities purchased under 
 reverse repurchase agreements     -    199,401   -    199,401   -    -    -    199,401 
E�ective interest rate     -    0.50%   -    0.50%   -   -    -    0.50% 
Investments      16,050   219,246   27,617   262,913   90,638   6,720   (30,596)   329,675 
E�ective interest rate     3.74%   1.36%   6.03%   1.99%   5.20%  5.05%   -    3.12% 
Mortgage receivable - securitized     562,137   193,502   641,826   1,397,465   4,527,678   1,091,983   88,225   7,105,351 
E�ective interest rate     1.99%   3.02%   2.85%   2.53%   2.79%  2.92%   -    2.73% 
Mortgage receivable      2,791,256  789,554   3,682,877   7,263,687   3,368,063   13,345   33,357   10,678,452 
E�ective interest rate     4.46%   4.42%   4.39%   4.42%   4.28%  5.72%   -    4.36% 
Securitized Retained Interest     -    -    -    -    -    -    110,824   110,824 
Other assets      -    -    -    -    -    -    72,827   72,827 
Total assets   $ 3,846,314 $ 1,401,890 $ 4,352,320 $ 9,600,524 $ 7,986,379 $ 1,112,048 $ 274,637 $ 18,973,588 

Liabilities: 
Deposits(2)  $ 213 $ 3,050,716 $ 3,389,601 $ 6,440,530 $ 3,250,759 $ -  $ 71,794 $ 9,763,083 
E�ective interest rate     1.31%   1.59%   1.75%   1.67%   2.03%   -    -    1.78% 
Securitization liabilities     -    1,393,899   956,487   2,350,386   4,713,011   654,067   45,168   7,762,632 
E�ective interest rate     -    1.54%   1.64%   1.59%   2.00%   4.51%   -    2.06% 
Bank facilities     -   50,000  -   50,000  -   -   -   50,000
E�ective interest rate     -    2.38%   -    2.38%   -    -    -    2.38%
Obligations under  

repurchase agreement     -    112,488   -    112,488   -    -    -    112,488
E�ective interest rate  -   0.85%  -  0.85% -  -  -   0.85%
Other liabilities and deferred taxes  -    -    -    -    -    -    243,235   243,235 
Debentures(3)  -   -   65,000  65,000  -   -                    -  65,000
E�ective interest rate  -   -   5.47%  5.47%  -  -                    -  5.40%
Shareholders' equity     -    -    -    -    75,000   -    902,150   977,150 
Total liabilities and  
 shareholders' equity   $ 213 $ 4,607,103 $ 4,411,088 $ 9,018,404 $ 8,038,770 $ 654,067 $ 1,262,347 $ 18,973,588 

O�-balance sheet items(4)  $ -  $ (75,864) $ 118,557 $ 42,693 $ (60,850) $ 18,157 $ -  $ -
Excess (de�ciency) of assets over
 liabilities, shareholders' equity 
 and o�-balance sheet items   $  3,846,101 $ (3,281,077) $  59,789 $ 624,813 $ (113,241) $ 476,138 $  (987,710) $  -

Total assets − 2015   $ 2,923,782 $ 891,511 $ 3,802,644 $ 7,617,937 $ 6,409,704 $ 1,326,194 $ 173,749 $ 15,527,584 
Total liabilities and 
 shareholders' equity − 2015   $ 184 $ 2,720,378 $ 4,281,275 $ 7,001,837 $ 6,353,503 $ 1,240,248 $ 931,996 $ 15,527,584 
O�-balance sheet items − 2015   $  -  $  (159,009) $  36,747 $  (122,262) $  217,000 $  (94,738) $  -  $  -
Excess (de�ciency) of assets over
 over liabilities, shareholders'
 equity and o�-balance sheet 

items – 2015  $  2,923,598 $  (1,987,876) $  (441,884) $  493,838 $  273,201 $  (8,792) $  (758,247) $  -

 (1) Accrued interest is included in “Non- interest sensitive” assets and liabilities.
(2) Cashable GIC deposits are included in the “0 to 3 months” as these are cashable by the depositor upon demand after 30 days from the date of issuance. 
(3) Any prepayments of debentures, contractual or otherwise, have not been estimated as these would require Equitable Bank to receive regulatory pre-approval.
(4) O�-balance sheet items include the Company’s interest rate swaps, hedges on funded assets, as well as mortgage rate commitments that are not speci�cally hedged. Mortgage rate 

commitments that are speci�cally hedged, along with their respective hedges, are assumed to substantially o�set.
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